

Libraries and Learning Services

University of Auckland Research Repository, ResearchSpace

Copyright Statement

The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New Zealand).

This thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use:

- Any use you make of these documents or images must be for research or private study purposes only, and you may not make them available to any other person.
- Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognize the author's right to be identified as the author of this thesis, and due acknowledgement will be made to the author where appropriate.
- You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any material from their thesis.

General copyright and disclaimer

In addition to the above conditions, authors give their consent for the digital copy of their work to be used subject to the conditions specified on the <u>Library</u> <u>Thesis Consent Form</u> and <u>Deposit Licence</u>.

Degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators with bounded complex-valued coefficients

Tan Duc Do

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

> The University of Auckland Auckland, New Zealand June 2016

Abstract

This thesis considers core properties for degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators in divergence form with bounded complex-valued coefficients. The main contribution of the thesis is in two parts. In one dimension we characterise when the space of test functions is a core for these operators. In higher dimensions we provide sufficient conditions.

For the first part we consider an operator of the form

$$A = -\frac{d}{dx}c\frac{d}{dx} + m\frac{d}{dx} + wI$$

in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$, where c is a bounded Lipschitz continuous complex-valued function which takes values in a sector. We determine for which $p \in [1, \infty)$ the quasi-contraction semigroup generated by -A extends consistently to a quasi-contraction semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. For those values of p we characterise when the space of test functions $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for the generator on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$.

For the second part let $c_{kl} \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C})$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Let Σ_{θ} be the sector with vertex 0 and semi-angle θ in the complex plane. Suppose $(C(x)\xi,\xi) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. We consider the divergence form operator

$$A = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k)$$

in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We show that for all p in a suitable interval the contraction semigroup generated by -A extends consistently to a contraction semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For those values of pwe present a condition on the coefficients such that the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of test functions is a core for the generator on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We also examine the operator A separately in the more special Hilbert space $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ setting. In this setting we provide many more sufficient conditions on the coefficients for $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to be a core for A. Furthermore if all the functions in the domain D(A) are smooth enough, we show that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is always a core for A.

Acknowledgement

Preparing a PhD thesis is a long journey. I would not have made it this far without the help and support from my supervisor, my family, my friends and the University of Auckland. I thank Tom ter Elst for being a wonderful supervisor, for his wisdom, generosity and kindness which guided me through difficulties over the whole duration of my study. I thank my parents bố Thọ and mẹ Lan, my two elder sisters Hồng and Hiền as well as my fiancée Hạ Phương for their trust and unconditional love which give me more strength and faith. I thank Nguyễn Tấn Đạt, Nguyễn Mạnh Tuấn, Hoàng Quốc Việt, Trần Bảo Châu, Nguyễn Xuân Khánh and Nguyễn Thành Thiên Kim for their continuing friendship that makes each day a more enjoyable day. Finally I thank the University of Auckland for the financial support that I have received through a University of Auckland Doctoral Scholarship.



Co-Authorship Form

Graduate Centre The ClockTower – East Wing 22 Princes Street, Auckfand Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgraduate@euckfand.ac.nz www.postgrad.auckfand.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of this thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title and publication details or details of submission of the co-authored work.

Chapter 3: Degenerate elliptic operators in one dimension

Nature of contribution by PhD candidate	Formulation and proof of theorems
Extent of contribution by PhD candidate (%)	66%

CO-AUTHORS

Name	Nature of Contribution	
Tom ter Elst	Formulation and proof of theorems	
Tan Do	Formulation and proof of theorems	

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

- the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and
- that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

Name	Signature	Date
Tom ter Elst	OSAM Elst	29-1-2016
Tan Do	7~~	29-01-2016

Contents

\mathbf{A}	Abstract Acknowledgement i					
A						
1	Introduction 1.1 Core properties for degenerate elliptic operators		1 1			
	1.2	Outline of the thesis	5			
2	Pre	liminaries	7			
	2.1	Forms and operators associated with forms	7			
	2.2	Accretive operators on Banach spaces	11			
	2.3	Consistent semigroups	12			
	2.4	First-order differential operators in L_p -spaces	14			
	2.5	Second-order differential operators in L_p -spaces	15			
3	Deg	generate elliptic operators in one dimension	23			
	3.1	Introduction	23			
	3.2	The form and the operator on L_2	25			
	3.3	L_p extension	33			
	3.4	The generator on L_p	35			
	3.5	Core characterisation for $p \in (1, \infty)$	42			
	3.6	Core characterisation for $p = 1 \dots \dots$	54			
	3.7	Examples	56			
4	Hig	her dimensions	59			
	4.1	Introduction	59			
	4.2	The coefficient matrix C	61			
	4.3	L_p extension	67			
	4.4	The operator B_p	68			
	4.5	The core property for A_p	79			
	4.6	More sufficient conditions in L_2	80			
	4.7	Examples	95			
Bi	bliog	graphy	97			
In	Index 10					

Chapter 1

Introduction

The theme of this thesis is about core properties for degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators in divergence form with bounded complex-valued coefficients in one and higher dimensions. More specifically we will investigate when the space of test functions is a core for those operators.

This chapter consists of two parts. In the first part I will explain the topic in detail. This will be accompanied by a brief summary of the developments in the field. The second part provides the outline of the thesis. The ideas pursued in subsequent chapters are highlighted. Details about collaborative works and contributions are also given.

1.1 Core properties for degenerate elliptic operators

The Laplace operator

$$-\Delta = -\partial_1^2 - \ldots - \partial_d^2$$

in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $d \in \mathbb{N}$, is undoubtedly the most well-known and ubiquitous type of operator in mathematical analysis. This operator has been studied for centuries and many nice properties have been observed to associate with it. One among those properties is that the maximal domain $D(-\Delta)$ of the Laplace operator consists of all twice weakly differentiable functions in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. That is,

$$D(-\Delta) = W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d). \tag{1.1}$$

We note that $D(-\Delta)$ is a normed space with the graph norm $u \mapsto ||u||_2 + ||\Delta u||_2$ for all $u \in D(-\Delta)$. Therefore (1.1) must be understood in the sense that the graph norm of $D(-\Delta)$ is equivalent to the Sobolev norm on $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and the two spaces are equal as vector spaces. Since the space of test functions $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, which consists of all infinitely differentiable functions on \mathbb{R}^d with compact supports, is dense $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, it is also dense in $D(-\Delta)$ with respect to the graph norm. In other words we say that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for the Laplace operator. This result is of our fundamental interest. The subject to study in this thesis is to investigate this core property for a more general class of operators, known as degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators in divergence form with bounded complex-valued coefficients or degenerate elliptic operators for short, which includes the Laplace operator as a very special case. Degenerate elliptic operators are extensions of strongly elliptic operators which in turn are the most direct generalisation of the Laplace operator. To define strongly elliptic operators, we consider the second-order differential operator in divergence form L of the form

$$L = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k),$$

where $c_{kl} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C})$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. The operator L is called *strongly elliptic* if there exists a $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C(x)\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge \mu\,\|\xi\|^2\tag{1.2}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, where $C(x) = (c_{kl}(x))_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let $\operatorname{Re} C := \frac{1}{2}(C+C^*)$, where $C^* = \overline{C^T}$. Then (1.2) is the same as requiring there exists a $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\left((\operatorname{Re} C)(x)\,\xi,\xi \right) \ge \mu \, \|\xi\|^2$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. That is, all the eigenvalues of $(\operatorname{Re} C)(x)$ must be strictly positive, with the smallest eigenvalue at least the constant μ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Most of the properties possessed by the Laplace operator are inherited by strongly elliptic operators, including the core property in particular. The theory of strongly elliptic operators is vast and fairly well-understood. Many important results in this area can be found in treatises on the subject (cf. [GT83], [EE87], [Eva10], [Agm10], [Neč12], etc.) as well as in the large amount of literature devoted to it.

The situation changes drastically when (1.2) is relaxed to

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C(x)\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge 0\tag{1.3}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, in which case L is said to be *degenerate elliptic*. Again we can read (1.3) in the sense that

$$\left((\operatorname{Re} C)(x)\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge 0$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. As a consequence the matrix $\operatorname{Re} C$ is positive (semi-)definite when L is degenerate elliptic. But on the contrary to strongly elliptic operators, some or all of the eigenvalues of $\operatorname{Re} C$ may have zeros in this case. The theory of degenerate elliptic operators is an active area of research. Many well-known results for strongly elliptic operators remain unsolved for degenerate elliptic operators. We will shortly point out this kind of distinctive difference between the two classes of operators in terms of the core properties.

Our starting point to formulate the main problems of the thesis is the first representation theorem, proved independently by Lions (cf. [Lio61]) and Kato (cf. [Kat80, Theorem VI.2.1]). This theorem presents a convenient realisation of an operator in the setting of the Hilbert spaces via form methods. This approach is in contrast to the classical realisation of an operator via a detailed description of the domain of the operator. The difference lies in the fact that form methods provide more tools and structures to analyse an operator than the classical approach, at least in Hilbert spaces. To be specific let $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Define

$$\Sigma_{\theta} = \{ r e^{i\psi} : r \ge 0 \text{ and } |\psi| \le \theta \}.$$
(1.4)

We consider in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the form

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}(u,v) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} \left(\partial_{k} u\right) \partial_{l} \overline{v}$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where c_{kl} are *complex-valued* functions in $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ which satisfy the condition

$$(C(x)\xi,\xi) \in \Sigma_{\theta} \tag{1.5}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Under those conditions imposed on the coefficients, the form \mathfrak{a}_0 can be extended to a so-called closed form \mathfrak{a} . The closure \mathfrak{a} of the form \mathfrak{a}_0 satisfies all the requirements of the first representation theorem. Using the theorem we can associate an operator A with the form \mathfrak{a} in such a manner that $D(A) \subset D(\mathfrak{a})$ and

$$\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = (Au,v)_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$$

for all $u \in D(A)$ and $v \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Formally we can write A in the form

$$A = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k).$$

Since (1.5) implies (1.3), the operator A is degenerate elliptic. Furthermore the same theorem of Lions and Kato gives that -A is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup S on $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Using interpolation, we will see that S can be extended consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ under suitable conditions on the coefficients and for certain $p \in [1, \infty)$. Those values for p depend on the angle θ . A very special case is when c_{kl} is a real-valued function for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$, in which case we have $\theta = 0$ and p can take any value in $[1, \infty)$.

Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. The domain $D(A_p)$ is naturally normed with the graph norm $\|\cdot\|_{D(A_p)}$ defined by $\|u\|_{D(A_p)} = \|u\|_p + \|A_pu\|_p$ for all $u \in D(A_p)$. If a subspace D of $D(A_p)$ is dense in $D(A_p)$ with respect to the graph norm, D is said to be a core for A_p . If we know that $D(A_p)$ is complete and D is a core for A_p , then $\overline{(D, \|\cdot\|_{D(A_p)})} = D(A_p)$. This explains the significance of a core for an operator, which lies in the fact that the domain of A_p is sometimes too large to work with. However we can still obtain information about A_p by knowing how it acts on a core. Since a core for an operator is often a small and nice subspace of the domain, this is much easier to deal with. With this notion of a core for A_p in mind, we can now state the question of our interest:

"When is
$$C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$
 a core for A_p ?"

It has been known for a long time that the space of test functions $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p if the matrix of coefficients C satisfies the strong ellipticity condition (1.2) with entries belonging to $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ (cf. [ADN59] and [ER97, Theorem 1.5]). Nevertheless if C is known to satisfy the degenerate ellipticity condition (1.3) only, the situation will be very different and usually much more difficult since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is no longer a core in general. A common procedure to investigate the core properties in this situation is to perform approximation arguments to transit from the degenerate case back to the more familiar strongly elliptic

case. Next we will describe some previous results obtained by [WD83, Theorem 1], [Ouh05, Theorem 5.2], [CMP98, Theorem 3.5] and [ERS11, Section 4]. The overall contents are as follows.

In 1983 Wong-Dzung considered in [WD83] the operator B_p of the form

$$B_p = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k)$$

on the maximal domain

$$D(B_p) = \{ u \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d) : \text{there exists an } f \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ such that for all } \phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \\ - \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \,\partial_k(\overline{c_{kl}} \,\partial_l \phi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f \,\phi \},$$

where $p \in (1, \infty)$, the coefficient matrix $C = (c_{kl})_{1 \leq k,l \leq d}$ satisfies the degenerate ellipticity condition (1.3) and its entries are real-valued C^2 -functions which are possibly nonsymmetric. It was shown that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for B_p . It can be verified that B_p is the same as the operator A_p obtained above via form methods with the same coefficients as those of B_p . In his book [Ouh05] published in 2005, Ouhabaz refined the arguments used by WongDzung in [WD83] to prove that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is core for the operator B_2 in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ under a weaker assumptions that C still satisfies the degenerate ellipticity condition but the principal coefficients are merely real-valued functions in $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

In another direction, on the unit interval, Campiti, Metafune and Pallara gave a characterisation for when $C_c^{\infty}(0, 1)$ is a core for the operator C_p defined by

$$C_p = -\frac{d}{dx} \left(c \, \frac{d}{dx}\right) \tag{1.6}$$

on the domain

$$D(C_p) = \{ u \in L_p(0,1) : u \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(0,1) \text{ and } c \, u' \in W^{1,p}_0(0,1) \},\$$

where $p \in [1, \infty)$ and the real-valued coefficient $c \in C[0, 1]$ satisfies that c(0) = c(1) = 0and c(x) > 0 for all $x \in (0, 1)$ (cf. [CMP98, Theorem 3.5]). The techniques used to prove the characterisation are intrinsically available in one dimension only. Up to now extensions of this characterisation to higher dimensions remain widely open problems.

Next we will examine the aforementioned results more closely by considering the following example.

Example 1.1. Let $p \in [1, \infty)$ and $\kappa \geq 1$. Let C_p be defined by (1.6) with coefficient $c(x) = \left(\frac{x^2(1-x)^2}{1+x^2(1-x)^2}\right)^{\frac{\kappa}{2}}$ for all $x \in [0,1]$. Then $c \in W^{\kappa,\infty}(0,1)$. The characterisation [CMP98, Theorem 3.5] gives that $C_c^{\infty}(0,1)$ is a core for C_p if and only if $\kappa \geq 2 - \frac{1}{p}$.

It can be shown that this example continues to hold on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ for the same range of p when $c(x) = \left(\frac{x^2(1-x)^2}{1+x^2(1-x)^2}\right)^{\frac{\kappa}{2}}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. In this case we can also verify that C_p is in fact the same as the operator A_p obtained via form methods if the coefficient of A_p is the

same as that of C_p . Hence the core characterisation also applies to A_p . So at least in one dimension, it tells us in particular that the $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ smoothness of the coefficient does not guarantee $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ to be a core for A_p , whereas the results of Wong-Dzung [WD83, Theorem 1] and Ouhabaz [Ouh05, Theorem 5.2] states $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ smoothness is sufficient. Generalising to arbitrary dimensions, we will refer to this phenomenon as the gap in the smoothness of the coefficients regarding the core properties for A_p . Bridging the gap, i.e. finding the optimal smoothness of the coefficients for $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to be a core for A_p , remains unsolved in higher dimensions up to now. A recent paper published in 2011 that slightly touched on this direction is that of ter Elst, Robinson and Sikora [ERS11], in which they considered a mixture of smoothness conditions between $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ on realvalued coefficients for $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to be a core for A_p .

In this thesis we will give answers to the main question posted above. We emphasise that here we consider operators with *complex-valued coefficients* in contrast to operators with real-valued coefficients in the aforementioned literature. In one dimension we will provide a characterisation for when $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for the operator A_p . This characterisation is an extension of the result in [CMP98] and the pure second-order case in [DE15]. In higher dimensions we will provide many sufficient conditions for when $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p . The work is in the spirit of [WD83] and [Ouh05].

Apart from the interests in the core properties for degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators with bounded coefficients, there is a huge literature for sufficient conditions under which the space of test functions is still a core if the coefficients of the operator are real-valued and unbounded either locally or at infinity. The details and many interesting results can be found in [Kat81], [Dav85], [Lis89], [MPPS05], [MPRS10], [CCHL12], [MS14] and references therein.

1.2 Outline of the thesis

In this section we will summarise the content as well as the ideas used in the subsequent chapters. References are given to the original papers which we based our research on. Details about collaborative works are also mentioned.

Chapter 2: Here we collect all the background knowledge required in subsequent chapters. These include the notions of forms, accretive operators, consistent extension of semigroups, first-order and second-order differential operators. Many well-known results from the literature related to these notions are presented here for later use.

Chapter 3: In this chapter we consider the one-dimensional case. The main result in this chapter is an extension of [CMP98, Theorem 3.5] and [DE15, Theorem 1.5] which is on its turn an extension of [CMP98, Theorem 3.5]. Let $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Let Σ_{θ} be defined as in (1.4). Let $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be a complex-valued function such that $c(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and $w \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Suppose $|m| \leq M \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c}$ for some M > 0. We start with the form \mathfrak{a}_0 defined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_0(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} c \, u' \, \overline{v'} + m \, u' \, \overline{v} + w \, u \, \overline{v}$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Since \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable, we let A be the operator associated with the closure of the form \mathfrak{a}_0 . Then -A generates a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup S on $L_2(\mathbb{R})$. For certain $p \in [1, \infty)$, we can extend S consistently to a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. We will give a core characterisation for the operator A_p in terms of the degeneracy of the coefficient c at its zero points.

The pure second-order case, i.e. if m = w = 0, is joint work with Tom ter Elst (cf. [DE15]).

Chapter 4: The chapter is motivated by [WD83] and [Ouh05]. Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Let $c_{kl} \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be complex-valued functions for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Suppose $(C(x) \xi, \xi) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, where $C(x) = (c_{kl}(x))_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and Σ_{θ} is defined by (1.4). We start with the form \mathfrak{a}_0 defined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}(u,v) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} \left(\partial_{k} u\right) \partial_{l} \overline{v}$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Since \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable, we let A be the operator associated with the closure \mathfrak{a} of the form \mathfrak{a}_0 . Then -A generates a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup Son $L_2(\mathbb{R})$.

Let C = R + i B, where R and B are real matrices. Suppose B is symmetric. Then we show that it is possible to extend S consistently to a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ for certain $p \in (1, \infty)$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. We will show that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p .

The case p = 2 is special as we naturally obtain the operator A from the form \mathfrak{a} . Consequently the assumption that B is symmetric is not needed. Suppose B is not symmetric. Then we provide many sufficient conditions for when $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A. In particular if $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is always a core for A regardless of the symmetry of B.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

This chapter summarises all the background knowledge required in the subsequent chapters. Forms, accretive operators and semigroups are defined. We will make clear the relations between these notions. Many well-known results will be discussed. The last two sections present applications of previous sections to first-order and second-order differential operators.

2.1 Forms and operators associated with forms

In this section we introduce the powerful tools of form methods. We will consider forms and their associated operators. The central result is the first representation theorem given in Theorem 2.12.

Let H be a Hilbert space. We emphasise that the underlying field is \mathbb{C} .

Definition 2.1. Let D be a subspace of H. A function $\mathfrak{a}: D \times D \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ which is linear in the first variable and anti-linear in the second variable is called a *sesquilinear form*. We also refer to \mathfrak{a} as a *form* for short. The subspace D is called the *domain* of \mathfrak{a} . To be specific we also write $D = D(\mathfrak{a})$.

For the rest of the section let \mathfrak{a} be a form with domain $D(\mathfrak{a}) \subset H$. For convenience we will write $\mathfrak{a}(u) = \mathfrak{a}(u, u)$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. It is worth noting that the set of values $\{\mathfrak{a}(u) : u \in D(\mathfrak{a})\}$ determines the form \mathfrak{a} uniquely, thanks to the following proposition.

Proposition 2.2 (Polarisation identity). The following identity

$$\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathfrak{a}(u+v) - \mathfrak{a}(u-v) + i \,\mathfrak{a}(u+iv) - i \,\mathfrak{a}(u-iv) \right)$$

holds for all $u, v \in D(\mathfrak{a})$.

For all $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ we define $\Sigma_{\theta} = \{re^{i\psi} : r \geq 0 \text{ and } |\psi| \leq \theta\}$, which is a sector in the complex plane with semi-angle θ . We have the following definitions.

Definition 2.3. The form \mathfrak{a} is called

1. densely defined if $D(\mathfrak{a})$ is dense in H.

- 2. accretive if $\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u) \geq 0$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. If there exists an $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u) + \omega \|u\|_{H}^{2} \geq 0$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$, then \mathfrak{a} is said to be quasi-accretive.
- 3. sectorial if there exists a $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ such that $\mathfrak{a}(u) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$.

Definition 2.4. Suppose \mathfrak{a} is sectorial. Then the domain $D(\mathfrak{a})$ is a normed space with norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{a}}$ defined by

$$||u||_{\mathfrak{a}} = (\operatorname{Re}\mathfrak{a}(u) + ||u||_{H}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. The form \mathfrak{a} is called *closed* if $(D(\mathfrak{a}), \|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{a}})$ is complete. A form \mathfrak{b} which has the properties that $D(\mathfrak{a}) \subset D(\mathfrak{b})$ and $\mathfrak{b}(u) = \mathfrak{a}(u)$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ is called an *extension* of the form \mathfrak{a} . If there exists a closed form \mathfrak{b} which is an extension of \mathfrak{a} , then \mathfrak{a} is called *closable*. In this case we also say that \mathfrak{b} is a *closed extension* of \mathfrak{a} .

Note that a closed extension of a form is in general not unique if it exists. If \mathfrak{a} is closable, we will denote by $\overline{\mathfrak{a}}$ the smallest closed extension of \mathfrak{a} .

Define the form $\mathfrak{a}^*: D(\mathfrak{a}) \times D(\mathfrak{a}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ by $\mathfrak{a}^*(u, v) = \mathfrak{a}(v, u)$. The form \mathfrak{a}^* is called the *adjoint form* of \mathfrak{a} . If $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}^*$, the form \mathfrak{a} is called *symmetric*. Denote $\Re \mathfrak{a} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathfrak{a} + \mathfrak{a}^*)$ and $\Im \mathfrak{a} = \frac{1}{2i}(\mathfrak{a} - \mathfrak{a}^*)$. Then $\mathfrak{a} = \Re \mathfrak{a} + i \Im \mathfrak{a}$. We will refer to $\Re \mathfrak{a}$ as the *real part* of \mathfrak{a} and $\Im \mathfrak{a}$ as the *imaginary part* of \mathfrak{a} . Note that both $\Re \mathfrak{a}$ and $\Im \mathfrak{a}$ are symmetric forms. Based on these notions we can now describe some typical properties of sectorial forms.

Proposition 2.5 ([Kat80, Subsection VI.1.2]). Suppose the form \mathfrak{a} is sectorial. Let $u, v \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Then the following hold.

1. $|(\Im \mathfrak{a})(u)| \leq \tan \theta \, (\Re \mathfrak{a})(u).$

2.
$$|(\Re \mathfrak{a})(u,v)| \le ((\Re \mathfrak{a})(u))^{1/2} ((\Re \mathfrak{a})(v))^{1/2}$$

- 3. $|(\Im\mathfrak{a})(u,v)| \le \tan\theta \left((\Re\mathfrak{a})(u)\right)^{1/2} \left((\Re\mathfrak{a})(v)\right)^{1/2}$
- 4. $|\mathfrak{a}(u,v)| \leq (1+\tan\theta) \left((\Re\mathfrak{a})(u)\right)^{1/2} \left((\Re\mathfrak{a})(v)\right)^{1/2}$.

More generally we can compare two forms with each other.

Theorem 2.6. Let \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} be forms in H. Suppose that \mathfrak{a} is symmetric and $D(\mathfrak{a}) = D(\mathfrak{b}) = V$ for some $V \subset H$. Suppose there exists an M > 0 such that $|\mathfrak{b}(u)| \leq M \mathfrak{a}(u)$ for all $u \in V$. Then the following hold.

(a) If \mathfrak{b} is symmetric, then

$$|\mathfrak{b}(u,v)| \le M \,\mathfrak{a}(u)^{1/2} \,\mathfrak{a}(v)^{1/2}$$

for all $u, v \in V$.

(b) If \mathfrak{b} is not symmetric, then

$$|\mathfrak{b}(u,v)| \le 2M \,\mathfrak{a}(u)^{1/2} \,\mathfrak{a}(v)^{1/2}$$

for all $u, v \in V$.

Proof. (a) Let $u, v \in V$. By replacing v with $e^{i\psi}v$ for some $\psi \in [0, 2\pi)$, we can assume without loss of generality that $\mathfrak{b}(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

$$|\mathfrak{b}(u,v)| = \frac{1}{4} \left| \mathfrak{b}(u+v) - \mathfrak{b}(u-v) \right| \le \frac{M}{4} \left(\mathfrak{a}(u+v) + \mathfrak{a}(u-v) \right) = \frac{M}{2} \left(\mathfrak{a}(u) + \mathfrak{a}(v) \right), \quad (2.1)$$

where we used Proposition 2.2 in the last step. We consider two cases.

Case 1: Suppose $\mathfrak{a}(u) = 0$.

Then (2.1) gives

$$|\mathfrak{b}(u,v)| \leq \frac{M}{2}\mathfrak{a}(v).$$

Replacing v by λv with $\lambda > 0$ gives

$$|\mathfrak{b}(u,v)| \le \frac{M\lambda}{2}\mathfrak{a}(v).$$

Since λ is arbitrary, taking the limit when $\lambda \downarrow 0$ on both sides of the above inequality yields $\mathfrak{b}(u, v) = 0$, which implies the claim.

Case 2: Suppose $\mathfrak{a}(u) \neq 0$.

Replacing u by $\frac{\sqrt{\mathfrak{a}(v)}}{\sqrt{\mathfrak{a}(u)}}u$ in (2.1) we obtain the desired conclusion.

(b) Note that $\mathbf{b} = \Re \mathbf{b} + i \Im \mathbf{b}$, where $\Re \mathbf{b}$ and $\Im \mathbf{b}$ are symmetric. Note that

$$|(\mathfrak{R}\mathfrak{b})(u)| = \left|\frac{\mathfrak{b}(u) + \mathfrak{b}^*(u)}{2}\right| \le |\mathfrak{b}(u)| \le M \mathfrak{a}(u)$$

for all $u \in V$. It follows from (a) that $|(\Re \mathfrak{b})(u,v)| \leq M \mathfrak{a}(u)^{1/2} \mathfrak{a}(v)^{1/2}$ for all $u, v \in V$. Similarly $|(\Im \mathfrak{b})(u,v)| \leq M \mathfrak{a}(u)^{1/2} \mathfrak{a}(v)^{1/2}$ for all $u, v \in V$. Hence

$$|\mathfrak{b}(u,v)| \le |(\mathfrak{R}\mathfrak{b})(u,v)| + |(\mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{b})(u,v)| \le 2M\,\mathfrak{a}(u)^{1/2}\,\mathfrak{a}(v)^{1/2}$$

for all $u, v \in V$.

Let A be an operator in H, that is, $A: D(A) \subset H \longrightarrow H$. The domain D(A) of A is naturally normed with the graph norm $\|\cdot\|_{D(A)}$ defined by

$$||u||_{D(A)} = ||u||_H + ||Au||_H$$

for all $u \in D(A)$. Define

$$\Theta(A) = \{ (Au, u) \colon u \in D(A) \text{ and } \|u\|_H = 1 \},\$$

which is called the *numerical range* of A. We will denote by $\rho(A)$ the resolvent set of A. We have the following definitions.

Definition 2.7. The operator A is called

- 1. densely defined if D(A) is dense in H.
- 2. closed if $(D(A), \|\cdot\|_{D(A)})$ is complete. If there exists a closed operator B in H such that $D(A) \subset D(B)$ and Bu = Au for all $u \in D(A)$, then A is called *closable*. In this case we also say that B is a *closed extension* of A.

- 3. accretive if $\operatorname{Re}(Au, u) \geq 0$ for all $u \in D(A)$. If A is accretive and $1 \in \rho(-A)$, then A is said to be *m*-accretive. If there exists an $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(Au, u) + \omega ||u||_{H}^{2} \geq 0$ for all $u \in D(A)$, then A is called *quasi-accretive*. If there exists an $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(Au, u) + \omega ||u||_{H}^{2} \geq 0$ for all $u \in D(A)$ and $\omega + 1 \in \rho(-A)$, then A is said to be *quasi-m-accretive*.
- 4. sectorial if $\Theta(A) \subset \Sigma_{\theta}$ for some $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. If A is sectorial and *m*-accretive, then A is said to be *m*-sectorial.

Note that a closed extension of an operator is in general not unique if it exists. If A is closable, we will denote by \overline{A} the smallest closed extension of A. Closable operators and accretive operators are related to each other in the following manner.

Proposition 2.8 ([Ouh05, Lemma 1.47]). Suppose A is densely defined and accretive. Then A is closable.

The following definition is of our main interest.

Definition 2.9. A subspace $D \subset D(A)$ is called a *core* for A if D is dense in D(A) with respect to the graph norm.

The next theorem provides a useful criterion for proving the core properties for accretive operators. It will be used extensively in Chapter 4.

Theorem 2.10 ([Ouh05, Theorem 1.50]). Let A be accretive. Assume that S is an *m*-accretive operator satisfying the following two conditions.

- 1. $D(S) \subset D(A)$.
- 2. There exists a constant $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(Au + \beta u, Su) \geq 0$ for all $u \in D(S)$.

Then the closure \overline{A} is m-accretive. Furthermore D(S) is a core for \overline{A} .

Next we will describe some correspondences between forms and operators. We start first with forms constructed from sectorial operators.

Theorem 2.11 ([Kat80, Theorem VI.1.27]). Suppose A is sectorial and $\mathfrak{a}(u, v) = (Au, v)$ with $D(\mathfrak{a}) = D(A)$. Then \mathfrak{a} is closable.

Conversely we have the following well-known result.

Theorem 2.12 (The first representation, [Kat80, Theorem VI.2.1]). Suppose \mathfrak{a} is a densely defined, closed and sectorial form. Let A be defined in the following manner. Let $u, w \in H$. We say that $u \in D(A)$ and Au = w if $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ and $\mathfrak{a}(u, v) = (w, v)_H$ for all $v \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Then A is m-sectorial.

The operator A in Theorem 2.12 is called the *operator associated with the form* \mathfrak{a} . If the form \mathfrak{a} is not closable, we can still associate with it an *m*-sectorial operator. This is the content of the following theorem.

Theorem 2.13 ([AE12, Theorem 3.2]). Suppose \mathfrak{a} is a densely defined and sectorial form. Let A be defined in the following manner. Let $u, w \in H$. We say that $u \in D(A)$ and Au = wif there exists a sequence $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in $D(\mathfrak{a})$ such that $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u_n) < \infty$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} u_n = u$ in H and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathfrak{a}(u_n, v) = (w, v)_H$ for all $v \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Then A is m-sectorial.

It is a remarkable fact that *m*-sectorial operators are generators of holomorphic semigroups. For background information on semigroups we refer to [EN00], [Nag86], [Paz83], [Gol85] and [Yos80].

Theorem 2.14 ([Kat80, Theorem IX.1.24]). Let $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Suppose A is an m-sectorial operator with $\Theta(A) \subset \Sigma_{\theta}$. Then -A generates a contraction holomorphic semigroup with angle $\frac{\pi}{2} - \theta$.

2.2 Accretive operators on Banach spaces

In Section 2.1 we discussed accretive operators on Hilbert spaces. In this section we will extend the notion of accretivity of operators to Banach spaces. We are particularly interested in accretive operators in L_p -spaces.

Let X be a Banach space. Let (A, D(A)) be an operator in X. We view the domain D(A) as a normed space with the graph norm $\|\cdot\|_{D(A)}$ defined by

$$||u||_{D(A)} = ||u||_X + ||Au||_X$$

for all $u \in D(A)$. The notion of a core for an operator, which is the definition of our main interest, extends verbatim to this more general context. For the sake of clarity and completeness, we also repeat it here.

Definition 2.15. A subspace $D \subset D(A)$ is called a *core* for A if D is dense in D(A) with respect to the graph norm.

Next we will consider accretive operators. We denote by X^* the dual space of X. Define

$$F(u) = \{ f \in X^* : (u, f) = \|u\|_X^2 = \|f\|_{X^*}^2 \}$$

for all $u \in X$. By the Hahn-Banach theorem the set F(u) is non-empty for all $u \in X$. A particular case is when $X = L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $d \in \mathbb{N}$, in which case we have $F(u) = \{ \|u\|_p^{2-p} |u|^{p-2} u \mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} \}$ for all $u \in X \setminus \{0\}$. We have the following definition.

Definition 2.16. The operator A is called

- 1. densely defined if D(A) is dense in X.
- 2. closed if $(D(A), \|\cdot\|_{D(A)})$ is complete. If there exists a closed operator (B, D(B)) in X such that $D(A) \subset D(B)$ and Bu = Au for all $u \in D(A)$, then A is called *closable*. In this case we also say that B is a *closed extension* of A.
- 3. accretive if for every $u \in D(A)$ there exists an $f \in F(u)$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(Au, f) \geq 0$. If A is accretive and $1 \in \rho(-A)$, then A is called *m*-accretive. If there exists an

 $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for every $u \in D(A)$ there exists an $f \in F(u)$ which satisfies Re $(\omega u + Au, f) \ge 0$, then A is called *quasi-accretive*. If there exists an $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\omega + 1 \in \rho(-A)$ and for every $u \in D(A)$ there exists an $f \in F(u)$ which satisfies Re $(\omega u + Au, f) \ge 0$, then A is said to be *quasi-m-accretive*.

It is easy to verify that this definition coincides with Definition 2.7 if X is a Hilbert space. The importance of *m*-accretive operators is due to the following well-known theorem.

Theorem 2.17 (Lumer-Phillips theorem, [LP61]). Let A be a densely defined operator in X. Then A is m-accretive if and only if A is the generator of a contraction C_0 -semigroup.

When X is reflexive, the density requirement of the operator's domain in Theorem 2.17 can be removed, as stated by the following theorem.

Theorem 2.18 ([Kat59, Corollary 2], [Kat80, Theorem III.5.29], [EN00, Corollary II.3.20]). Suppose X is reflexive. Let S be an m-accretive operator in X. Then S is densely defined. Moreover, S^* is also densely defined.

2.3 Consistent semigroups

In this section we will explore the relations between consistent C_0 -semigroups on L_p -spaces.

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $p_1, p_2 \in [1, \infty)$. Let $S^{(p_1)}, S^{(p_2)}$ be C_0 -semigroups on $L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ respectively.

Definition 2.19. We say that $S^{(p_1)}$ and $S^{(p_2)}$ are *consistent* if $S_t^{(p_1)}u = S_t^{(p_2)}u$ for all t > 0and $u \in L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Theorem 2.20. Suppose $S^{(p_1)}$ and $S^{(p_2)}$ are bounded C_0 -semigroups which are consistent. Let $-A_{p_1}$ and $-A_{p_2}$ be the generators of $S^{(p_1)}$ and $S^{(p_2)}$ respectively. Then $A_{p_1}u = A_{p_2}u$ for all $u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$ and

$$D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2}) = \{ u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d) : A_{p_1}u \in L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \}$$

$$= \{ u \in D(A_{p_2}) \cap L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) : A_{p_2}u \in L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \}$$

$$= (I + A_{p_1})^{-1}(L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$

$$= (I + A_{p_2})^{-1}(L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)).$$
(2.2)

Moreover, $D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$ is a core for A_{p_1} in $L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and for A_{p_2} in $L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Proof. First let $u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$ and $\phi \in L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$(A_{p_1}u,\phi) = \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} \left((I - S_t^{(p_1)})u,\phi \right) = \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} \left((I - S_t^{(p_2)})u,\phi \right) = (A_{p_2}u,\phi).$$

It follows that $A_{p_1}u = A_{p_2}u \in L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In particular this implies $D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2}) \subset \{u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d) : A_{p_1}u \in L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)\}.$

Conversely let $u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $A_{p_1}u \in L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\frac{1}{t}\left(I - S_t^{(p_2)}\right)u = \frac{1}{t}\left(I - S_t^{(p_1)}\right)u = \frac{1}{t}\int_0^t S_s^{(p_1)} A_{p_1}u \, ds = \frac{1}{t}\int_0^t S_s^{(p_2)} A_{p_1}u \, ds$$

for all t > 0. Therefore $\lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} (I - S_t^{(p_2)}) u = A_{p_1} u$ in $L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It follows that $u \in D(A_{p_2})$. This proves the first two equalities in (2.2).

Secondly, if $u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$ then $(I + A_{p_1})u = (I + A_{p_2})u \in L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Consequently $D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2}) \subset (I + A_{p_1})^{-1} (L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d))$.

Conversely if $u \in L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ then

$$\left((I+A_{p_1})^{-1}u,\phi\right) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t} \left(S_t^{(p_1)}u,\phi\right) dt = \int_0^\infty e^{-t} \left(S_t^{(p_2)}u,\phi\right) dt = \left((I+A_{p_2})^{-1}u,\phi\right)$$

for all $\phi \in L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Hence $(I + A_{p_1})^{-1}u = (I + A_{p_1})^{-1}u \in D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$. The last two equalities in (2.2) now follows.

Lastly we note that $S^{(p_1)}$ leaves $D(A_{p_1})$ invariant and $S^{(p_2)}$ leaves $D(A_{p_2})$ invariant. As a consequence $S_t^{(p_1)}(D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})) \subset D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$ for all t > 0. But $D(A_{p_1}) \cap$ $D(A_{p_2}) = (I + A_{p_1})^{-1}(L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ is dense in $L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Hence $D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$ is a core for A_{p_1} in $L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by [EN00, Proposition 1.7]. The statement for A_{p_2} is proved similarly.

Lemma 2.21. Suppose $S^{(p_1)}$ and $S^{(p_2)}$ are consistent. Suppose further that there exists an M > 0 and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\|S_t^{(p_1)}u\|_{\infty} \le M \, e^{\omega t} \, \|u\|_{\infty} \tag{2.3}$$

for all t > 0 and $u \in L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2}) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_{p_1} in $L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. Without loss of generality we assume that $S^{(p_1)}$ and $S^{(p_2)}$ are bounded and $\omega = 0$. By hypothesis $(I + A_{p_1})^{-1} : L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow D(A_{p_1})$ is bounded and bijective. Since $L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we have $(I + A_{p_1})^{-1}(L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ is dense in $D(A_{p_1})$. We will show that

$$(I+A_{p_1})^{-1}\left(L_1(\mathbb{R}^d)\cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)\right)\subset D(A_{p_1})\cap D(A_{p_2})\cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d),\tag{2.4}$$

from which the claim follows.

Indeed we have $L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore

$$(I + A_{p_1})^{-1} (L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)) \subset (I + A_{p_1})^{-1} (L_{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)) = D(A_{p_1}) \cap D(A_{p_2})$$

where the last equality follows from (2.2).

Next let $u \in L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\|(I+A_{p_1})^{-1}u\|_{\infty} = \left\|\int_0^{\infty} e^{-t} S_t^{(p_1)} u \, dt\right\|_{\infty} \le \int_0^{\infty} e^{-t} \|S_t^{(p_1)}u\|_{\infty} \, dt$$
$$\le M \, \|u\|_{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-t} \, dt = M \, \|u\|_{\infty},$$

where we used (2.3) in the third step. It follows that $(I + A_{p_1})^{-1} (L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \subset L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Hence (2.4) holds.

2.4 First-order differential operators in L_p -spaces

In this section we present some properties of first-order differential operators with Lipschitz coefficients in L_p -spaces.

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $b_l \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. For all $p \in (1, \infty)$ consider the first-order differential operator $Y_{p,0}$ of the form

$$Y_{p,0}u = \sum_{l=1}^d \partial_l(b_l \, u)$$

on the domain

$$D(Y_{p,0}) = W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

It is clear that $Y_{p,0} \subset Z^*$ for all $p \in (1,\infty)$, where Z is the operator in $L_q(\mathbb{R}^d)$ defined by

$$Zu = -\sum_{l=1}^{d} \overline{b_l} \,\partial_l u$$

on the domain $D(Z) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and q is the dual exponent of p. Hence $Y_{p,0}$ is closable for all $p \in (1, \infty)$. Let Y_p be the closure of $Y_{p,0}$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $p \in (1, \infty)$.

Theorem 2.22 ([Rob91, Theorem V.4.1]). Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then the operator Y_p generates a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Moreover, $S^{(p_1)}$ and $S^{(p_2)}$ are consistent for all $p_1, p_2 \in (1, \infty)$.

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. We have the following core property for Y_p .

Proposition 2.23. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for Y_p .

Proof. Since $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(Y_p)$, there exists an M > 0 such that

$$\|u\|_{D(Y_p)} \le M \,\|u\|_{W^{1,p}} \tag{2.5}$$

for all $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let $u \in D(Y_p)$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $Y_p = \overline{Y_{p,0}}$, there exists a $v \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\|u - v\|_{D(Y_p)} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Also the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore there exists a $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\|v - \phi\|_{W^{1,p}} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2M}$. It follows that

$$\|u - \phi\|_{D(Y_p)} \le \|u - v\|_{D(Y_p)} + \|v - \phi\|_{D(Y_p)} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + M \|v - \phi\|_{W^{1,p}} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + M \frac{\varepsilon}{2M} = \varepsilon,$$

where we used (2.5) in the second step. This justifies the claim.

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ let J_n be the usual mollifier with respect to a suitable function in $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It is useful that functions in $D(Y_p)$ can be approximated by smooth functions which are formed by using the mollifiers. This is the content of the next proposition.

Proposition 2.24 ([ERS11, Proposition 2.1]). Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then for all $u \in D(Y_p)$ we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} Y_p(J_n * u) = Y_p u$$

in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

2.5 Second-order differential operators in L_p -spaces

This section deals with second-order differential operators in divergence form in L_p -spaces. In particular we are mostly interested in those operators which are strongly elliptic. We will consider accretive properties, elliptic regularity and semigroup extensions of these operators.

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $c_{kl} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $m_k, w \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. In what follows we denote $C(x) = (c_{kl}(x))_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Definition 2.25. Let $p \in [1, \infty]$. An operator L with a suitable domain in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of the form

$$Lu = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k u) + \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_k \,\partial_k u + w \, u$$

is called *strongly elliptic* if there exists a $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C(x)\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge \mu\,\|\xi\|^2\tag{2.6}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. If (2.6) is replaced by

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C(x)\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge 0$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, then we say that L is degenerate elliptic.

Suppose C satisfies the strong ellipticity condition (2.6). Consider the form

$$\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} \left(\partial_{k} u\right) \partial_{l} \overline{v} + \sum_{k=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} m_{k} \left(\partial_{k} u\right) \overline{v} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} w \, u \, \overline{v}$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}) = W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then \mathfrak{a} is closed. Since the coefficient matrix C satisfies the strong ellipticity condition, \mathfrak{a} is also quasi-sectorial. Using the first representation theorem, Theorem 2.12, we can associate with the form \mathfrak{a} an quasi-*m*-sectorial operator A. Note that $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(A)$ and

$$Au = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k u) + \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_k \,\partial_k u + w \, u$$

for all $u \in W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let S be the holomorphic quasi-contraction semigroup generated by -A. The following theorem is a consequence of [Aus96, Theorem 4.8].

Theorem 2.26. For each t > 0 let $K_t \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ be the distributional kernel of S_t . Then

- 1. The kernel K_t is a Hölder continuous function for all t > 0.
- 2. There exist constants $c, \omega, \kappa, \beta > 0$ such that

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{c}{t^{d/2}} e^{-\frac{\beta |x-y|^2}{t}} e^{\omega t},$$

for all t > 0 and $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and

$$|K_t(x,y) - K_t(x+h,y)| + |K_t(x,y) - K_t(x,y+h)|$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{t^{d/2}} \left(\frac{|h|}{t^{1/2} + |x-y|}\right)^{\kappa} e^{-\frac{\beta |x-y|^2}{t}} e^{\omega t}$$

for all t > 0 and $x, y, h \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $2|h| \le t^{1/2} + |x - y|$.

The next theorem guarantees that S can be extended consistently to holomorphic quasicontraction semigroups on L_p -spaces.

Theorem 2.27 ([Ouh05, Theorem 6.16]). Let T be a bounded holomorphic semigroup on a sector Σ_{θ} on $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. For all $z \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ let $K_z \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ be the distributional kernel of T_z . Suppose there exist $c, \beta > 0$ such that

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le c t^{-d/2} e^{-\frac{\beta |x-y|^2}{t}}$$

for all t > 0 and for a.e. $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$. Then for every $\psi \in [0, \theta)$ there exist $c_{\psi}, \beta_{\psi} > 0$ such that

$$|K_z(x,y)| \le c_{\psi} (\operatorname{Re} z)^{-d/2} e^{-\frac{\beta_{\psi} |x-y|}{|z|}}$$

for all $z \in \Sigma_{\psi}$ and for a.e. $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$.

In addition, T extends consistently to a bounded holomorphic semigroup on the sector Σ_{θ} on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $p \in [1, \infty)$.

Hence S extends consistently to a holomorphic semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $p \in [1, \infty)$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$ for all $p \in [1, \infty)$.

Theorem 2.28. Let $p \in [1, \infty)$. Then $D(A) \cap D(A_p) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p .

Proof. For each t > 0 let $K_t \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ be the distributional kernel of S_t . By Theorem 2.26 there exist constants $c, \omega, \beta > 0$ such that $|K_t(x, y)| \leq G_t(x - y)$ for all t > 0 and $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, where

$$G_t(x) = \frac{c}{t^{d/2}} e^{-\frac{\beta |x|^2}{t}} e^{\omega t}$$

for all t > 0 and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Let t > 0 and $u \in L_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$|(S_t^{(p)}u)(x)| = |(S_tu)(x)| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K_t(x,y) \, u(y) \, dy \right|$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K_t(x,y)| \, |u(y)| \, dy \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} G_t(x-y) \, |u(y)| \, dy$$

$$\leq ||G_t * |u|||_{\infty} \leq ||G_t||_1 \, ||u||_{\infty}$$

for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. We have

$$||G_t||_1 = c \, e^{\omega t} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} t^{-d/2} \, e^{-\frac{\beta \, |x|^2}{t}} \, dx = c \, e^{\omega t} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\beta \, |x|^2} \, dx = M \, e^{\omega t},$$

where

$$M = c \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\beta \, |x|^2} \, dx < \infty.$$

It follows that

$$\|S_t^{(p)}u\|_{\infty} \le M \, e^{\omega t} \, \|u\|_{\infty}.$$

Since S and $S^{(p)}$ are consistent, the space $D(A) \cap D(A_p) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p by Lemma 2.21.

It is well-known that elements of $D(A_p)$ possess certain regularity properties when $p \in (1, \infty)$, as stated in the next theorem.

Theorem 2.29 (Elliptic regularity). Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then

$$D(A_p) = W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

This theorem is folklore. For an explicit reference see [ER97, Theorem 1.5].

Before ending this section we will consider an integration by parts formula for pure second-order differential operators. For the rest of this section let $c_{kl} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. That is, we no longer require that $C = (c_{kl})_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$ satisfies the strongly elliptic condition (2.6).

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Define the pure second-order differential operator $B_p: D(B_p) \subset L_p(\mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by

$$B_p u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k u)$$

on the domain

 $D(B_p) = \{ u \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d) : \text{there exists an } f \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ such that}$

$$-\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} u \,\partial_{k}(\overline{c_{kl}} \,\partial_{l}\phi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f \,\phi \text{ for all } \phi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \}.$$

Note that $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(B_p)$.

In Chapters 3 and 4 we will be interested in proving that operators of this type are accretive or quasi-accretive under further restrictions. A convenient tool we would like to use in doing so is the method of integration by parts. The following theorem states that we can indeed perform this method on B_p .

Theorem 2.30. Let $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\int_{[u\neq0]} (B_p u) |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} = \int_{[u\neq0]} |u|^{p-2} (C \nabla \overline{u}, \nabla \overline{u}) + (p-2) \int_{[u\neq0]} |u|^{p-4} (C \operatorname{Re}(u \nabla \overline{u}), \operatorname{Re}(u \nabla \overline{u})) - i (p-2) \int_{[u\neq0]} |u|^{p-4} (C \operatorname{Re}(u \nabla \overline{u}), \operatorname{Im}(u \nabla \overline{u})).$$
(2.7)

Proof. This follows immediately from the proof of [MS08, Proposition 3.5].

We emphasise that we do not require $c_{kl} = c_{lk}$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ in the above theorem (cf. [MS08, Theorem 3.1] and [MS08, Proposition 3.5]).

Let $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. If $p \in [2, \infty)$ then $|u|^{p-2} \overline{u} \in W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where q is the dual exponent of p. In this case (2.7) is a consequence of the integration by parts. Therefore the significance part of Theorem 2.30 is when $p \in (1, 2)$, in which case the smoothness of $|u|^{p-2} \overline{u}$ is not obvious due to the singularity of $|u|^{p-2}$ near the zeros of u.

Next we will extend Theorem 2.30 to the case p = 1 in one dimension. Let $a, b \in [-\infty, \infty]$ with a < b. Let $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$.

Proposition 2.31. Let $u \in W^{2,1}(a, b)$. Then

$$-\int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \, |u'|^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} - \int_{a}^{b} c \, u' \,\overline{u} \operatorname{Re} \, (u' \,\overline{u}) \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - c \, u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} |_{a}^{b}$$

$$(2.8)$$

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof. First note that $u \in W^{1,\infty}(a,b)$ by the Sobolev imbedding theorem. Let $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n = u$ in $W^{2,1}(a,b)$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n(x) = u(x)$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} u'_n(x) = u'(x)$ for a.e. $x \in (a,b)$ as well as there exists an M > 0 such that $\|u_n\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \leq M \|u\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)}$ and $\|u'_n\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \leq M \|u'\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let $\delta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$. It follows from integration by parts that

$$-\int_{a}^{b} (c \, u'_{n})' \,\overline{u}_{n} \, (|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \, |u'_{n}|^{2} \, (|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2}$$
$$-\int_{a}^{b} c \, u'_{n} \,\overline{u}_{n} \operatorname{Re} \left(u'_{n} \,\overline{u}_{n}\right) \left(|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2}\right)^{-3/2}$$
$$- c \, u'_{n} \,\overline{u}_{n} \left(|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2}\right)^{-1/2}|_{a}^{b}.$$
(2.9)

Since $W^{1,1}(a,b) \subset L_{\infty}(a,b)$ by the Sobolev imbedding theorem and $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n = u$ in $W^{2,1}(a,b)$, we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n = u$ in $L_{\infty}(a,b)$.

Next note that $\lim_{n\to\infty} (|u_n|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2}(x) = (|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2}(x)$ for a.e. $x \in (a, b)$ and $(|u_n|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2} \leq \delta^{-1}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \overline{u}_n \left(|u_n|^2 + \delta^2 \right)^{-1/2} - \overline{u} \left(|u|^2 + \delta^2 \right)^{-1/2} \right\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \\ & \leq \left\| \left(\overline{u}_n - \overline{u} \right) \left(|u_n|^2 + \delta^2 \right)^{-1/2} \right\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} + \left\| \overline{u} \left(\left(|u_n|^2 + \delta^2 \right)^{-1/2} - \left(|u|^2 + \delta^2 \right)^{-1/2} \right) \right\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \\ & \leq \left\| \overline{u}_n - \overline{u} \right\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \frac{1}{|\delta|} + \left\| u \right\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \frac{\|u_n - u\|_{L_{\infty}(a,b)}}{|\delta|^2}, \end{split}$$

where the last step follows from the mean value theorem applied to the function $x \mapsto (x^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2}$ on \mathbb{R} . Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} \overline{u}_n (|u_n|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2} = \overline{u} (|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2}$ in $L_{\infty}(a, b)$.

On the other hand we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} (c u'_n)' = (c u')'$ in $L_1(a, b)$ as $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}), u \in W^{2,1}(a, b)$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n = u$ in $W^{2,1}(a, b)$. Therefore

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u'_{n})' \,\overline{u}_{n} \, (|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2}.$$

We also have $W^{1,1}(a,b) \subset C[a,b]$ if $a,b \in \mathbb{R}$ by the Sobolev imbedding theorem and $\lim_{x\to\pm\infty} v(x) = 0$ for all $v \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$ by [Bre11, Corollary 8.9]. Hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} c \, u'_n \, \overline{u}_n \, (|u_n|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2} |_a^b = c \, u' \, \overline{u} \, (|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2} |_a^b.$$

Next we consider the second term on the right hand side of (2.9). We note that $\lim_{n\to\infty} u'_n = u'$ in $L_1(a, b)$ and

$$\|u'_n - u'\|_{L_2(a,b)}^2 = \int_a^b |u'_n - u'|^2 \le \|u'_n - u'\|_{L_\infty(a,b)} \int_a^b |u'_n - u'| \le (M+1) \|u'\|_{L_\infty(a,b)} \|u'_n - u'\|_{L_1(a,b)}.$$

It follows that $\lim_{n\to\infty} u'_n = u'$ in $L_2(a,b)$. Furthermore by assumption $||u_n||_{L_{\infty}(a,b)} \leq M ||u||_{L_{\infty}(a,b)}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore $\lim_{n\to\infty} u'_n \overline{u_n} = u' \overline{u}$ in $L_2(a,b)$. It follows that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{a}^{b} c \, u'_{n} \, \overline{u}_{n} \operatorname{Re}\left(u'_{n} \, \overline{u}_{n}\right) \left(|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2}\right)^{-3/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \, u' \, \overline{u} \operatorname{Re}\left(u' \, \overline{u}\right) \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2}\right)^{-3/2}$$

by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. The claim now follows.

Corollary 2.32. Let $u \in W^{2,1}(a, b)$. Then

$$\int_{a}^{b} |\mathrm{Im}\,(u'\,\overline{u})|^{2} \, |u|^{-3}\,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} < \infty$$

Proof. By Proposition 2.31 we have

$$-\int_{a}^{b} u'' \,\overline{u} \,(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} |u'|^{2} \,(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} - \int_{a}^{b} u' \,\overline{u} \operatorname{Re} \,(u' \,\overline{u}) \,(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - u' \,\overline{u} \,(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2}|_{a}^{b}$$

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$. Taking the real parts on both sides gives

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} u'' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} |u'|^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} - \int_{a}^{b} \left(\operatorname{Re} \, (u' \,\overline{u}) \right)^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} \right) |_{a}^{b} \geq \int_{a}^{b} |u' \,\overline{u}|^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - \int_{a}^{b} \left(\operatorname{Re} \, (u' \,\overline{u}) \right)^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} \right) |_{a}^{b} = \int_{a}^{b} \left(\operatorname{Im} \, (u' \,\overline{u}) \right)^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} \right) |_{a}^{b}$$

For the rest of the proof we use the convention that $(u'\overline{u}|u|^{-1})(x) = 0$ for all $x \in [a, b]$ such that u(x) = 0. Since $|u''\overline{u}(|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2}| \leq |u''|$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ and $u'' \in L_1(a, b)$, we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} u'' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} u'' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1}$$

by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. It follows from Fatou's lemma that

$$0 \leq \int_{a}^{b} \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-3/2}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \left(\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} u'' \,\overline{u} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-1/2} + \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-1/2} \right) |_{a}^{b} \right)$$

$$= \operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} u'' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} + \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \right) |_{a}^{b} < \infty.$$

This verifies the claim.

Proposition 2.33. Suppose $c(x) \in [0, \infty)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $u \in W^{2,1}(a, b)$. Then the limit

$$L = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} c |u'|^{2} \,\delta^{2} \,(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2}$$
(2.10)

exists in $[0,\infty)$ and

$$-\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} = L + \int_{a}^{b} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} - c \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \right) |_{a}^{b},$$

where we use the convention that $(u' \overline{u} |u|^{-1})(x) = 0$ for all $x \in [a, b]$ such that u(x) = 0. Proof. Let $\delta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$. Taking the real part both sides of (2.8) gives

$$-\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \, |u'|^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2}$$
$$- \int_{a}^{b} c \, \left(\operatorname{Re} \, (u' \,\overline{u})\right)^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2}$$
$$- c \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2}\right)|_{a}^{b}.$$

Note that

$$\int_{a}^{b} c \left(\operatorname{Re}\left(u'\,\overline{u}\right) \right)^{2} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-3/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \left| u'\,\overline{u} \right|^{2} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-3/2} - \int_{a}^{b} c \left(\operatorname{Im}\left(u'\,\overline{u}\right) \right)^{2} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-3/2}.$$

Therefore

$$-\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \, |u'|^{2} \, \delta^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} + \int_{a}^{b} c \, \left(\operatorname{Im} \, (u' \, \overline{u})\right)^{2} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} - c \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2}\right)|_{a}^{b}.$$

Clearly

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} c \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, (|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-1/2} \right) |_a^b = c \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \right) |_a^b,$$

where we use the convention that $(u'\overline{u}|u|^{-1})(x) = 0$ for all $x \in [a, b]$ such that u(x) = 0. It follows from the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \, \overline{u} \, (|u|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-1/2} = \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \, \overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]}.$$

By the monotone convergence theorem we also have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} \left(|u|^{2} + \delta^{2} \right)^{-3/2} = \int_{a}^{b} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]}$$

Hence by Corollary 2.32 the limit

$$L = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} c \, |u'|^2 \, \delta^2 \, (|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-3/2}$$

exists in $[0,\infty)$ and

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{b} (c \, u')' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} = L + \int_{a}^{b} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} - c \operatorname{Re} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \right) |_{a}^{b}$$

as claimed.

It is possible that the limit L defined as in (2.10) is strictly positive for some $u \in W^{2,1}(a, b)$, as shown by the following example.

Example 2.34. Let a = 0, b = 1 and $c = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}}$. Let u(x) = x for all $x \in (0, 1)$. Let L be defined as in (2.10). Then

$$L = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_0^1 \frac{\delta^2}{(x^2 + \delta^2)^{3/2}} \, dx = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_0^{1/|\delta|} \frac{1}{(x^2 + 1)^{3/2}} \, dx = \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{(x^2 + 1)^{3/2}} \, dx = 1.$$

Chapter 3

Degenerate elliptic operators in one dimension

3.1 Introduction

The subject to study in this chapter is degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators with bounded complex-valued coefficients in one dimension. We will give a core characterisation for these operators. The results are extensions of those in [CMP98, Theorem 3.5] and [DE15, Theorem 1.5].

The following assumptions will be made throughout the chapter without being mentioned explicitly. If further assumptions are imposed, they will be articulated in the statements in which they are required.

Let $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Define

$$\Sigma_{\theta} = \{ r e^{i\psi} : r \ge 0 \text{ and } |\psi| \le \theta \}$$

Let $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C})$ be such that $c(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $m \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C})$ and $M_m > 0$. Suppose

$$|m| \le M_m \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c}.\tag{3.1}$$

Let $w \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$.

Consider the form \mathfrak{a}_0 defined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(c \, u' \, \overline{v'} + m \, u' \, \overline{v} + w \, u \, \overline{v} \right) \tag{3.2}$$

on the domain

$$D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}).$$

We will show in Lemma 3.7 in Section 3.2 that \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable. Let \mathfrak{a} be the closure of the form \mathfrak{a}_0 . It follows from the first representation theorem [Kat80, Theorem VI.2.1] that there exists an quasi-*m*-sectorial operator A associated with the form \mathfrak{a} . Formally we can write

$$A = -\frac{d}{dx}\left(c\frac{d}{dx}\right) + m\frac{d}{dx} + wI.$$

Let S be the C_0 -semigroup generated by -A. If A is strongly elliptic, that is, if inf Re c > 0, then S extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ for all $p \in [1, \infty)$ by [AMT98, Theorem 2.21]. We prove in Section 3.3 the following extension. **Proposition 3.1.** Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$. Suppose

(I)
$$\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| < \cos\theta \ or$$

(II) $\left|1-\frac{2}{p}\right| \le \cos\theta$ and m=0.

Then S extends consistently to a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$.

The case p = 1 follows directly from [AE12, Corollary 3.13(iii)].

Proposition 3.2. Suppose $c, m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$. Then S extends consistently to a quasicontraction C_0 -semigroup on $L_1(\mathbb{R})$.

Let $p \in [1, \infty)$. Suppose S extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. Clearly $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \subset D(A_p)$. Our aim is to characterise when $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p . For this we need to introduce more notation.

Define

$$\mathcal{P} = [\operatorname{Re} c > 0] \text{ and } \mathcal{N} = [\operatorname{Re} c = 0].$$

Let $\{I_k : k \in K\}$ be the set of connected components of \mathcal{P} , with $I_k \neq I_{k'}$ for all $k, k' \in K$ with $k \neq k'$. Write $I_k = (a_k, b_k)$ for all $k \in K$, with $a_k, b_k \in [-\infty, \infty]$. Let

 $E_l = \{a_k \colon k \in K\} \cap \mathbb{R}, \quad E_r = \{b_k \colon k \in K\} \cap \mathbb{R} \text{ and } E = E_l \cup E_r$

be the set of all finite left endpoints, finite right endpoints and finite endpoints respectively. (The intersection with \mathbb{R} is needed to deal with unbounded I_k and to obtain that $E \subset \mathbb{R}$.) For all $k \in K$ define

$$m_k = \begin{cases} \frac{a_k + b_k}{2} & \text{if } a_k \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } b_k \in \mathbb{R}, \\ a_k + 1 & \text{if } a_k \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } b_k = \infty, \\ b_k - 1 & \text{if } a_k = -\infty \text{ and } b_k \in \mathbb{R}, \\ 0 & \text{if } a_k = -\infty \text{ and } b_k = \infty. \end{cases}$$

Next define the function $Z \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$Z(x) = \begin{cases} \int_x^{m_k} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re} c} & \text{if } x \in I_k \text{ and } k \in K, \\ \infty & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{N}. \end{cases}$$

The main theorem of this chapter is as follows.

Theorem 3.3. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$. Suppose

(I) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| < \cos\theta \text{ or}$ (II) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \le \cos\theta \text{ and } m = 0.$

Suppose that for all $x_0 \in E$ there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

$$\int_{(x_0-\delta_0,x_0+\delta_0)\cap\mathcal{P}} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right| < \infty.$$

Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p if and only if $Z|_{(x-\delta,x+\delta)} \notin L_q(x-\delta,x+\delta)$ for all $x \in E$ and $\delta > 0$, where q is the dual exponent of p.

This theorem has the following obvious corollary.

Corollary 3.4. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$. Suppose $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ and c' is Hölder continuous of order $1 - \frac{1}{p}$. Moreover, assume that

- (I) $\theta \in [0, \arccos \left|1 \frac{2}{p}\right|)$ or
- (II) m = 0 and $\theta = \arccos \left| 1 \frac{2}{p} \right|$.

Suppose that for all $x_0 \in E$ there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

$$\int_{(x_0-\delta_0,x_0+\delta_0)\cap\mathcal{P}} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right| < \infty$$

Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p .

If p = 1 then the condition on $\frac{m}{c}$ is superfluous in Theorem 3.3.

Theorem 3.5. Suppose $c, m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$. Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_1 .

The following is a brief summary of the subsequent sections. In Section 3.2 we give detailed description of the form \mathfrak{a} and its associated operator A. In Section 3.3 we prove Proposition 3.1. We will determine the operator A_p in Section 3.4. The main theorems, Theorems 3.3 and 3.5, are proved in Sections 3.5 and 3.6 respectively. Finally we consider three intriguing examples to illustrate Theorem 3.3 in Section 3.7.

3.2 The form and the operator on L_2

Let \mathfrak{a}_0 be as in Section 3.1. We will now show that \mathfrak{a}_0 is indeed closable.

Lemma 3.6. There exist an $\omega > 0$ and a $\theta' \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ such that $\mathfrak{a}_0(u) + \omega ||u||_2^2 \in \Sigma_{\theta'}$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a}_0)$.

Proof. Let $u \in D(\mathfrak{a}_0)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}_{0}(u) \geq \int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} - \int |m| |u'| |u| - \int |w| |u|^{2}$$
$$\geq \int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} - \varepsilon M_{m} \int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} - \left(\frac{1}{4\varepsilon} + ||w||_{\infty}\right) ||u||_{2}^{2}$$
$$= (1 - \varepsilon M_{m}) \int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} - \left(\frac{1}{4\varepsilon} + ||w||_{\infty}\right) ||u||_{2}^{2}$$

for all $\varepsilon > 0$. Choosing $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2M_m}$ in the above inequality gives

$$\int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \le 2 \operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}_0(u) + (M_m + 2 ||w||_\infty) ||u||_2^2.$$
(3.3)

It follows that

$$|\operatorname{Im} \mathfrak{a}_0(u)| \le \tan \theta \int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 + \int |m| |u'| |u| + \int |w| |u|^2$$

$$\leq (\tan \theta + M_m) \int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 + \left(\frac{1}{4} + ||w||_{\infty}\right) ||u||_2^2$$

$$\leq (\tan \theta + M_m) \left(2\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}_0(u) + (M_m + 2 ||w||_{\infty}) ||u||_2^2\right) + \left(\frac{1}{4} + ||w||_{\infty}\right) ||u||_2^2$$

$$= 2(\tan \theta + M_m) \operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}_0(u) + \left((\tan \theta + M_m) (M_m + 2 ||w||_{\infty}) + \frac{1}{4} + ||w||_{\infty}\right) ||u||_2^2.$$

That is, $\mathfrak{a}_0(u) + \omega \|u\|_2^2 \in \Sigma_{\theta'}$ where

$$\omega = \frac{1}{2(\tan \theta + M_m)} \Big((\tan \theta + M_m) \left(M_m + 2 \| w \|_{\infty} \right) + \frac{1}{4} + \| w \|_{\infty} \Big)$$

and θ' is such that

$$\tan(\theta') = 2(\tan\theta + M_m)$$

The lemma now follows.

Proposition 3.7. The form \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable.

Proof. Define the operator A_0 in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$A_0 u = -(c u')' + m u' + w u$$

on the domain $D(A_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Then $\mathfrak{a}_0(u, v) = (A_0 u, v)$ and $(A_0 u, u) + \omega ||u||_2^2 \in \Sigma_{\theta'}$ for all $u, v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, where ω and θ' are as in Lemma 3.6. It now follows from [Kat80, Theorem VI.1.27] that \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable.

Our next aim is to derive a comprehensive description of the closure of \mathfrak{a}_0 . If $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}$ is open and $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$, then we denote by $u' \in L_{1,\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ the derivative. If $v \in L_{1,\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$ then we say that $v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ if $v|_{\Omega}$ has a continuous representative which extends continuously to $\overline{\Omega}$. For all $u \in L_{1,\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$ with $u|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,1}(\mathcal{P})$ define $Du \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ by

$$(Du)(x) = \begin{cases} u'(x) & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{P}, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{N}. \end{cases}$$

In order to avoid clutter we write

$$L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathcal{P}) = \{ u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \colon u |_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathcal{P}) \}.$$

Define the form \mathfrak{a} by

$$D(\mathfrak{a}) = \{ u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}) \colon \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} \, Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(c\left(Du\right) \overline{Dv} + m\left(Du\right) \overline{v} + w \, u \, \overline{v} \right)$$

for all $u, v \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Note that $|c Du| \leq \frac{\sqrt{\|c\|_{\infty}}}{\cos \theta} \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} |Du|$ and $|m Du| \leq M_m \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} |Du|$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Hence c Du and m Du belong to $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ if $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. The domain $D(\mathfrak{a})$ is naturally normed with

$$u \longmapsto \left(\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u) + (1+\omega) \|u\|_2^2\right)^{1/2},$$

where ω is as in Lemma 3.6. The following proposition shows that we can replace this norm by a simpler one.

Proposition 3.8. The norm $u \mapsto \left(\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u) + (1+\omega) \|u\|_2^2\right)^{1/2}$ on $D(\mathfrak{a})$ is equivalent to $u \longmapsto \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\operatorname{Re} c) |Du|^2 + \|u\|_2^2\right)^{1/2},$

where ω is as in Lemma 3.6.

Proof. Let $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re}\mathfrak{a}(u) + (1+\omega) \|u\|_{2}^{2} \leq \int (\operatorname{Re}c) |u'|^{2} + \int |m| |u'| |u| + (1+\omega+\|w\|_{\infty}) \|u\|_{2}^{2}$$
$$\leq (1+M_{m}) \int (\operatorname{Re}c) |u'|^{2} + \left(\frac{5}{4} + \omega + \|w\|_{\infty}\right) \|u\|_{2}^{2}$$
$$\leq M' \left(\int (\operatorname{Re}c) |u'|^{2} + \|u\|_{2}^{2}\right),$$

where $M' = (1 + M_m) \vee (\frac{5}{4} + \omega + ||w||_{\infty})$. Also by (3.3) we have

$$\int (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 + ||u||_2^2 \le 2 \operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u) + (1 + M_m + 2 ||w||_\infty) ||u||_2^2$$
$$\le 2 (1 + M_m + 2 ||w||_\infty) \left(\operatorname{Re} \mathfrak{a}(u) + (1 + \omega) ||u||_2^2 \right)$$

This completes the proof.

Due to Proposition 3.8 we define the norm $\|\cdot\|_{D(\mathfrak{a})}$ on $D(\mathfrak{a})$ by

$$|u||_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\operatorname{Re} c) |Du|^2 + ||u||_2^2.$$

Note that if $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$, then $u \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}, u \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}} \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ and

$$\|u\|_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^{2} = \|u\,\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}\|_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^{2} + \|u\,\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}}\|_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^{2}.$$
(3.4)

Moreover, $||u \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}}||_{D(\mathfrak{a})} = ||u \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}}||_{L_2(\mathbb{R})}.$

Lemma 3.9. The form \mathfrak{a} is the closure of \mathfrak{a}_0 . Moreover, $C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P}) + L_2(\mathcal{N})$ is dense in $D(\mathfrak{a})$.

Proof. We first show that \mathfrak{a} is closed. Let $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a Cauchy sequence in $D(\mathfrak{a})$. Then $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$, so $u = \lim u_n$ exists in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Similarly $v = \lim \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du_n$ exists in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Let $\tau \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P})$. Then

$$(u,\tau')_{L_2(\mathcal{P})} = \lim(u_n,\tau')_{L_2(\mathcal{P})} = -\lim(u'_n,\tau)_{L_2(\mathcal{P})} = -\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c}}v,\tau\right)_{L_2(\mathcal{P})}.$$

So $u \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$ and $u' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\text{Re}c}} v|_{\mathcal{P}}$ in $L_{2,\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$. Then $\sqrt{\text{Re}c} Du = v \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. It is now easy to verify that $\lim u_n = u$ in $D(\mathfrak{a})$. So \mathfrak{a} is closed.

Secondly we show that for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ with $u = u \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}$ and for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P})$ such that $||u - v||_{D(\mathfrak{a})} < \varepsilon$. Since $u \mathbb{1}_{I_k} \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ and $k \in K$ and $||u||_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 = \sum_{k \in K} ||u \mathbb{1}_{I_k}||^2$ for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ with $u = u \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}$, it suffices to show that

for all $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$, $k \in K$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ with $u = u \mathbb{1}_{I_k}$, there exists a $v \in C_c^{\infty}(I_k)$ such that $||u - v||_{D(\mathfrak{a})} < \varepsilon$. If I_k is bounded and c takes real-valued, this is the content of [CMP98, Lemma 2.6]. Now suppose that $I_k = (a_k, b_k)$ is unbounded with $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $b_k = \infty$. (The proof for other cases like bounded I_k is similar.) Without loss of generality we may assume that u is real-valued. Since $\lim(-n) \lor u \land n = u$ in $D(\mathfrak{a})$ by [GT83, Lemma 7.6], we may assumed that u is bounded. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \ge a_k + 3$ define $\chi_n \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\chi_n(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \le a_k + \frac{1}{n}, \\ n(x - a_k - \frac{1}{n}) & \text{if } a_k + \frac{1}{n} < x \le a_k + \frac{2}{n}, \\ 1 & \text{if } a_k + \frac{2}{n} < x \le n, \\ -\frac{1}{n}(x - 2n) & \text{if } n < x \le 2n, \\ 0 & \text{if } x > 2n. \end{cases}$$

Then $\chi_n \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}), \ 0 \le \chi_n \le 1$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\operatorname{Re} c) |\chi'_n|^2 \le \int_{(a_k + \frac{1}{n}, a_k + \frac{2}{n})} \|c'\|_{\infty} (x - a_k) n^2 + \int_{(n, 2n)} \|c\|_{\infty} n^{-2} \le 2 \|c'\|_{\infty} + \|c\|_{\infty} dc^{-2} \le 2 \|c'\|_{\infty} dc^{-2}$$

So $\chi_n u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\chi_n u\|_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} |u|^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\operatorname{Re} c) \, |\chi_n'|^2 \, |u|^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\operatorname{Re} c) \, |\chi_n|^2 \, |Du|^2 \\ &\leq 2 \, \|u\|_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 + (4 \, \|c'\|_{\infty} + 2 \, \|c\|_{\infty}) \, \|u\|_{\infty}^2 \end{aligned}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \ge a_k + 3$. Passing to a subsequence if necessary, the sequence $(\chi_n u)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is weakly convergent in $D(\mathfrak{a})$. But $\lim \chi_n u = u$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$. So $\lim \chi_n u = u$ in $D(\mathfrak{a})$. Let $V = \{v \in D(\mathfrak{a}): \operatorname{supp} v \text{ is compact and supp } v \subset I_k\}$. We proved that u is in the weak closure of V in $D(\mathfrak{a})$. Since V is convex, the weak closure equals the norm closure and uis therefore in the norm closure of V in $D(\mathfrak{a})$. By regularising elements of V we see that uis an element of the norm closure of $C_c^{\infty}(I_k)$ in $D(\mathfrak{a})$.

Thirdly, the density of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P}) + L_2(\mathcal{N})$ in $D(\mathfrak{a})$ now follows from (3.4) and the previous step.

Finally, let $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is dense in $L_2(\mathbb{R})$, there exists a $v_1 \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $||u-v_1||_{L_2(\mathbb{R})} < \varepsilon$. Therefore $||(u-v_1) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}}||_{D(\mathfrak{a})} = ||(u-v_1) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}}||_{L_2(\mathcal{N})} \le ||u-v_1||_{L_2(\mathbb{R})} < \varepsilon$. By the above there exists a $v_2 \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P})$ such that $||(u-v_1) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}} - v_2||_{D(\mathfrak{a})} < \varepsilon$. Using (3.4) it follows that

$$||u - v_1 - v_2||_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 = ||(u - v_1) \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}} - v_2||_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 + ||(u - v_1) \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}}||_{D(\mathfrak{a})}^2 \le 2\varepsilon^2.$$

So $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is dense in $D(\mathfrak{a})$ and \mathfrak{a} is the closure of \mathfrak{a}_0 .

Let A be the operator associated with \mathfrak{a} . Then the detailed descriptions of A are possible, as shown in the following lemma.

Lemma 3.10. Let $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Then the following are equivalent.

(i)
$$u \in D(A)$$
.
(ii) $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \text{ and } c Du \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}).$
(iii) $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \text{ and } (c Du)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}(\mathcal{P}).$
(iv) $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}) \text{ and } (c Du)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}_0(\mathcal{P}).$

- (v) $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), \ (c Du)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), D(c Du) \in L_2(\mathbb{R}),$ $\lim_{x \downarrow a} (c Du)(x) = 0 \text{ for all } a \in E_l \text{ and } \lim_{x \uparrow b} (c Du)(x) = 0 \text{ for all } b \in E_r.$
- (vi) $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), \ (c \ Du)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), \ D(c \ Du) m \ Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R}),$ $\lim_{x \downarrow a} (c \ Du)(x) = 0 \ for \ all \ a \in E_l \ and \ \lim_{x \uparrow b} (c \ Du)(x) = 0 \ for \ all \ b \in E_r.$

Proof. (i \Longrightarrow ii) Let $u \in D(A)$. Write $f = Au \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Then $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$, which implies $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$ and $\sqrt{\text{Re}\,c}\,Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. It follows that $c\,Du, m\,Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Clearly $w\,u \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ since $w \in L_\infty(\mathbb{R})$ and $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Let $v \in C_c^\infty(\mathbb{R})$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} (c \, Du) \, \overline{v'} + m \, (Du) \, \overline{v} + w \, u \, \overline{v} = \mathfrak{a}(u, v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f \, \overline{v}$$

or equivalently

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} (c \, Du) \, \overline{v'} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (f - m \, Du - w \, u) \, \overline{v}.$$

Hence $c Du \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R})$.

 $(ii \Longrightarrow iii)$ Trivial.

(iii \implies i) By hypothesis $D(c Du) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ and $w u \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Since $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$, we have $m Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Let f = -D(c Du) + m Du + w u. Then $f \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Moreover,

$$\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \int_{\mathcal{P}} c\left(Du\right)\overline{v'} + m\left(Du\right)\overline{v} + w\,u\,\overline{v} = \int_{\mathcal{P}} f\,\overline{v} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f\,\overline{v}$$

for all $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P})$. If $v \in L_2(\mathcal{N})$ then $\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} w \, u \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}} \, \overline{v} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f \, \overline{v}$. So $\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f \, \overline{v}$ for all $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P}) + L_2(\mathcal{N})$. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P}) + L_2(\mathcal{N})$ is a core for \mathfrak{a} by Lemma 3.9, we have $u \in D(A)$.

(iii \implies iv) Let $a \in E_l$, $\delta > 0$ and suppose that $(a, a + \delta) \subset \mathcal{P}$. Then $(c Du)|_{(a, a+\delta)} \in W^{1,2}(a, a + \delta) \subset C[a, a + \delta]$. So $L = \lim_{x \downarrow a} (c Du)(x)$ exists. Moreover, since $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c Du} \in L_2(\mathcal{P})$ one has

$$\int_{(a,a+\delta)} \frac{|c Du|^2}{|c|} \le \frac{1}{\cos \theta} \int_{\mathcal{P}} |\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du|^2 < \infty.$$

So L = 0. By a symmetry argument one deduces that $(c Du)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W_0^{1,2}(\mathcal{P})$. (iv \Longrightarrow v) Trivial.

 $(\mathbf{v} \Longrightarrow \text{iii})$ Let $a \in E_l$, $s \in (a, \infty)$ and suppose that $(a, s] \subset \mathcal{P}$. By assumption and the Poincaré inequality $(cDu)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}(a, s) \subset C^{1/2}[a, s]$. Since $\lim_{x \downarrow a} (cDu)(x) = 0$, there exists an M > 0 such that $|(cu')(x)| \leq M\sqrt{x-a}$ for all $x \in (a, s)$. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, s-a)$. Then $u \in W^{1,2}(a + \varepsilon, s)$. Moreover, $(cu')|_{(a+\varepsilon,s)} \in W^{1,2}(a + \varepsilon, s)$. Therefore

$$[c u' \overline{u}]_{a+\varepsilon}^s = \int_{a+\varepsilon}^s (c u' \overline{u})' = \int_{a+\varepsilon}^s \overline{u} (c u')' + \int_{a+\varepsilon}^s c |u'|^2.$$
(3.5)

Note that $(c Du)'|_{\mathcal{P}} \in L_2(\mathcal{P})$ and $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Hence $\left(\overline{u} (c u')'\right)|_{(a,s)} \in L_1(a,s)$ and $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^s \overline{u} (c u')' \in \mathbb{C}$ exists. It follows from (3.5) that

$$(c u' \overline{u})(a + \varepsilon) = (c u' \overline{u})(s) - \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} \overline{u} (c u')' - \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} c |u'|^{2}.$$
(3.6)

Taking the real parts in (3.6) gives

$$\operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \,\overline{u})(a + \varepsilon) = \operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \,\overline{u})(s) - \operatorname{Re} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} \overline{u} (c \, u')' - \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} (\operatorname{Re} c) \, |u'|^{2}.$$
(3.7)

The limit when $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ of the right hand side of (3.7) exists in $[-\infty, \infty)$. Now we let $L = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, \overline{u})(a + \varepsilon) \in [-\infty, \infty)$. Suppose $L \neq 0$. Then $|\operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, \overline{u})(x)| \ge \delta$ for all small x - a, where $\delta = \frac{1}{2} (1 \land |L|)$. Hence $|(c \, u' \, \overline{u})(x)| \ge \delta$ for all small x - a and

$$|u(x)| = \frac{|(c u' \overline{u})(x)|}{|(c u')(x)|} \ge \frac{\delta}{M\sqrt{x-a}}.$$

So $u|_{(a,s)} \notin L_2(a,s)$. This is a contradiction. Hence

$$L = \lim_{x \downarrow a} \operatorname{Re} \ (c \, u' \, \overline{u})(x) = 0. \tag{3.8}$$

Similarly, $\lim_{x\uparrow b} \operatorname{Re}(c \, u' \, \overline{u})(x) = 0$ for all $b \in E_r$.

Let $k \in K$ be such that $a = a_k$. If I_k is bounded, then by taking limits in (3.7) one deduces that

$$0 = [\operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, \overline{u})]_{a_k}^{b_k} = \operatorname{Re} \int_{a_k}^{b_k} \overline{u} \, (c \, u')' + \int_{a_k}^{b_k} (\operatorname{Re} c) \, |u'|^2.$$

Therefore

$$\int_{I_k} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 = -\operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} \overline{u} (c \, u')'.$$
(3.9)

Alternatively, if I_k is unbounded, then as in (3.7) we deduce that $\lim_{x\to\infty} \operatorname{Re} (c u' \overline{u})(x) \in (-\infty, \infty]$ exists. Suppose that $\lim_{x\to\infty} \operatorname{Re} (c u' \overline{u})(x) \neq 0$. Then there are $\delta > 0$ and $N \in (a, \infty)$ such that $|c u' \overline{u})(x)| \geq \delta$ for all $x \in (N, \infty)$. On the other hand

$$|(c u')(x)| = \left| \int_{a}^{x} (c u')'(t) dt \right| \le \sqrt{x - a} \, \|D(c \, Du)\|_{2}$$

for all $x \in (a, \infty)$. If $x \in (N, \infty)$ then

$$|u(x)| = \left|\frac{(c u' \overline{u})(x)}{(c u')(x)}\right| \ge \frac{\delta}{\|D(c D u)\|_2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x-a}}.$$

This implies $u \notin L_2(\mathbb{R})$, which is a contradiction. Therefore $\lim_{x\to\infty} \operatorname{Re}(c u' \overline{u})(x) = 0$ and (3.9) is valid also for unbounded interval I_k .

Summing over all $k \in K$ and using (3.9) give

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 = -\operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathcal{P}} \overline{u} (c \, u')' < \infty.$$

So $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c Du} \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Then also $c Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Since $D(c Du) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, it follows that $(c Du)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}(\mathcal{P})$.

 $(v \Longrightarrow vi)$ First note that $u \in D(\mathfrak{a})$ since (i) and (v) are equivalent. Hence $m Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ by (3.1) and the equivalence of (i) and (ii). Therefore $D(c Du) - m Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. The rest is trivial.

 $(\text{vi} \implies \text{v})$ The aim is to show that $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, which will then immediately imply that $m Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. This together with the fact that $D(c Du) - m Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ will give $D(c Du) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ as required.

The following proof applies for both bounded and unbounded connected components (if there are any) of \mathcal{P} . Therefore we will present the proof only for an unbounded case.

Now suppose there exists an $s \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $[s, \infty) \subset \mathcal{P}$. Let $f = D(c Du) - m Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ by hypothesis. Let $x \in [s, \infty)$. Then

$$[c u' \overline{u}]_s^x = \int_s^x \overline{u} (c u')' + \int_s^x c |u'|^2 = \int_s^x f \,\overline{u} + \int_s^x c |u'|^2 + \int_s^x m \, u' \,\overline{u},$$

which implies that

$$\operatorname{Re} \left(c \, u' \,\overline{u}\right)(x) = \operatorname{Re} \left(c \, u' \,\overline{u}\right)(s) + \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{s}^{x} f \,\overline{u} + \int_{s}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) \,|u'|^{2} + \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{s}^{x} m \, u' \,\overline{u}.$$
(3.10)

But

$$|m \, u' \,\overline{u}| \le M_m \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} \, |u'| \, |u| \le \frac{1}{2} \, (\operatorname{Re} c) \, |u'|^2 + \frac{M_m^2}{2} \, |u|^2.$$
(3.11)

Therefore

Re
$$(c u' \overline{u})(x) \ge$$
 Re $(c u' \overline{u})(s) +$ Re $\int_{s}^{x} f \overline{u} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{s}^{x} (\text{Re } c) |u'|^{2} - \frac{M_{m}^{2}}{2} \int_{s}^{x} |u|^{2}$.

As a consequence we have

$$\int_{s}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} - M_{0} \leq 2 \operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, \overline{u})(x), \qquad (3.12)$$

where

$$M_0 = 2 \left| \operatorname{Re} \left(c \, u' \, \overline{u} \right)(s) \right| + 2 \, \int_s^\infty |f \, \overline{u}| + M_m^2 \, \int_s^\infty |u|^2 \in \mathbb{R}$$

since $f, u \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$.

We will show that $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} u' \in L_2(s, \infty)$. Now suppose the opposite, that is, suppose that $\int_s^\infty (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 = \infty$. We first notice that

$$|(c u')(x)| = \left| (c u')(s) + \int_{s}^{x} (f + m u') \right|$$

$$\leq |(c u')(s)| + \left(||f||_{2} + \left(\int_{s}^{x} |m u'|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right) \sqrt{x - s}$$

$$= |(c u')(s)| + \left(||f||_{2} + M_{m} \left(\int_{s}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right) \sqrt{x - s}.$$
(3.13)

Since $\int_{s}^{\infty} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 = \infty$, there exists an $N_1 > s$ such that

$$|(c u')(s)| \le \left(||f||_2 + M_m \left(\int_s^{N_1} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right) \sqrt{N_1 - s}$$

Let $x \in (N_1, \infty)$. Then (3.13) gives

$$|(c u')(x)| \le 2\left(\|f\|_2 + M_m\left(\int_s^x (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2\right)^{1/2}\right)\sqrt{x-s}.$$
(3.14)

Now (3.12) and (3.14) together yield

$$\int_{s}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} - M_{0} \leq 4 |u(x)| \left(||f||_{2} + M_{m} \left(\int_{s}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right) \sqrt{x - s}.$$
(3.15)

Let $s' \in [s, \infty)$ be such that $\int_{s}^{s'} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \ge M_0$. Then (3.15) gives

$$\int_{s'}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} \leq 4 |u(x)| \left(M_{1} + M_{m} \left(\int_{s'}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right) \sqrt{x - s}$$
(3.16)

for all $x > N_1 \lor s'$, where $M_1 = ||f||_2 + M_m \left(\int_s^{s'} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \right)^{1/2}$. Let $N_2 > s'$ be such that $\int_{s'}^{N_2} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \ge \left(\frac{M_1}{M_m}\right)^2$. If $x \ge N_1 \lor N_2$ then (3.16) gives

$$\int_{s'}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \le 8 M_m |u(x)| \left(\int_{s'}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \right)^{1/2} \sqrt{x-s}$$

or equivalently

$$|u(x)| \ge \frac{\left(\int_{s'}^{x} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2\right)^{1/2}}{8 M_m \sqrt{x-s}}$$

Since $\int_{s'}^{\infty} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 = \infty$, there exists an $N_3 > s'$ such that $\int_{s'}^{N_3} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \ge 64 M_m^2$. It follows that

$$|u(x)| \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{x-s}}$$

for all $x \ge N_1 \lor N_2 \lor N_3$. This implies $u \notin L_2(\mathbb{R})$, which is a contradiction. Hence $\int_s^\infty (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 < \infty$.

Thus so far we have proved that $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} u' \in L_2(I_k)$ for all $k \in K$. Next we will show that $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. For that let $k \in K$ and suppose $I_k = (a_k, b_k)$ is bounded. Then $m u' \overline{u} \in L_1(I_k)$ by (3.11). Let $s \in I_k$. Then (3.10) implies that $L = \lim_{x \uparrow b_k} \operatorname{Re} (c u' \overline{u})(x)$ exists in \mathbb{R} . On the other hand $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} u' \in L_2(I_k)$ implies that $c Du \in L_2(I_k)$ and $m Du \in$ $L_2(I_k)$. But $D(c Du) - m Du \in L_2(I_k)$. Consequently $(c Du)|_{I_k} \in W^{1,2}(I_k) \subset C^{1/2}(\overline{I_k})$. Since $\lim_{x \uparrow b_k} (c Du)(x) = 0$, there exists an M > 0 such that $(c Du)(x) \leq M \sqrt{b_k - x}$. Now suppose $L \neq 0$. Then for all $x \in I_k$ with $b_k - x$ small enough, we have $|\operatorname{Re} (c u' \overline{u})(x)| \geq \delta$, where $\delta = \frac{1}{2} (1 \wedge |L|)$. Hence $|(c u' \overline{u})(x)| \geq \delta$ for all small $b_k - x$ and

$$|u(x)| \ge \frac{\delta}{M\sqrt{b_k - x}}.$$

Thus $u \notin L_2(I_k)$, which is a contradiction. Therefore we must have L = 0. Analogously $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} \operatorname{Re}(c \, u' \, \overline{u})(x) = 0$. Taking limits to the endpoints of I_k on both sides of (3.10) gives

$$\int_{I_k} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 = -\operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} f \,\overline{u} + \operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} m \, u' \,\overline{u}$$
$$\leq -\operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} f \,\overline{u} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{I_k} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 + \frac{M_m^2}{2} \int_{I_k} |u|^2$$

or equivalently

$$\int_{I_k} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \le -2 \operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} f \,\overline{u} + M_m^2 \int_{I_k} |u|^2.$$

This is for all $k \in K$ such that I_k is bounded. Let

 $\mathcal{P}_b = \{I_k \subset \mathcal{P} \colon k \in K \text{ and } I_k \text{ is bounded}\}.$

Then

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}_b} (\operatorname{Re} c) |u'|^2 \le -2 \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathcal{P}_b} f \,\overline{u} + M_m^2 \int_{\mathcal{P}_b} |u|^2 < \infty.$$

Since \mathcal{P} has at most two unbounded connected components, it follows that $\sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c} Du \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$.

This completes the proof of the lemma.

3.3 L_p extension

We will now assume in addition to (3.1) that $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C})$ for the rest of this chapter.

Let S be the C_0 -semigroup generated by -A. We will show in this section that it is possible to extend S to a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ for certain $p \in [1, \infty)$. This is the content of Propositions 3.1 and 3.2. Since Proposition 3.2 was already proved, it remains to prove Proposition 3.1.

Proof of Proposition 3.1. We proceed via two steps.

Step 1: Suppose A is strongly elliptic, i.e. ess inf $\operatorname{Re} c > 0$. Using duality arguments we may assume $p \geq 2$. If $m \neq 0$, we choose $\alpha \in (0,1)$ such that $1 - \frac{2}{p} \leq \alpha \cos \theta$, set $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{4}(1-\alpha)p$ and $\beta = \frac{M_m^2}{4\varepsilon} + ||w||_{\infty}$. If m = 0, we set $\beta = ||w||_{\infty}$. Note that in either case β is independent with ess inf $\operatorname{Re} c$. By [AT98, Theorem 18] the semigroup S extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. We will show that $||S_t||_{p\to p} \leq e^{\beta t}$ for all t > 0. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$ and $\mathcal{D} = D(A_p) \cap D(A) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Let $u \in \mathcal{D}$ and set $v = |u|^{p-2}u$. Then $v \in L_q(\mathbb{R}) \cap L_2(\mathbb{R})$, where q is the dual exponent of p. Since ess inf c > 0, we have $D(\overline{\mathfrak{a}_0}) = W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R})$. It follows that $u \in D(A) \subset D(\overline{\mathfrak{a}_0}) = W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R})$. Note that

$$v' = \frac{p}{2} |u|^{p-2} u' + \frac{p-2}{2} |u|^{p-4} u^2 \overline{u'}$$

on the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R} : u(x) \neq 0\}$. This together with [GT83, Lemma 7.7] give $v \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R})$. We will show that Re $\int (Au) \overline{v} \geq -\beta \|u\|_p^p$, where here and in the rest of Step 1 the integral is over the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R} : u(x) \neq 0\}$. We have

$$\operatorname{Re} \int (A_p u) \,\overline{v} = \operatorname{Re} \int (A u) \,\overline{v} = \operatorname{Re} \,\overline{\mathfrak{a}_0}(u, v) = \operatorname{Re} \,\int (c \, u' \,\overline{v'} + m \, u' \,\overline{v} + w \, u \,\overline{v}). \tag{3.17}$$

But

$$c \, u' \, \overline{v'} = \frac{p}{2} \, c \, |u|^{p-2} \, |u'|^2 + \frac{p-2}{2} \, c \, |u|^{p-4} \, \overline{u}^2 \, (u')^2.$$

Since $|c| \leq \frac{1}{\cos \theta} \operatorname{Re} c$ we have

$$\operatorname{Re}(c \, u' \, \overline{v'}) \ge \frac{p}{2} \left(\operatorname{Re} c\right) |u|^{p-2} |u'|^2 - \frac{p-2}{2} \frac{\operatorname{Re} c}{\cos \theta} |u|^{p-2} |u'|^2$$
$$= \left(\operatorname{Re} c\right) \left(\frac{p}{2} - \frac{p-2}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{\cos \theta}\right) |u|^{p-2} |u'|^2.$$
(3.18)

Next we use $w \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ to obtain

$$|w \, u \, \overline{v}| \le \|w\|_{\infty} \, |u|^p. \tag{3.19}$$

If m = 0 then $1 - \frac{2}{p} \le \cos \theta$. It follows from (3.17), (3.18) and (3.19) that

$$\operatorname{Re} \int (A_p u) \,\overline{v} \ge - \|w\|_{\infty} \,\|u\|_p^p = -\beta \,\|u\|_p^p.$$

If $m \neq 0$, then we use $|m| \leq M_m \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} c}$ to obtain

$$|m u' \overline{v}| \le \varepsilon (\operatorname{Re} c) |u|^{p-2} |u'|^2 + \frac{M_m^2}{4\varepsilon} |u|^p.$$
(3.20)

It follows from (3.17), (3.18), (3.19) and (3.20) that

$$\operatorname{Re} \int (A_p u) \,\overline{v} \ge \int (\operatorname{Re} c) \left(\frac{p}{2} - \frac{p-2}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{\cos \theta} - \varepsilon \right) \, |u|^{p-2} \, |u'|^2 - \left(\frac{M_m^2}{4\varepsilon} + \|w\|_{\infty} \right) \, |u|^p$$
$$\ge -\beta \, \|u\|_p^p.$$

Therefore the restriction $(\beta I + A_p)|_{\mathcal{D}}$ is accretive. Since \mathcal{D} is a core for A_p by Theorem 2.28, the operator $\beta I + A_p$ is also accretive by [LP61, Lemma 3.4]. By the Lumer-Phillips theorem we have that $S^{(p)}$ is a quasi-contraction semigroup and $||S_t||_{p\to p} \leq e^{\beta t}$ for all t > 0.

Step 2: Suppose A is degenerate elliptic. Using duality arguments we may assume $p \in (1,2)$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and set $c_n = c + \frac{1}{n}$. Let $A_{[n]} = -\frac{d}{dx} c_n \frac{d}{dx}$ be the operator associated with the form (3.2) with c replaced by c_n . Moreover, let $S^{[n]}$ be the semigroup generated by $-A_{[n]}$. Then by Step 1 there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that $S^{[n]}$ extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(n,p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ and $\|S_t^{(n,p)}\|_{p\to p} \leq e^{\beta t}$ for all t > 0 and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let t > 0 and $u \in L_{2,c}(\mathbb{R})$. By [AE12, Corollary 3.9] we have that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|S_t^{[n]}u - S_tu\|_2 = 0$. Passing to a subsequence if necessary we may assume $\lim_{n\to\infty} S_t^{[n]}u = S_tu$ almost everywhere on \mathbb{R} . It follows from Fatou's lemma that

$$||S_t u||_p = ||\liminf S_t^{[n]} u||_p \le \liminf ||S_t^{[n]} u||_p \le e^{\beta t} ||u||_p < \infty.$$

But $L_{2,c}(\mathbb{R})$ is dense in $L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Therefore $||S_t u||_p \leq e^{\beta t} ||u||_p$ for all $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Hence $S_t|_{L_2(\mathbb{R})\cap L_p(\mathbb{R})}$ extends consistently to a quasi-contraction operator $S_t^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Then $S^{(p)}$ is a C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ by [Voi92, Proposition 1]. The proof is now complete.

3.4 The generator on L_p

Propositions 3.1 and 3.2 provide conditions such that the semigroup S extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. In this section we give a detailed description for the domain of A_p .

In addition to (3.1) and $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, we will assume for the rest of the chapter that m also satisfies the following condition: For all $x_0 \in E$ there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\int_{(x_0-\delta,x_0+\delta)\cap\mathcal{P}} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right| < \infty.$$
(3.21)

An easy example is $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with $|m| \leq M \operatorname{Re} c$ for some $M \geq 0$, which also supersedes (3.1) as c is bounded. A more interesting example is provided in Example 3.26.

Condition (3.21) implies in particular that

$$\int_{a_k}^{m_k} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right| < \infty \tag{3.22}$$

for all $k \in K$ with $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and

$$\int_{m_k}^{b_k} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right| < \infty \tag{3.23}$$

for all $k \in K$ with $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Define $H \colon \mathcal{P} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ by

$$H(x) = e^{\int_x^{m_k} \frac{m}{c}} \tag{3.24}$$

if $x \in I_k$ and $k \in K$. If $k \in K$ is such that $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$, then we obtain from (3.22) that

$$e^{-\int_{a_k}^{m_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \le |H(x)| \le e^{\int_{a_k}^{m_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|}$$

for all $x \in (a_k, m_k]$, the limit $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} H(x)$ exists in \mathbb{C} and is non-zero. Similarly if $k \in K$ is such that $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$, then we obtain from (3.23) that

$$e^{-\int_{m_k}^{b_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \le |H(x)| \le e^{\int_{m_k}^{b_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|}$$

for all $x \in [m_k, b_k)$, the limit $\lim_{x \uparrow b_k} H(x)$ exists in \mathbb{C} and is also non-zero. It is useful to keep these facts in mind as we will use them frequently later on.

For all $p \in [1, \infty)$ define the operator B_p in $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$B_p u = -D(c\,Du) + m\,Du + w\,u$$

on the domain

$$D(B_p) = \{ u \in L_p(\mathbb{R}) \cap W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}) \colon c \, Du \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P}), \, D(c \, Du) - m \, Du \in L_p(\mathbb{R}), \\ \lim_{x \downarrow a} (c \, Du)(x) = 0 \text{ for all } a \in E_l \text{ and} \\ \lim_{x \uparrow b} (c \, Du)(x) = 0 \text{ for all } b \in E_r \}.$$

Clearly $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}) \subset D(B_p)$ for all $p \in [1,\infty)$. We will show that $B_p = A_p$ for all $p \in [1,\infty)$ under suitable conditions.

Lemma 3.11. The operator B_p is closed for all $p \in [1, \infty)$.

Proof. Let $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence in $D(B_p)$. Let $u, v \in L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Suppose $\lim u_n = u$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ and $\lim B_p u_n = v$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Write

$$v_n = B_p u_n \tag{3.25}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By elliptic regularity $\lim u_n(x) = u(x)$ for all $x \in \mathcal{P}$. First suppose that $E \neq \emptyset$. Let $a \in E_l$ and $k \in K$ be such that $a = a_k$. It follows from (3.25) that

$$H(x) (c u'_{n})(x) = \int_{a_{k}}^{x} (-v_{n} + w u_{n}) H$$

for all $x \in I_k$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where H is defined by (3.24). Therefore

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} H(x) \left(c \, u'_n \right)(x) = \int_{a_k}^x (-v + w \, u) \, H$$

uniformly for all $x \in I_k$. Let $J \in \mathcal{P}$ be an open interval. Then Re *c* is strictly positive on *J*. It follows that *u* is differentiable on *J* and $H(x)(cu')(x) = \int_{a_k}^x (-v + wu) H$ for all $x \in J$. Hence $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} H(x)(cu')(x) = 0$. But $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} |H(x)|$ exists in \mathbb{R} and is nonzero. Therefore we have $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} (cu')(x) = 0$. Moreover, (H cu')'(x) = ((-v + wu) H)(x)for almost every $x \in I_k$. Equivalently -(cu')' + mu' + wu = v almost everywhere on I_k . Similarly $\lim_{x\uparrow b} (cu')(x) = 0$ for all $b \in E_r$. We proved that $-D(cDu) + mDu + wu = v \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}$. Clearly $v_n|_{\mathcal{N}} = wu_n|_{\mathcal{N}}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. So $v|_{\mathcal{N}} = (wu)|_{\mathcal{N}}$ and -D(cDu) + mDu + wu = v. Hence $u \in D(B_p)$ and $v = B_pu$. Thus B_p is closed. If $E = \emptyset$, then the proof is similar with small modifications.

We first concentrate on the case $p \in (1, \infty)$.

Lemma 3.12. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Suppose

(I) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| < \cos\theta$ or (II) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \le \cos\theta$ and m = 0.

Then B_p is quasi-accretive.

Proof. We will show that there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that Re $\int (B_p u) |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} \ge -\beta ||u||_p^p$ for all $u \in D(B_p)$, where here and in the rest of the proof the integral is over the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R} : u(x) \ne 0\}$. Let $u \in D(B_p)$. Let $a \in E_l$, $s \in (a, \infty)$ and suppose that $(a, s] \subset \mathcal{P}$. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, s - a)$. Note that Re c is strictly positive on $(a + \varepsilon, s)$. Therefore elliptic regularity gives $u|_{(a+\varepsilon,s)} \in W^{2,p}(a+\varepsilon,s)$. It follows from [MS08, Theorem 3.1] that

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} (B_{p}u) |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} = \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{p}{2} c |u|^{p-2} |u'|^{2} + \frac{p-2}{2} c |u|^{p-4} \overline{u}^{2} (u')^{2} \right) + \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} \operatorname{Re} \left(m \, u' \, |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} + w \, |u|^{p} \right) - \operatorname{Re} \left(c \, u' \, |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} \right) \Big|_{a+\varepsilon}^{s}.$$
(3.26)

3.4. THE GENERATOR ON L_p

Clearly $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} (B_p u) |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} = \int_{a}^{s} (B_p u) |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} \in \mathbb{C}.$

We next consider the integrands on the right hand side of (3.26). If $m \neq 0$, then we choose $\alpha \in (0,1)$ such that $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \leq \alpha \cos \theta$, set $\varepsilon' = \frac{1}{4} (1-\alpha) p$ and $\beta = \frac{M_m^2}{4\varepsilon'} + ||w||_{\infty}$. If m = 0 then we set $\beta = ||w||_{\infty}$. Then it follows as in the proof of Proposition 3.1 Step 1 that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{p}{2}c\,|u|^{p-2}\,|u'|^2 + \frac{p-2}{2}c\,|u|^{p-4}\,\overline{u}^2\,(u')^2 + m\,u'\,|u|^{p-2}\,\overline{u} + w\,|u|^p\right) \ge -\beta\,|u|^p.$$

Therefore

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{p}{2} c |u|^{p-2} |u'|^{2} + \frac{p-2}{2} c |u|^{p-4} \overline{u}^{2} (u')^{2} + m u' |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} + (w+\beta) |u|^{p} \right)$$
$$= \int_{a}^{s} \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{p}{2} c |u|^{p-2} |u'|^{2} + \frac{p-2}{2} c |u|^{p-4} \overline{u}^{2} (u')^{2} + m u' |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} + (w+\beta) |u|^{p} \right) \in [0,\infty].$$

By a similar argument used in (3.8) we obtain from (3.26) that $\lim_{x\downarrow a} \operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, |u|^{p-2} \, \overline{u})(x) = 0$. Similarly $\lim_{x\uparrow b} \operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, |u|^{p-2} \, \overline{u})(x) = 0$ if $b \in E_r$. Arguing as at the end of the proof of Lemma 3.10 gives $\lim_{x\to\infty} \operatorname{Re} (c \, u' \, |u|^{p-2} \, \overline{u})(x) = 0$ if $(a,\infty) \subset \mathcal{P}$. Taking limits in (3.26) we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} (B_p u) |u|^{p-2} \overline{u} = \int_{I_k} \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{p}{2} c |u|^{p-2} |u'|^2 + \frac{p-2}{2} c |u|^{p-4} \overline{u}^2 (u')^2 + \int_{I_k} \left(m \, u' \, |u|^{p-2} \, \overline{u} + w \, |u|^p \right) \ge -\beta \int_{I_k} |u|^p$$

for all $k \in K$. Summing over all k gives the lemma.

Proposition 3.13. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Suppose

(I) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| < \cos\theta$ or (II) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \le \cos\theta$ and m = 0.

Let $S^{(p)}$ be the C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ which is consistent with S. Then $-B_p$ is the generator of $S^{(p)}$.

Proof. Recall that $-A_p$ is the generator of $S^{(p)}$. We first show that $D(A_p) \subset D(B_p)$. Let $u \in D(A_p) \cap D(A)$. Then $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap L_p(\mathbb{R})$ and

$$-D(c\,Du) + m\,Du + w\,u = Au = A_p u \in L_p(\mathbb{R}).$$

Let $J \in \mathcal{P}$ be an open interval. Since Re *c* is strictly positive on *J*, it follows from elliptic regularity that $u|_J \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R})$ and $cDu \in W^{1,p}_{loc}(\mathcal{P})$. Since $u \in D(A)$, we know that $(cDu)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,2}_0(\mathcal{P})$. Hence $\lim_{x\downarrow a} (cDu)(x) = 0$ for all $a \in E_l$ and $\lim_{x\uparrow b} (cDu)(x) = 0$ for all $b \in E_r$. Therefore $D(A_p) \cap D(A) \subset D(B_p)$ and $A_p|_{D(A_p)\cap D(A)} \subset B_p$. Since B_p is closed and $D(A_p) \cap D(A)$ is a core for A_p , we obtain that $A_p \subset B_p$.

Finally since A_p is the generator of a quasi-contraction C_0 -semigroup, A_p is *m*-quasiaccretive by the Lumer-Phillips theorem. But B_p is quasi-accretive by Lemma 3.12. Therefore $A_p = B_p$ as required.

The next two results for p = 1 are of independent interests, which are not essential to the core characterisation for A_1 in Section 3.6.

Lemma 3.14. Suppose $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ and m = 0. Then B_1 is quasi-accretive.

Proof. We may assume without loss of generality that w = 0. We will show that there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that Re $\int (B_1 u) \overline{u} |u|^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \ge -\beta ||u||_1$ for all $u \in D(B_1)$. Let $u \in D(B_1)$. Let $a \in E_l$, $s \in (a, \infty)$ and suppose that $(a, s] \subset \mathcal{P}$. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, s - a)$. Note that Re *c* is strictly positive on $(a + \varepsilon, s)$. Therefore elliptic regularity gives $u|_{(a+\varepsilon,s)} \in W^{2,1}(a + \varepsilon, s)$. It follows from Proposition 2.33 that

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} (B_{1}u) \,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} = L(a+\varepsilon,s) + \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u'\,\overline{u}\right)\right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} - c \operatorname{Re} \left(u'\,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1}\right)|_{a+\varepsilon}^{s}, \tag{3.27}$$

where

$$L(a+\varepsilon,s) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} c \, |u'|^2 \, \delta^2 \, (|u|^2 + \delta^2)^{-3/2} \in [0,\infty)$$

and we use the convention that $(u' \overline{u} | u|^{-1})(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ such that u(x) = 0. Clearly $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} (B_1 u) \overline{u} | u|^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} = \int_{a}^{s} (B_1 u) \overline{u} | u|^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \in \mathbb{C}$. Furthermore

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a+\varepsilon}^{s} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} = \int_{a}^{s} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \in [0, \infty].$$

Note that $0 \leq |(c \operatorname{Re}(u'\overline{u}|u|^{-1}))(x)| \leq |(c u')(x)|$ for all $x \in (a, s)$. It follows that $\lim_{x \downarrow a} (c \operatorname{Re}(u'\overline{u}|u|^{-1}))(x) = 0$ since $\lim_{x \downarrow a} (c u')(x) = 0$ by hypothesis. Hence we deduce from (3.27) that $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} L(a + \varepsilon, s)$ exists in $[0, \infty]$.

Similarly if $b \in E_r$ then $\lim_{x\uparrow b} (c \operatorname{Re}(u' \overline{u} |u|^{-1}))(x) = 0$ and $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} L(s, b - \varepsilon)$ exists in $[0, \infty]$.

Hence

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} (B_1 u) \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \left(L(a_k + \varepsilon, s) + L(s, b_k - \varepsilon) \right) + \int_{I_k} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u} \right) \right)^2 |u|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \ge 0$$

for all $k \in K$ with $I_k = (a_k, b_k)$ bounded and $s \in I_k$.

Now let $a \in E_l$ and suppose $(a, \infty) \subset \mathcal{P}$. Without loss of generality we may assume that a = -1. Let $s \in (0, \infty)$. Let $\tau \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ be such that $\operatorname{supp} \tau \subset (a, \infty)$ and $\tau|_{[0,s+1]} = \mathbb{1}|_{[0,s+1]}$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define $\tau_n \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$\tau_n(x) = \begin{cases} \tau(x) & \text{if } x \in (-\infty, s), \\ \tau(n^{-1}x) & \text{if } x \in [s, \infty). \end{cases}$$

Then supp $\tau_n \subset (a, \infty)$. Let $u_n = u \tau_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $u|_{(a,\infty)} \in W^{2,1}_{loc}(a,\infty)$, we deduce that $u_n \in W^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}) \subset D(B_1)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular $u_n|_{[s,\infty)} \in W^{2,1}(s,\infty)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, $u_n(n(s+1)) = 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. It follows from Proposition 2.33 that we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{s}^{\infty} (B_{1}u_{n}) \,\overline{u_{n}} \,|u_{n}|^{-1} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u_{n}\neq 0]} = P_{n} + \left(c \operatorname{Re} \left(u_{n}' \,\overline{u_{n}} \,|u_{n}|^{-1}\right)\right)(s), \quad (3.28)$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where

$$P_n = L(s, n(s+1)) + \int_s^\infty c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u'_n \,\overline{u_n} \right) \right)^2 |u_n|^{-3} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]}$$

and

$$L(s, n(s+1)) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{s}^{n(s+1)} c |u'_{n}|^{2} \delta^{2} (|u_{n}|^{2} + \delta^{2})^{-3/2} \in [0, \infty)$$

and we use the convention that $(u'_n \overline{u_n} |u_n|^{-1})(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $u_n(x) = 0$. Since $\lim_{x \downarrow a} (c u')(x) = 0$, we have

$$|(c u')(x)| = \left| \int_{a}^{x} (c u')' \right| \le \int_{a}^{x} |(c u')'| \le \int_{a}^{\infty} |(c u')'| < \infty$$

for all $x \in (a, \infty)$, as $(c u')' \in L_1(a, \infty)$ by hypothesis. Therefore

$$\begin{split} \int_{s}^{\infty} |(c \, u_{n}')' - (c \, u')'| &= \int_{s}^{\infty} |(c \, u')' \, (\tau_{n} - 1) + 2 \, c \, u' \, \tau_{n}' + c' \, u \, \tau_{n}' + c \, u \, \tau_{n}''| \\ &\leq \int_{ns}^{\infty} |(c \, u')'| + \frac{2}{n} \, \|\tau'\|_{\infty} \, \int_{a}^{\infty} |(c \, u')'| + \frac{1}{n} \, \|\tau'\|_{\infty} \, \|c'\|_{\infty} \, \int_{a}^{\infty} |u| \\ &+ \frac{1}{n^{2}} \, \|\tau''\|_{\infty} \, \|c\|_{\infty} \int_{s}^{\infty} |u| \end{split}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} (c u'_n)'|_{(s,\infty)} = (c u')'|_{(s,\infty)}$ in $L_1(s,\infty)$. Consequently

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{s}^{\infty} (B_{1}u_{n}) \,\overline{u_{n}} \, |u_{n}|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u_{n} \neq 0]} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{s}^{\infty} (B_{1}u_{n}) \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \, \mathbb{1}_{[\tau_{n} \neq 0]}$$
$$= \int_{s}^{\infty} (B_{1}u) \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]}.$$

Also

$$|(c u'_n)(s) - (c u')(s)| = |(c u)(s) \tau'_n(s)| \le \frac{1}{n} \|\tau'\|_{\infty} |(c u)(s)|.$$

This implies

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left(c \, u'_n \, \overline{u_n} \, |u_n|^{-1} \right)(s) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(c \, u'_n \, \overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \right)(s) = \left(c \, u' \, \overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \right)(s).$$

It now follows from (3.28) that $P = \lim_{n \to \infty} P_n$ exists in $[0, \infty)$. Hence

Re
$$\int_{s}^{\infty} (B_{1}u) \,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} = P + (c \operatorname{Re}(u' \,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1}))(s).$$
 (3.29)

By similar arguments as used before in the case of bounded intervals of \mathcal{P} , we obtain that $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} L(a + \varepsilon, s) \in [0, \infty]$ and

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{s} (B_{1}u) \,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} L(a+\varepsilon,s) + \int_{a}^{s} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u'\,\overline{u}\right)\right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} - \left(c \operatorname{Re} \left(u'\,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1}\right)\right)(s).$$

$$(3.30)$$

Adding (3.29) and (3.30) together gives

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{a}^{\infty} (B_{1}u) \,\overline{u} \,|u|^{-1} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} = P + \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} L(a+\varepsilon,s) + \int_{a}^{s} c \left(\operatorname{Im} \left(u' \,\overline{u}\right)\right)^{2} |u|^{-3} \,\mathbb{1}_{[u\neq 0]} \ge 0.$$

Similar result holds for the interval $(-\infty, b)$ if $(-\infty, b) \subset \mathcal{P}$, where $b \in E_r$. Thus we have proved that

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{I_k} (B_1 u) \,\overline{u} \, |u|^{-1} \, \mathbb{1}_{[u \neq 0]} \ge 0$$

for all intervals $I_k \subset \mathcal{P}$. Summing over all k gives the lemma.

Proposition 3.15. Suppose $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ and m = 0. Let $S^{(1)}$ be the C_0 -semigroup on $L_1(\mathbb{R})$ which is consistent with S. Then $-B_1$ is the generator of $S^{(1)}$.

Proof. The proof is the same as that of Proposition 3.13.

We finish this section with some regularity properties of the operator A_p . For that we need some more definitions. Define the function $W: \mathcal{P} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ by

$$W(x) = \int_{x}^{m_k} \frac{1}{H c}$$

if $x \in I_k$ and $k \in K$. Recall that we defined the function $Z \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$Z(x) = \begin{cases} \int_x^{m_k} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re} c} & \text{if } x \in I_k \text{ and } k \in K, \\ \infty & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{N}. \end{cases}$$

For convenience, in what follows we will write $D(A_p) \subset C[a, b]$ to mean that $u|_{(a,b)} \in C[a, b]$ for all $u \in D(A_p)$, where $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ with a < b.

Lemma 3.16. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Suppose

(I) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| < \cos\theta$ or (II) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \le \cos\theta$ and m = 0.

Let $-A_p$ be the generator of the C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ which is consistent with S. Let q be the dual exponent of p and let $k \in K$.

- (a) If $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $Z|_{(a_k, m_k)} \in L_q(a_k, m_k)$, then $D(A_p) \subset C[a_k, m_k]$.
- (b) If $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $Z|_{(m_k, b_k)} \in L_q(m_k, b_k)$, then $D(A_p) \subset C[m_k, b_k]$.
- (c) If I_k is bounded and $Z|_{I_k} \in L_q(I_k)$, then

$$u(b_k) - u(a_k) = \int_{I_k} W \cdot (-A_p u + w u) \cdot H$$

and

$$|u(b_k) - u(x)| \le 3 e^{\int_{I_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \left(1 + \|w\|_{\infty}\right) \|Z|_{I_k}\|_{L_q(I_k)} \|u\,\mathbb{1}_{I_k}\|_{D(A_p)}$$

for all $u \in D(A_p)$ and $x \in I_k$.

Proof. The proof is inspired by the proof of [CMP98, Theorem 3.3].

(a) Let $u \in D(A_p) = D(B_p)$. Clearly u is continuous on \mathcal{P} since $u \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$. Let $f = -A_p u + w u$. Then f = (c u')' - m u' on (a_k, b_k) . Then $f \in L_p(a_k, b_k)$. Moreover, $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} (c u')(x) = 0$. So if $t \in (a_k, m_k]$ then

$$H(t) (c u')(t) = \int_{a_k}^t f H$$

Therefore if $x \in (a_k, m_k]$ then

$$u(m_k) - u(x) = \int_x^{m_k} \frac{1}{H(t) c(t)} \int_{a_k}^t f(s) H(s) \, ds \, dt$$

= $W(x) \int_{a_k}^x f \, H + \int_x^{m_k} W f \, H,$ (3.31)

where we used integration by parts. But $|\int_{a_k}^x fH| \leq e^{\int_{a_k}^{m_k} |\frac{m}{c}|} ||f||_p (x - a_k)^{1/q}$ for all $x \in (a_k, m_k]$. Also $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} (x - a_k)^{1/q} W(x) = 0$ since $Z|_{(a_k, m_k]}$ is decreasing, $Z|_{(a_k, m_k)} \in L_q(a_k, m_k)$ and $|W(x)| \leq e^{\int_{a_k}^{m_k} |\frac{m}{c}|} |Z(x)|$ for all $x \in (a_k, m_k]$. So $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} W(x) \int_{a_k}^x fH = 0$. Obviously $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} \int_x^{m_k} WfH$ exists. So $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} u(x)$ exists and u has a continuous representative on $[a_k, m_k]$. Note that

$$u(m_k) - u(a_k) = \int_{a_k}^{m_k} W f H.$$
 (3.32)

This proves Statement (a).

(b) The proof is similar to that of (a) and we also have

$$u(b_k) - u(m_k) = \int_{m_k}^{b_k} W f H.$$
 (3.33)

(c) Now let $k \in K$ and suppose I_k is bounded. The first part of (c) follows by adding (3.32) and (3.33). Also (3.31) and (3.33) together give

$$u(b_k) - u(x) = W(x) \int_{a_k}^x f H + \int_x^{b_k} W f H$$

for all $x \in (a_k, m_k]$. Since I_k is bounded, we have the estimate

$$e^{-\int_{a_k}^{m_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \le |H(x)| \le e^{\int_{a_k}^{m_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|}$$

for all $x \in I_k$. With this in mind we obtain

$$|u(b_k) - u(x)| \le e^{\int_{I_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \left(|Z(x)| (x - a_k)^{1/q} + ||Z|_{I_k} ||_{L_q(I_k)} \right) ||f||_{L_p(I_k)}$$

for all $x \in (a_k, m_k]$. Since Z is positive and decreasing on (a_k, m_k) , we deduce that

$$||Z|_{I_k}||_{L_q(I_k)}^q \ge \int_{(a_k+x)/2}^x |Z(t)|^q \, dt \ge \int_{(a_k+x)/2}^x |Z(x)|^q \, dt = \frac{x-a_k}{2} \, |Z(x)|^q.$$

Hence $Z(x) (x - a_k)^{1/q} \le \sqrt[q]{2} ||Z|_{I_k} ||_{L_q(I_k)}$. Also

$$||f||_{L_p(I_k)} = ||A_p u - w u||_{L_p(I_k)} \le (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||u \mathbb{1}_{I_k}||_{D(A_p)}$$

Therefore

$$|u(b_k) - u(x)| \le (1 + \sqrt[q]{2}) e^{\int_{I_k} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||Z|_{I_k} ||_{L_q(I_k)} ||u \mathbb{1}_{I_k}||_{D(A_p)}.$$

The proof is similar if $x \in [m_k, b_k)$.

3.5 Core characterisation for $p \in (1, \infty)$

Throughout this section we fix $p \in (1, \infty)$ such that

(I)
$$\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| < \cos\theta$$
 or
(II) $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \le \cos\theta$ and $m = 0$.

Let $-A_p$ be the generator of the C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R})$ which is consistent with S. Let q be the dual exponent of p. We will devote this section to proving Theorem 3.3 which gives a characterisation for when the space of test functions $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p . We first consider the 'only if' part of the theorem. There are two cases to consider: whether or not the point in E is a cluster point of E. These are the content of the following two lemmas.

Lemma 3.17. Let $x_0 \in E_l \cap E_r$. Suppose there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $Z|_{(x_0-\delta,x_0+\delta)} \in L_q(x_0-\delta,x_0+\delta)$. Then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is not a core for A_p .

Proof. Since $x_0 \in E_l \cap E_r$, there are $k, l \in K$ such that $x_0 = b_k = a_l$. Then $Z|_{(m_k, b_k)} \in L_q(m_k, b_k)$ and $Z|_{(a_l, m_l)} \in L_q(a_l, m_l)$. By Lemma 3.16 and the closed graph theorem, there exists an M > 0 such that $D(A_p) \subset C[m_k, b_k]$, $D(A_p) \subset C[a_l, m_l]$ and

 $||u||_{C[m_k,b_k]} \le M ||u||_{D(A_p)}$ and $||u||_{C[a_l,m_l]} \le M ||u||_{D(A_p)}$

for all $u \in D(A_p)$. There exists a $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\chi|_{[m_k,m_l]} = (2M+1)\mathbb{1}$. Then $u = \chi \mathbb{1}_{[x_0,\infty)} \in D(A_p)$. Suppose there exists a $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $||u-v||_{D(A_p)} \leq 1$. Then $|v(x)| = |u(x) - v(x)| \leq M ||u-v||_{D(A_p)} \leq M$ for all $x \in (m_k, b_k)$. So $|v(x_0)| \leq M$. Similarly $|v(x) - (2M+1)| = |u(x) - v(x)| \leq M$ for all $x \in (a_l, m_l)$. Hence $|v(x_0)| \geq M+1$. This is a contradiction.

Lemma 3.18. Let $x_0 \in E$. Suppose there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that $Z|_{(x_0 - \delta_0, x_0 + \delta_0)} \in L_q(x_0 - \delta_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$. Furthermore suppose that x_0 is a cluster point of E. Then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is not a core for A_p .

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that $[x_0 - \delta_0, x_0) \subset \mathcal{P}, x_0 + \delta_0 \in E_r$ and $\int_{(x_0 - \delta_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{P}} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right| < \infty$. Note that

$$\infty |(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{N}| \le \int_{x_0}^{x_0 + \delta_0} |Z|^q < \infty.$$

3.5. CORE CHARACTERISATION FOR $p \in (1, \infty)$

Therefore we must have $|(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{N}| = 0.$

It follows from Lemma 3.16(b) that $D(A_p) \subset C[x_0 - \delta_0, x_0]$ and there exists an $M_1 > 0$ such that $\|u\|_{C[x_0 - \delta_0, x_0]} \leq M_1 \|u\|_{D(A_p)}$ for all $u \in D(A_p)$. Let

$$M_2 = e^{\int_{x_0}^{x_0+\delta_0} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \left(1 + \|w\|_{\infty}\right) \|Z|_{(x_0,x_0+\delta_0)} \|_{L_q(x_0,x_0+\delta_0)}.$$

There exists a $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\chi|_{(x_0-\delta_0,x_0+\delta_0)} = 3\mathbb{1}$. Set $u = \chi \mathbb{1}_{(-\infty,x_0)}$. Then $u \in D(A_p)$. Choose $\varepsilon = \min(M_1^{-1}, (4M_2)^{-1}, \sqrt[p]{\delta_0})$. Suppose there exists a test function $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $||u-v||_{D(A_p)} < \varepsilon$. Then $|u(x) - v(x)| \leq M_1 ||u-v||_{D(A_p)} \leq 1$ for all $x \in (x_0 - \delta_0, x_0)$, so $|v(x_0)| \geq 2$.

Let $\delta \in (0, \delta_0]$ and suppose that $x_0 + \delta \in E_r$. We use Lemma 3.16(c) to deduce that

$$v(x_{0}+\delta) - v(x_{0}) = \int_{(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)} v' = \int_{(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)\cap\mathcal{P}} v' = \sum_{\substack{k\in K\\I_{k}\subset(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)}} \int_{I_{k}} v'$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{k\in K\\I_{k}\subset(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)}} (v(b_{k}) - v(a_{k})) = \sum_{\substack{k\in K\\I_{k}\subset(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)}} \int_{I_{k}} W \cdot (-A_{p}v + wv) \cdot H.$$

Nevertheless we have

$$\left| \int_{I_k} W \cdot (-A_p v + w \, v) \cdot H \right| \le e^{\int_{I_k} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right|} \int_{I_k} |Z| \, |A_p v - w \, v| \le e^{\int_{x_0}^{x_0 + \delta_0} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right|} \int_{I_k} |Z| \, |A_p v - w \, v|$$

for all $k \in K$ such that $I_k \subset (x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$. Hence

$$|v(x_{0}+\delta) - v(x_{0})| \leq \sum_{\substack{k \in K \\ I_{k} \subset (x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)}} \left| \int_{I_{k}} W \cdot (-A_{p}v + wv) \cdot H \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{k \in K \\ I_{k} \subset (x_{0},x_{0}+\delta)}} e^{\int_{x_{0}}^{x_{0}+\delta_{0}} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \int_{I_{k}} |Z| |A_{p}v - wv|$$

$$= e^{\int_{x_{0}}^{x_{0}+\delta_{0}} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right|} \int_{(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta_{0})} |Z| |A_{p}v - wv| \leq M_{2} ||v \mathbb{1}_{(x_{0},x_{0}+\delta_{0})}||_{D(A_{p})}.$$

So $|v(b_k) - v(x_0)| \leq M_2 \|v \mathbb{1}_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)}\|_{D(A_p)}$ for all $k \in K$ such that $I_k \subset (x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$. If $k \in K$ and $I_k \subset (x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$, then it follows from Lemma 3.16(c) that $|v(b_k) - v(x)| \leq 3M_2 \|v \mathbb{1}_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)}\|_{D(A_p)}$ for all $x \in I_k$. Therefore $|v(x_0) - v(x)| \leq 4M_2 \|v \mathbb{1}_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)}\|_{D(A_p)}$ for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{P}$. But $(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{P}$ is dense in $(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$ because $|(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{N}| = 0$. So $|v(x_0) - v(x)| \leq 4M_2 \|v \mathbb{1}_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)}\|_{D(A_p)}$ for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$. Next

$$\|v\,\mathbb{1}_{(x_0,x_0+\delta_0)}\|_{D(A_p)} = \|(u-v)\,\mathbb{1}_{(x_0,x_0+\delta_0)}\|_{D(A_p)} \le \|u-v\|_{D(A_p)} \le (4\,M_2)^{-1}.$$

Since $|v(x_0)| \ge 2$, this implies that $|v(x)| \ge 1$ for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)$. In particular $\int_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)} |v|^p \ge \delta_0$.

On the other hand we have

$$\int_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)} |v|^p = \int_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta_0)} |u - v|^p \le ||u - v||^p_{D(A_p)} < \varepsilon^p \le \delta_0.$$

This is a contradiction.

We next turn to the 'if' part of Theorem 3.3. Since $-A_p$ is the generator of a quasicontraction C_0 -semigroup, there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that $(\beta I + A_p)(D(A_p)) = L_p(\mathbb{R})$. Without loss of generality we will assume from now on that $\beta = 1$ and that $-A_p$ is the generator of a contraction C_0 -semigroup. It follows that the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p if and only if $(I + A_p)(C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}))$ is dense in $L_p(\mathbb{R})$. In other words, the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p if and only if for all $g \in L_q(\mathbb{R})$ with $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{g} (I + A_p)u = 0$ for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ it follows that g = 0.

We start with a lemma.

Lemma 3.19. Let $g \in L_q(\mathbb{R})$ and suppose that $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{g} (I + A_p) u = 0$ for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Then we have the following.

(a) $g \in W^{2,q}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$ and

$$-g \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}} = -D(\overline{c} \, Dg) - D(\overline{m} \, g) + \overline{w} \, g$$
$$= -D(\overline{c} \, Dg) - \overline{m} \, Dg + (\overline{w} - \overline{m'}) \, g$$

- (b) Let $k \in K$ and $s \in I_k$. If $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ then $(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)|_{(a_k,s)} \in W^{1,q}(a_k,s)$. If $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$ then $(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)|_{(s,b_k)} \in W^{1,q}(s,b_k)$.
- (c) If $k \in K$, then $(\overline{c} Dg)|_{I_k}$ extends to a continuous function on $\overline{I_k}$.

For all $x_0 \in E_l$ and $y_0 \in E_r$ define

$$L_{x_0} = \lim_{x \downarrow x_0} (\overline{c} Dg)(x) \quad and \quad R_{y_0} = \lim_{y \uparrow y_0} (\overline{c} Dg)(y).$$

Moreover, set $L_{-\infty} = 0$ and $R_{\infty} = 0$. Then the following hold.

(d) Let $u \in W^{2,p}_c(\mathbb{R})$. Then with the convention that $u(-\infty) = u(\infty) = 0$ the series $\sum_{k \in K} \left(R_{b_k} u(b_k) - L_{a_k} u(a_k) \right)$ is absolutely convergent and

$$\sum_{k \in K} \left(R_{b_k} u(b_k) - L_{a_k} u(a_k) \right) = -\int_{\mathcal{N}} (1 + \overline{w}) g u.$$

(e) Let $x_0 \in E_r$ and $x_1 \in E_l$ with $x_0 < x_1$. Then

$$|R_{x_0} - L_{x_1}| \le 2 \left(1 + \|w\|_{\infty}\right) \|g\|_q \left(x_1 - x_0\right)^{1/p}.$$

(f) Let $k \in K$ and suppose that I_k is bounded. Then

$$|L_{a_k} - (\overline{c} Dg)(x)| \le |(m g)(x)| + (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(I_k)} (x - a_k)^{1/p}$$

and

$$|R_{b_k} - (\bar{c} Dg)(x)| \le |(m g)(x)| + (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(I_k)} (b_k - x)^{1/p}$$

for all $x \in I_k$.

3.5. CORE CHARACTERISATION FOR $p \in (1, \infty)$

(g) Let $x_0 \in E_r$ and suppose that x_0 is a cluster point of E. Then

$$R_{x_0} = \lim_{\substack{x \downarrow x_0 \\ x \in E_l}} L_x = \lim_{\substack{x \downarrow x_0 \\ x \in E_r}} R_x.$$

- (h) Let $x_0 \in E_r$ and suppose that x_0 is a cluster point of E. Then there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $(\bar{c} Dg)|_{(x_0,x_0+\delta)} \in L_q(x_0,x_0+\delta)$.
- (i) Let $x_0 \in E$. Then $\lim_{x \to x_0} (\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$.

Proof. (a) Since $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{g} (I + A_p) u = 0$ for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P})$ and $\operatorname{Re} c$ is strictly positive on compact subsets of \mathcal{P} , it follows from elliptic regularity that $g \in W^{2,q}_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$. Also

$$-\int_{\mathcal{P}} g \,\overline{u} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} g \,\overline{A_p u} = \int_{\mathcal{P}} g' \,\overline{c \,u'} + g \,\overline{m \,u'} + g \,\overline{w \,u}$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{P})$. Therefore

$$-g \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}} = -D(\overline{c} Dg) - D(\overline{m} g) + \overline{w} g$$
$$= -D(\overline{c} Dg) - \overline{m} Dg + (\overline{w} - \overline{m'}) g,$$

where we used that $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$.

(b) Let $k \in K$ and $s \in I_k$. Suppose $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $x \in (a_k, s)$. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, s - a_k)$. Then

$$\left(\overline{c}\,Dg + \overline{m}\,g\right)\Big|_{a_k+\varepsilon}^x = \int_{a_k+\varepsilon}^x (\overline{c}\,Dg + \overline{m}\,g)'. \tag{3.34}$$

Statement (a) gives $(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)'|_{(a_k,s)} \in L_q(a_k,s) \subset L_1(a_k,s)$. Therefore $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a_k+\varepsilon}^x (\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)'$ exists in \mathbb{C} . It follows that $L = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} (\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)(a_k + \varepsilon)$ exists in \mathbb{C} . Taking limits when $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ on both sides of (3.34) gives

$$(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)(x) = L + \int_{a_k}^x (\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)'.$$

Therefore

$$\left| (\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)(x) \right| \le |L| + \left\| (\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)' \right\|_{L_q(a_k,s)} (s - a_k)^{1/p}.$$

Hence $\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g$ is bounded on (a_k, s) , which implies $(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)|_{(a_k,s)} \in L_q(a_k, s)$. Recall that $(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)'|_{(a_k,s)} \in L_q(a_k, s)$ by Statement (a). These two together justify the claim.

Similarly we derive that $(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)|_{(s,b_k)} \in W^{1,q}(s,b_k)$ if $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$.

(c) Let $k \in K$. Then $(\overline{c} Dg)|_{I_k} \in W^{1,q}_{\text{loc}}(I_k) \subset C(I_k)$. If $x \in I_k$ then

$$\left[\overline{H^{-1}}\,\overline{c}\,Dg\right]_x^{m_k} = \int_x^{m_k} \left(D(\overline{c}\,Dg) + \overline{m}\,Dg\right)\overline{H^{-1}},$$

where H is defined by (3.24). Since $H|_{I_k}$ extends to a continuous function \widetilde{H} on $\overline{I_k}$ and $\widetilde{H}(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in \overline{I_k}$, we have $(\overline{c} Dg)|_{I_k}$ extends to a continuous function on $\overline{I_k}$.

(d) Since $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{g} (I + A_p) u = 0$ for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, it follows by density and continuity that $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{g} (I + A_p) u = 0$ for all $u \in W_c^{2,p}(\mathbb{R})$.

Let $k \in K$ and $a', b' \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $a_k < a' < b' < b_k$. Then

$$-\int_{a'}^{b'} g \cdot \overline{A_p v} = \int_{a'}^{b'} g \,\overline{(c \, v')' - m \, v' - w \, u} = \left[\overline{c} \, g \,\overline{v'}\right]_{a'}^{b'} - \int_{a'}^{b'} \left(g' \,\overline{c \, v'} + g \,\overline{m \, v'} + g \,\overline{w \, v}\right) (3.35)$$

for all $v \in W^{2,p}_c(\mathbb{R})$. Suppose $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Since there exists a $v \in C^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R})$ such that $v'|_{(a_k-1,a_k+1)} = \mathbb{1}$, it follows that $L = \lim_{a' \downarrow a_k} (\overline{c} g)(a')$ exists. If $L \neq 0$ then

$$\infty = \int_{a_k}^{m_k} \frac{|\overline{c} g|^q}{|c|^q} \le \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g|^q < \infty,$$

which is a contradiction. Hence $\lim_{a' \downarrow a_k} (\bar{c}g)(a') = 0$. Similarly $\lim_{b' \uparrow b_k} (\bar{c}g)(b') = 0$ if $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$. By taking the limits to the endpoints of the interval I_k on both sides of (3.35) and noticing that v has compact support, we have

$$-\int_{I_k} g \cdot \overline{A_p v} = -\int_{I_k} \left(\overline{c} \, g' \, \overline{v'} + \overline{m} \, g \, \overline{v'} + \overline{w} \, g \, \overline{v} \right) \tag{3.36}$$

for all $v \in W_c^{2,p}(\mathbb{R})$. Now let $u \in W_c^{2,p}(\mathbb{R})$ and replace v with \overline{u} in (3.36) to obtain

$$-\int_{I_k} g \cdot \overline{A_p \overline{u}} = -\int_{I_k} \left(\overline{c} g' u' + \overline{m} g u' + \overline{w} g u \right).$$

Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} g \, u = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} g \cdot \overline{A_p \overline{u}} = -\sum_{k \in K} \int_{I_k} g \cdot \overline{A_p \overline{u}} - \int_{\mathcal{N}} g \cdot \overline{A_p \overline{u}}$$
$$= -\sum_{k \in K} \int_{I_k} \left(\overline{c} \, g' \, u' + \overline{m} \, g \, u' + \overline{w} \, g \, u \right) - \int_{\mathcal{N}} \overline{w} \, g \, u.$$
(3.37)

Note that the series in (3.37) is absolutely convergent.

On the other hand

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} g \, u = \int_{\mathcal{N}} g \, u + \int_{\mathcal{P}} g \, u = \int_{\mathcal{N}} g \, u + \sum_{k \in K} \int_{I_k} g \, u \tag{3.38}$$

where the series is again absolutely convergent. Let $k \in K$ and $a', b' \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $a_k < a' < b' < b_k$. Then

$$\int_{a'}^{b'} g \, u = \int_{a'}^{b'} \left((\overline{c} \, g')' + (\overline{m} \, g)' - \overline{w} \, g \right) u$$
$$= [\overline{c} \, g' \, u + \overline{m} \, g \, u]_{a'}^{b'} - \int_{a'}^{b'} \left(\overline{c} \, g' \, u' + \overline{m} \, g \, u' + \overline{w} \, g \, u \right). \tag{3.39}$$

Let $s \in I_k$. Suppose $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. It follows from Statement (b) that $(\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g)|_{(a_k,s)} \in W^{1,q}(a_k,s) \subset C^{1/p}[a_k,s]$. Thus $\lim_{a' \downarrow a_k} (\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g)(a')$ exists in \mathbb{C} . But $\lim_{a' \downarrow a_k} (\overline{c} g')(a')$ exists in \mathbb{C} by Statement (c). Hence $L' = \lim_{a' \downarrow a_k} (\overline{m} g)(a')$ exists in \mathbb{C} . Our next aim is to show that L' = 0. Indeed, suppose that $L' \neq 0$. We consider three cases.

Case 1: Suppose there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $(a_k, a_k + \delta) \subset (a_k, s)$ and m(x) = 0 for all

 $x \in (a_k, a_k + \delta)$. Then clearly L' = 0, which gives a contradiction. **Case 2:** Suppose there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $(a_k, a_k + \delta) \subset (a_k, s)$ and $m(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in (a_k, a_k + \delta)$. Then

$$\infty = \int_{a_k}^{a_k + \delta} \frac{|\overline{m} g|^q}{|m|^q} \le \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g|^q < \infty,$$

which is a contradiction.

Case 3: Suppose for all $\delta > 0$ there exist $z_1, z_2 \in (a_k, a_k + \delta)$ such that $m(z_1) = 0$ and $m(z_2) \neq 0$. Let $a' \in (a_k, s)$. Note that m is continuous on \mathbb{R} . Therefore there exist a $z \in (a_k, a')$ and a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that $[z, z + \delta_0] \subset (a_k, a')$, m(z) = 0 and $m(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in (z, z + \delta_0]$. It follows as in Case 2 that $(\overline{m} g)(z) = 0$. Furthermore we have

$$\begin{aligned} |(\overline{m}\,g)(a')| &= \left| \int_{z}^{a'} (\overline{m}\,g)' \right| = \left| \int_{z}^{a'} \left(\overline{m'}\,g + \overline{m}\,g' \right) \right| \\ &\leq ||m'||_{\infty} \, ||g||_{L_{q}(\mathbb{R})} \, (a'-z)^{1/p} + ||\overline{c}\,Dg||_{L_{\infty}(a_{k},s)} \, \int_{z}^{a'} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right| \\ &\leq ||m'||_{\infty} \, ||g||_{L_{q}(\mathbb{R})} \, (a'-a_{k})^{1/p} + ||\overline{c}\,Dg||_{L_{\infty}(a_{k},s)} \, \int_{a_{k}}^{a'} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

It follows from (3.21) that

$$\lim_{a' \downarrow a_k} (\overline{m} g)(a') = 0. \tag{3.40}$$

Similarly

$$\lim_{b'\uparrow b_k} (\overline{m}\,g)(b') = 0 \tag{3.41}$$

if $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$.

Now taking the limits to the endpoints of the interval I_k on both sides of (3.39), using Statement (b) and again noticing that u has compact support, we have

$$\int_{I_k} g \, u = R_{b_k} \, u(b_k) - L_{a_k} \, u(a_k) - \int_{I_k} \left(\left(\overline{c} \, g' + \overline{m} \, g\right) \, u' + \overline{w} \, g \, u \right).$$

Substituting this into (3.38) yields

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} g \, u = \int_{\mathcal{N}} g \, u + \sum_{k \in K} \left(R_{b_k} \, u(b_k) - L_{a_k} \, u(a_k) \right) - \sum_{k \in K} \int_{I_k} \left(\overline{c} \, g' \, u' + \overline{m} \, g \, u' + \overline{w} \, g \, u \right). \tag{3.42}$$

Statement (d) now follows by comparing (3.37) and (3.42).

(e) Let $k \in K$ and suppose that I_k is bounded. Let $a', b' \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $a_k < a' < b' < b_k$. Then

$$(\overline{c}g')(b') - (\overline{c}g')(a') = \int_{a'}^{b'} (\overline{c}g')' = \int_{a'}^{b'} g - (\overline{m}g)' + \overline{w}g$$
$$= -[\overline{m}g]_{a'}^{b'} + \int_{a'}^{b'} (1+\overline{w})g.$$
(3.43)

By taking limits together with (3.40) and (3.41) we obtain

$$R_{b_k} - L_{a_k} = \int_{I_k} (1 + \overline{w}) g.$$
 (3.44)

Now let $k_0, k_1 \in K$ be such that $x_0 = b_{k_0}$ and $x_1 = a_{k_1}$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists a $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \leq u \leq 1$, supp $u \subset \left((x_0 - \frac{1}{n}) \lor a_{k_0}, (x_1 + \frac{1}{n}) \land b_{k_1} \right)$ and u(x) = 1 for all $x \in [x_0, x_1]$. Define $h \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$h(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if there exists a } k \in K \text{ such that } x \in I_k \subset \text{supp } u_k \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then supp $h \subset [x_0, x_1]$. Moreover, it follows from Statement (d) and (3.44) that

$$-\int_{\mathcal{N}} (1+\overline{w}) g u = R_{x_0} - L_{x_1} + \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1+\overline{w}) g h.$$

This implies

$$|R_{x_0} - L_{x_1}| \le (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |g \, u| + \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g \, h| \right)$$

$$\le (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} (||u||_{L_p(\mathbb{R})} + ||h||_{L_p(\mathbb{R})})$$

$$\le 2 (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \left(x_1 - x_0 + \frac{2}{n} \right)^{1/p}.$$

This is for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore Statement (e) follows.

(f) For the first inequality let b' = x in (3.43) and take the limit $a' \downarrow a_k$ to obtain

$$(\overline{c}g')(x) - L_{a_k} = -(\overline{m}g)(x) + \int_{a_k}^x (1+\overline{w})g.$$
 (3.45)

Thus

$$|L_{a_k} - (\bar{c}g')(x)| \le |(mg)(x)| + (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(I_k)} (x - a_k)^{1/p}.$$

The second inequality is proved similarly.

(g) This follows from Statement (e).

(h) By Statement (g) there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $|R_{x_0} - L_x| \leq 1$ for all $x \in E_l \cap (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $x_0 + \delta \in E_r$. Now let $x \in \mathcal{P} \cap (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$. There exists a $k \in K$ such that $x \in I_k$. Then $I_k \subset (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$ and therefore $a_k \in E_l \cap (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$. So $|R_{x_0} - L_{a_k}| \leq 1$. Next, by Statement (f) we estimate

$$|L_{a_k} - (\bar{c} Dg)(x)| \le |(m g)(x)| + (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta}.$$

It follows that

$$|(\bar{c} Dg)(x)| \le |(m g)(x)| + (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta} + |R_{x_0}| + 1.$$

Obviously if $x \in \mathcal{N} \cap (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$, then $(\overline{c} Dg)(x) = 0$. Since $|mg| \leq ||m||_{\infty} |g| \in L_q(\mathbb{R})$, we have $\overline{c} Dg \in L_q(x_0, x_0 + \delta)$ as claimed.

(i) By (3.40) and (3.41) we have that $\lim_{x \downarrow a_k} (\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$ for all $k \in K$ with $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\lim_{x \uparrow b_k} (\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$ for all $k \in K$ with $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore we may assume without loss of generality that $x_0 \in E_r$ and we will show that $\lim_{x \downarrow x_0} (\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$.

If x_0 is not a cluster point of E, then there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $(x_0, x_0 + \delta) \subset \mathcal{N}$. Since $(\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathcal{N}$, we clearly have $\lim_{x \downarrow x_0} (\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$.

Now suppose x_0 is a cluster point of E. By (3.21) there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $\int_{(x_0,x_0+\delta)} \left|\frac{m}{c}\right| < \infty$. If $x \in \mathcal{N}$ then again $(\overline{m}g)(x) = 0$. Thus we only need to consider the case $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta) \cap \mathcal{P}$. Then there exists a $k \in K$ such that $x \in I_k \cap (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$. It follows from (3.45) that

$$\begin{aligned} |(\overline{c} Dg + \overline{m} g)(x)| &\leq |L_{a_k}| + (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} (x - a_k)^{1/p} \\ &\leq |R_{x_0}| + 3 (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta}, \end{aligned}$$

where we used Statement (e) in the second step. Let $M_0 = |R_{x_0}| + 3(1+||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta}$. Then M_0 is independent with k and we have

$$\begin{split} |(\overline{m} g)(x)| &= \left| \int_{a_k}^x (\overline{m} g)' \right| = \left| \int_{a_k}^x (\overline{m'} g + \overline{m} g') \right| \\ &\leq \int_{a_k}^x \left| \left(m' - \frac{m^2}{c} \right) g \right| + \int_{a_k}^x \left| \frac{m}{c} \right| |\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g| \\ &\leq (||m'||_{\infty} + M_m) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} (x - a_k)^{1/p} + M_0 \int_{a_k}^x \left| \frac{m}{c} \right| \\ &\leq (||m'||_{\infty} + M_m) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} (x - x_0)^{1/p} + M_0 \int_{(x_0, x) \cap \mathcal{P}} \left| \frac{m}{c} \right|. \end{split}$$

It now follows from (3.21) that $\lim_{x\downarrow x_0} (\overline{m} g)(x) = 0$ as required.

Our next aim is to prove that if $\int_{(x-\delta,x+\delta)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $x \in E$ and $\delta > 0$, and if g is as in Lemma 3.19, then $L_x = 0$ for all $x \in E_l$ and $R_x = 0$ for all $x \in E_r$. Again we have to split the proof into several cases, which depend on whether a point in E is a cluster point of E or not.

Lemma 3.20. Adopt the assumptions and notation as in Lemma 3.19. Then the following are valid.

- (a) If $x_0 \in E_l$ and $Z|_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta)} \notin L_q(x_0, x_0 + \delta)$ for all $\delta > 0$, then $L_{x_0} = 0$.
- (b) If $x_0 \in E_r$ and $Z|_{(x_0-\delta,x_0)} \notin L_q(x_0-\delta,x_0)$ for all $\delta > 0$, then $R_{x_0} = 0$.

Proof. The proof is inspired by the proof of [CMP98, Proposition 3.5]. We only prove Statement (a). Suppose that $L_{x_0} \neq 0$. Replacing g by λg for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ if necessary, we may assume without loss of generality that $L_{x_0} = 2 + \tan \theta$. There exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $(x_0, x_0 + \delta] \subset \mathcal{P}$ and $|(\bar{c}g')(x) - (2 + \tan \theta)| < 1$ for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$. Set $s = x_0 + \delta$. Let $x \in (x_0, s)$. Write $y = (\bar{c}g')(x) - (2 + \tan \theta)$. Then |y| < 1 and

$$\operatorname{Re} g'(x) = \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{2 + \tan \theta + y}{\overline{c(x)}} \right)$$
$$= \frac{\operatorname{Re} c(x) \cdot \operatorname{Re} \left(2 + \tan \theta + y \right) - \operatorname{Im} c(x) \cdot \operatorname{Im} \left(2 + \tan \theta + y \right)}{|c(x)|^2}$$
$$\geq \frac{(1 + \tan \theta) \operatorname{Re} c(x) - \tan \theta \operatorname{Re} c(x)}{|c(x)|^2}$$
$$= \frac{\operatorname{Re} c(x)}{|c(x)|^2} \geq \frac{\cos^2 \theta}{\operatorname{Re} c(x)}.$$

It follows that

$$\operatorname{Re} g(x) = \operatorname{Re} g(s) - \int_x^s \operatorname{Re} g'(t) \, dt \le \operatorname{Re} g(s) - \int_x^s \frac{\cos^2 \theta}{\operatorname{Re} c(t)} \, dt = \alpha - (\cos^2 \theta) \, Z(x)$$

for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$, where $\alpha = \operatorname{Re} g(s) + \cos^2 \theta \int_s^{m_k} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re} c}$ and $k \in K$ is such that $x_0 = a_k$. Hence $g \notin L_q(\mathbb{R})$. This is a contradiction.

Lemma 3.21. Adopt the assumptions and notation as in Lemma 3.19. Let $x_0 \in E$ and suppose that $\int_{(x_0-\delta,x_0+\delta)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$. Suppose that x_0 is not a cluster point of E. Then $L_{x_0} = 0$ if $x_0 \in E_l$ and $R_{x_0} = 0$ if $x_0 \in E_r$.

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that $x_0 \in E_r$. If $\int_{(x_0-\delta,x_0)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$, then it follows from Lemma 3.20(b) that $R_{x_0} = 0$. Suppose there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that $\int_{(x_0-\delta_0,x_0)} |Z|^q < \infty$. Then $\int_{(x_0,x_0+\delta)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta \in (0,\delta_0)$. Since x_0 is not a cluster point of E, there exists a $\delta \in (0,\delta_0)$ such that either $(x_0,x_0+\delta] \subset \mathcal{P}$ or $(x_0,x_0+\delta] \subset \mathcal{N}$. These give rise to two cases.

Case 1: Suppose there exists a $\delta \in (0, \delta_0)$ such that $(x_0, x_0 + \delta] \subset \mathcal{P}$. Then $L_{x_0} = 0$ by Lemma 3.20(a). Without loss of generality we may assume that $(x_0 - \delta, x_0) \subset \mathcal{P}$. There exists a $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $u(x_0) = 1$ and $\operatorname{supp} u \subset (x_0 - \delta, x_0 + \delta)$. Then it follows from Lemma 3.19(d) that $R_{x_0} - L_{x_0} = 0$. Hence $R_{x_0} = 0$.

Case 2: Suppose there exists a $\delta \in (0, \delta_0)$ such that $(x_0, x_0 + \delta] \subset \mathcal{N}$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $(x_0 - \delta, x_0) \subset \mathcal{P}$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. There exists a $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $u(x_0) = 1, \ 0 \leq u \leq 1$ and $\operatorname{supp} u \subset (x_0 - \delta, x_0 + \frac{1}{n} \wedge \delta)$. Then Lemma 3.19(d) implies that $|R_{x_0}| = |\int_{\mathcal{N}} (1 + \overline{w}) g u| \leq (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} n^{-1/p}$. Hence $R_{x_0} = 0$.

We next consider the situation when $x_0 \in E$ is a cluster point of E. We divide the proof into two lemmas which deal with two cases whether or not $|(x_0 - \delta, x_0 + \delta) \cap \mathcal{N}| > 0$ for all $\delta > 0$.

Lemma 3.22. Adopt the assumptions and notation as in Lemma 3.19. Let $x_0 \in E$ and suppose that $\int_{(x_0-\delta,x_0+\delta)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$. Suppose that x_0 is a cluster point of E. Suppose further that there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that $|(x_0 - \delta_0, x_0 + \delta_0) \cap \mathcal{N}| = 0$. Then $L_{x_0} = 0$ if $x_0 \in E_l$ and $R_{x_0} = 0$ if $x_0 \in E_r$. Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that $x_0 \in E_r$. If $\int_{(x_0-\delta,x_0)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$, then $R_{x_0} = 0$ by Lemma 3.20(b). Hence we may assume that the interval $(x_0 - \delta_0, x_0) \subset \mathcal{P}$ and $\int_{(x_0-\delta_0,x_0)} |Z|^q < \infty$. Suppose that $R_{x_0} \neq 0$. Replacing g by λg for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ if necessary, we may assume without loss of generality that $R_{x_0} = 2 + \tan \theta$.

By Statements (f), (g) and (i) in Lemma 3.19, there exists a $\delta \in (0, \delta_0)$ such that $|(\bar{c}g')(x) - R_{x_0}| < 1$ for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta) \cap \mathcal{P}$. Using the same argument as in Lemma 3.20, we also have $\operatorname{Re} g'(x) \geq \frac{\cos^2 \theta}{\operatorname{Re} c(x)}$ for all $x \in (x_0, x_0 + \delta) \cap \mathcal{P}$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $x_0 + \delta \in E_r$.

Let $k \in K$. Suppose that $I_k \subset (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$. Then $\operatorname{Re} g|_{I_k}$ is increasing. If $\operatorname{Re} g(m_k) \ge 0$ then

$$|I_k| |\operatorname{Re} g(m_k)|^q = 2 \int_{m_k}^{b_k} |\operatorname{Re} g(m_k)|^q dx$$
$$\leq 2 \int_{m_k}^{b_k} |\operatorname{Re} g(x)|^q dx \leq 2 \int_{I_k} |\operatorname{Re} g|^q$$

Similarly if $\operatorname{Re} g(m_k) \leq 0$ then

$$|I_k| |\operatorname{Re} g(m_k)|^q \le 2 \int_{I_k} |\operatorname{Re} g|^q.$$

Next, for all $x \in (a_k, m_k)$ it follows that

$$\operatorname{Re} g(x) - \operatorname{Re} g(m_k) = -\int_x^{m_k} \operatorname{Re} g'(t) \, dt \le -\int_x^{m_k} \frac{\cos^2 \theta}{\operatorname{Re} c(t)} \, dt = -(\cos^2 \theta) \, Z(x).$$

Alternatively if $x \in (m_k, b_k)$ then

$$\operatorname{Re} g(x) - \operatorname{Re} g(m_k) = \int_{m_k}^x \operatorname{Re} g'(t) \, dt \ge \int_{m_k}^x \frac{\cos^2 \theta}{\operatorname{Re} c(t)} \, dt = -(\cos^2 \theta) \, Z(x).$$

Therefore

$$\left(\cos^{2q}\theta\right)|Z(x)|^{q} \leq |\operatorname{Re}g(x) - \operatorname{Re}g(m_{k})|^{q} \leq 2^{q}\left(|\operatorname{Re}g(x)|^{q} + |\operatorname{Re}g(m_{k})|^{q}\right)$$

for all $x \in I_k$. Hence

$$(\cos^{2q}\theta) \int_{I_k} |Z|^q \le 2^q |I_k| |\operatorname{Re} g(m_k)|^q + 2^q \int_{I_k} |\operatorname{Re} g|^q \le 3 \cdot 2^q \int_{I_k} |\operatorname{Re} g|^q$$

This is for all $k \in K$ with $I_k \subset (x_0, x_0 + \delta)$.

Finally, since $|(x_0, x_0 + \delta) \cap \mathcal{N}| = 0$, we have

$$(\cos^{2q}\theta) \int_{(x_0,x_0+\delta)} |Z|^q = (\cos^{2q}\theta) \int_{(x_0,x_0+\delta)\cap\mathcal{P}} |Z|^q = (\cos^{2q}\theta) \sum_{\substack{k\in K\\I_k\subset (x_0,x_0+\delta)}} \int_{I_k} |Z|^q$$
$$\leq \sum_{\substack{k\in K\\I_k\subset (x_0,x_0+\delta)}} 3\cdot 2^q \int_{I_k} |\operatorname{Re} g|^q \leq 3\cdot 2^q ||g||^q_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} < \infty.$$

But by assumption $\int_{(x_0, x_0 + \delta)} |Z|^q = \infty$. This is a contradiction. Thus $R_{x_0} = 0$.

Lemma 3.23. Adopt the assumptions and notation as in Lemma 3.19. Let $x_0 \in E$ and suppose that $\int_{(x_0-\delta,x_0+\delta)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$. Suppose that x_0 is a cluster point of E. Suppose further that $|(x_0 - \delta, x_0 + \delta) \cap \mathcal{N}| > 0$ for all $\delta > 0$. Then $L_{x_0} = 0$ if $x_0 \in E_l$ and $R_{x_0} = 0$ if $x_0 \in E_r$.

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that $0 = x_0 \in E_l$. Let $\delta_0 > 0$ be such that $(0, 2\delta_0) \subset \mathcal{P}$. By Lemma 3.20(a) it suffices to consider the case when $\int_{(0,\delta_0)} |Z|^q < \infty$. Then $\int_{(-\delta_0,0)} |Z|^q = \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$. By Lemma 3.19(h) we may assume that $(\overline{c} Dg)|_{(-\delta_0,0)} \in L_q(-\delta_0, 0)$.

Define $\tau \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\tau(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \in (-\infty, 0], \\ 2x^2 & \text{if } x \in (0, \frac{1}{2}], \\ 1 - 2(1 - x)^2 & \text{if } x \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1], \\ 1 & \text{if } x \in (1, \infty). \end{cases}$$

Then τ is differentiable and $\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\tau'|^p = \frac{2^p}{p+1}$. Moreover, $\tau \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$. Finally let $\chi \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R})$ be such that $\chi|_{(-\delta_0,\delta_0)} = \mathbb{1}$ and $\operatorname{supp} \chi \subset (-\infty, 2\,\delta_0)$.

Let $\delta \in (0, \delta_0)$ and suppose that $-\delta \in E_l$. Let $K_1 = \{k \in K : I_k \subset (-\delta, 0)\}$. Then K_1 is infinite and countable. Without loss of generality we may assume that $K_1 = \mathbb{N}$ and $a_1 = -\delta$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $(-\delta, 0) \setminus (\overline{I_1} \cup \ldots \cup \overline{I_n})$ has at most n connected components. Let $N \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ be the number of components and denote these components by J_1, \ldots, J_N . Let $\lambda_i = |J_i| > 0$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ and set $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_i$. Then

$$\lambda = \delta - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |I_k| \ge \delta - |(-\delta, 0) \cap \mathcal{P}| = |(-\delta, 0) \cap \mathcal{N}| > 0$$

by assumption. Define $v_n \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$v_n(x) = \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda} \tau\left(\frac{x - \inf J_i}{\lambda_i}\right).$$

Then $v_n \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$, supp $v_n \subset [-\delta, \infty)$, $v_n(0) = 1$, $0 \le v_n \le 1$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |v_n'|^p = \sum_{i=1}^N \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda}\right)^p \cdot \frac{2^p}{(p+1)\,\lambda_i^{p-1}} = \frac{2^p}{(p+1)\,\lambda^{p-1}} \le \frac{2^p}{(p+1)\,|(-\delta,0)\cup\mathcal{N}|^{p-1}}.$$
 (3.46)

Define $u_n \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$u_n(x) = \begin{cases} v_n(x) & \text{if } x < 0, \\ \chi(x) & \text{if } x \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Then $u_n \in W^{2,p}_c(\mathbb{R})$. Therefore by Lemma 3.19(d) we have that

$$-L_0 + \sum_{k \in K_1} \left(R_{b_k} \, u_n(b_k) - L_{a_k} \, u_n(a_k) \right) = -\int_{\mathcal{N}} (1 + \overline{w}) \, g \, u_n. \tag{3.47}$$

Note that

$$\left|\int_{\mathcal{N}} (1+\overline{w}) g u_n\right| = \left|\int_{(-\delta,0)\cap\mathcal{N}} (1+\overline{w}) g u_n\right| \le (1+\|w\|_{\infty}) \|g\|_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta}$$

Recall that $K_1 = \mathbb{N}$. If $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, then $u_n(b_k) = u_n(a_k)$ by construction. So

$$\left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(R_{b_{k}} u_{n}(b_{k}) - L_{a_{k}} u_{n}(a_{k}) \right) \right| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} u_{n}(a_{k}) \left| R_{b_{k}} - L_{a_{k}} \right| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left| \int_{I_{k}} (1 + \overline{w}) g \right|$$
$$\leq \int_{I_{1} \cup \ldots \cup I_{n}} \left| (1 + \overline{w}) g \right| \leq (1 + \|w\|_{\infty}) \|g\|_{L_{q}(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta},$$

where we used (3.44) to obtain the second inequality.

Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ be such that k > n. Let $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ and suppose that $a_k < a < b < b_k$. Then

$$(\overline{c} g' u_n)(b) - (\overline{c} g' u_n)(a) = \int_a^b (\overline{c} g' u_n)' = \int_a^b \left((\overline{c} g')' u_n + \overline{c} g' u'_n \right)$$
$$= \int_a^b \left(\left((1 + \overline{w}) g - (\overline{m} g)' \right) u_n + \overline{c} g' u'_n \right)$$
$$= -[\overline{m} g u_n]_a^b + \int_a^b \left((1 + \overline{w}) g u_n + (\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g) u'_n \right),$$

where we used Lemma 3.19(a) in the third step. Taking limits and using Statement (i) in Lemma 3.19 give

$$R_{b_k} u_n(b_k) - L_{a_k} u_n(a_k) = \int_{I_k} \left((1 + \overline{w}) g u_n + (\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g) u'_n \right).$$

It follows that

$$\left|\sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \left(R_{b_k} u_n(b_k) - L_{a_k} u_n(a_k) \right) \right| = \left| \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \int_{I_k} \left((1+\overline{w}) g u_n + (\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g) u'_n \right) \right|$$
$$= \left| \int_{\bigcup_{k\ge n+1} I_k} \left((1+\overline{w}) g u_n + (\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g) u'_n \right) \right|$$
$$\leq \int_{(-\delta,0)} \left| (1+\overline{w}) g u_n \right| + \int_{\bigcup_{k=n+1}^{\infty} I_k} \left| (\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g) u'_n \right|.$$

Obviously

$$\int_{(-\delta,0)} |(1+\overline{w}) g u_n| \le (1+\|w\|_{\infty}) \|g\|_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta}.$$

For the second term we estimate

$$\int_{\bigcup_{k=n+1}^{\infty} I_{k}} |(\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g) u_{n}'| \leq ||v_{n}'||_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R})} \cdot \left(\int_{\bigcup_{k=n+1}^{\infty} I_{k}} |\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g|^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\
\leq \left(\frac{2^{p}}{(p+1) |(-\delta, 0) \cup \mathcal{N}|^{p-1}}\right)^{1/p} \left(\int_{\bigcup_{k=n+1}^{\infty} I_{k}} |\overline{c} g' + \overline{m} g|^{q}\right)^{1/q} \tag{3.48}$$

by (3.46). Note that $(\overline{c} Dg)|_{(-\delta,0)} \in L_q(-\delta,0)$ by Lemma 3.19(b), $|\overline{m} g| \leq ||m||_{\infty} |g| \in L_q(\mathbb{R})$ and $\bigcup_{k=n+1}^{\infty} I_k \downarrow \emptyset$ if $n \longrightarrow \infty$. Therefore the right-hand side of (3.48) tends to 0 by Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. It now follows from (3.47) that

$$L_0 \leq 3 (1 + ||w||_{\infty}) ||g||_{L_q(\mathbb{R})} \sqrt[p]{\delta}$$

This is for all $\delta > 0$ with $-\delta \in E_l$. Hence $L_0 = 0$.

Proof of Theorem 3.3. (\Longrightarrow) This follows from Lemmas 3.17 and 3.18.

(\Leftarrow) Adopt the assumptions and notations as in Lemma 3.19. Then it follows from Lemmas 3.20–3.23 that $L_x = 0$ for all $x \in E_l$ and $R_x = 0$ for all $x \in E_r$. By Lemma 3.19(a) we have that $g \in W^{1,q}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$, $(\overline{c} Dg)|_{\mathcal{P}} \in W^{1,q}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$ and $D(\overline{c} Dg) + D(\overline{m} g) \in L_q(\mathbb{R})$. Thus $g \in D(A_p^*)$ by Proposition 3.13. Moreover, $(I + A_p)^*(g) = 0$. Since $(I + A_p)^*$ is invertible, we have g = 0. Hence $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p .

The proof of Theorem 3.3 is complete.

3.6 Core characterisation for p = 1

If c and m are real-valued, then we show in this section that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for the generator $-A_1$ of the C_0 -semigroup $S^{(1)}$ on $L_1(\mathbb{R})$ which is consistent with S.

Proof of Theorem 3.5. Since $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, it follows that $Z|_{(a_k,m_k)} \notin L_{\infty}(a_k,m_k)$ for all $k \in K$ with $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $Z|_{(m_k,b_k)} \notin L_{\infty}(m_k,b_k)$ for all $k \in K$ with $b_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Without loss of generality we may assume that w = 0. Let $\omega > 0$ be as in Lemma 3.6. Let $\beta > \omega + 2M_m^2$ be such that $\beta I + A_1$ is accretive (cf. Theorem 3.2). Let $g \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Suppose that $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{g} (\beta I + A_1)u = 0$ for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Without loss of generality we may assume that g is real-valued. It follows from elliptic regularity that $g \in W^{2,r}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{P})$ for all $r \in (1,\infty)$ and $D(c Dg) + m Dg = \beta g \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}$.

Let $k \in K$. Using similar arguments as in Lemma 3.19(c) we have that $(c g')|_{I_k}$ extends to a continuous function on $\overline{I_k}$. Suppose $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $L = \lim_{x \downarrow a_k} (c g')(x) \in \mathbb{C}$. Suppose $L \neq 0$. Without loss of generality we may assume that L = 2. We argue as in the proof of Lemma 3.20 to obtain that there exist $s \in I_k$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(\operatorname{Re} g)(x) \le (\operatorname{Re} g)(s) - Z(x) + \alpha$$

for all $x \in (a_k, s)$. This implies that $g \notin L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, which is a contradiction. Hence $\lim_{x \downarrow x_0} (c g')(x) = 0$ for all $x_0 \in E_l$. Analogously $\lim_{x \uparrow x_0} (c g')(x) = 0$ for all $x_0 \in E_r$.

Let $k \in K$ and suppose that I_k is bounded. Then $g \mathbb{1}_{I_k} \in D(A)$ by Lemma 3.10(vi \Longrightarrow i). Therefore

$$0 \leq \mathfrak{a}(g \, \mathbbm{1}_{I_k}) + \omega \, \int_{I_k} g^2 = \left(A(g \, \mathbbm{1}_{I_k}), g \, \mathbbm{1}_{I_k} \right) + \omega \, \int_{I_k} g^2 = -(\beta - \omega) \, \int_{I_k} g^2 \leq 0.$$

It follows that $g \mathbb{1}_{I_k} = 0$.

Next let $k \in K$ and suppose that I_k is unbounded. We may assume without loss of generality that I_k is bounded from below and $I_k = (0, \infty)$. Let $\tau \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ be such that $\operatorname{supp} \tau \subset (-1, 2)$ and $\tau|_{[0,1]} = \mathbb{1}$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define $\tau_n \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ by $\tau_n(x) = \tau(n^{-1}x)$ for

all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $g \tau_n \mathbb{1}_{(0,\infty)} \in D(A)$ by Lemma 3.10(vi \Longrightarrow i). Moreover, we have

$$-\omega \int_0^\infty g^2 \,\tau_n^2 \le \mathfrak{a}(g \,\tau_n \,\mathbb{1}_{(0,\infty)}) = \int_0^\infty c \,|(g \,\tau_n)'|^2 + m \,(g \,\tau_n)' \,g \,\tau_n. \tag{3.49}$$

Note that

$$\int_0^\infty c \, |(g\,\tau_n)'|^2 \le 2 \, \int_0^\infty c \, (g')^2 \, \tau_n^2 + 2 \, \int_0^\infty c \, g^2 \, (\tau'_n)^2$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} m (g \tau_{n})' g \tau_{n} = \int_{0}^{\infty} m (g' g \tau_{n}^{2} + g^{2} \tau_{n}' \tau_{n})$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} M_{m} \sqrt{c} (|g'| |g| \tau_{n}^{2} + g^{2} |\tau_{n}'| \tau_{n})$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} c (g')^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + \int_{0}^{\infty} c g^{2} (\tau_{n}')^{2} + \frac{M_{m}^{2}}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2},$$

where we used (3.1) in the second step. It follows from (3.49) that

$$-\omega \int_0^\infty g^2 \tau_n^2 \le 3 \int_0^\infty c \, (g')^2 \, \tau_n^2 + 3 \int_0^\infty c \, g^2 \, (\tau_n')^2 + \frac{M_m^2}{2} \int_0^\infty g^2 \, \tau_n^2 \, ds = 0$$

or equivalently

$$-\left(\omega + \frac{M_m^2}{2}\right) \int_0^\infty g^2 \,\tau_n^2 \le 3 \,\int_0^\infty c \,(g')^2 \,\tau_n^2 + 3 \,\int_0^\infty c \,g^2 \,(\tau_n')^2. \tag{3.50}$$

We note that $(cg')'(x) + (mg')(x) = \beta g(x)$ for a.e. $x \in (0,\infty)$ and τ_n has a compact support. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c\left(g'\right)^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} &= g c g' \tau_{n}^{2} |_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} - \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g\left(c g' \tau_{n}^{2}\right)' \\ &= -(g c g' \tau_{n}^{2})(\varepsilon) - \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g\left((c g')' \tau_{n}^{2} + 2 c g' \tau_{n} \tau_{n}'\right) \\ &= -(g c g' \tau_{n}^{2})(\varepsilon) - \beta \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} m g' g \tau_{n}^{2} - 2 \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c g' g \tau_{n} \tau_{n}' \\ &\leq -(g c g' \tau_{n}^{2})(\varepsilon) - \beta \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} M_{m} \sqrt{c} \left|g'\right| \left|g\right| \tau_{n}^{2} - 2 \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c g' g \tau_{n} \tau_{n}' \\ &\leq -(g c g' \tau_{n}^{2})(\varepsilon) - \beta \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c \left(g'\right)^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + M_{m}^{2} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c \left(g'\right)^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + 2 \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c g^{2} (\tau_{n}')^{2} \\ &= -(g c g' \tau_{n}^{2})(\varepsilon) + (-\beta + M_{m}^{2}) \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + 2 \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c g^{2} (\tau_{n}')^{2} \\ &+ \frac{3}{4} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c \left(g'\right)^{2} \tau_{n}^{2}. \end{split}$$

By rearrangement it follows that

$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c\left(g'\right)^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} \leq -4\left(g c g' \tau_{n}^{2}\right)(\varepsilon) + 4\left(-\beta + M_{m}^{2}\right) \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} g^{2} \tau_{n}^{2} + 8\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} c g^{2} \left(\tau_{n}'\right)^{2}.$$

Since g is bounded and $\lim_{x\downarrow 0} (cg')(x) = 0$, taking the limits both sides when $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ gives

$$\int_0^\infty c\left(g'\right)^2 \tau_n^2 \le 4\left(-\beta + M_m^2\right) \int_0^\infty g^2 \tau_n^2 + 8 \int_0^\infty c g^2 \left(\tau_n'\right)^2 dx$$

This together with (3.50) give

$$-\left(\omega + \frac{M_m^2}{2}\right) \int_0^\infty g^2 \,\tau_n^2 \le 12 \left(-\beta + M_m^2\right) \int_0^\infty g^2 \,\tau_n^2 + 27 \int_0^\infty c \,g^2 \,(\tau_n')^2 \,ds = 0$$

or equivalently

$$\gamma \int_0^\infty g^2 \tau_n^2 \le 27 \int_0^\infty g^2 (\tau_n')^2 \le 54 \, \|c\|_\infty \, \|g\|_\infty^2 \, \|\tau'\|_\infty^2 \, n^{-1},$$

where

$$\gamma = 12\beta - \omega - \frac{25}{2}M_m^2 > 0.$$

Using Fatou's lemma we deduce that $\int_0^\infty g^2 = 0$, which implies $g|_{(0,\infty)} = 0$. Hence $g|_{\mathcal{P}} = 0$. Then $\int_{\mathbb{R}} g \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{N}} u = 0$ for all $u \in C_c^\infty(\mathbb{R})$ and g = 0. Thus $C_c^\infty(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_1 .

3.7 Examples

In this section we provide two examples to illustrate the main theorem of this chapter and one example to illustrate condition (3.21).

Example 3.24. Let $b \in (0,\infty)$ and $\kappa \in (1,\infty)$. Define $c \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ by $c(x) = \left(d(x,b\mathbb{Z})\right)^{\kappa}$. Then $c \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Set s = b/2. Then $Z(x) = (\kappa - 1)^{-1} \left(x^{-(\kappa-1)} - s^{-(\kappa-1)}\right)$ for all $x \in (0,s)$. So if $x \in (0,s/2)$ then

$$\frac{1 - 2^{-(\kappa - 1)}}{\kappa - 1} x^{-(\kappa - 1)} \le Z(x) \le \frac{1}{\kappa - 1} x^{-(\kappa - 1)}$$

and if $x \in [s/2, s)$ then

$$0 \le Z(x) \le \frac{1}{\kappa - 1} x^{-(\kappa - 1)}.$$

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and let q be the dual exponent. Then $Z \in L_q(0, s)$ if and only if $q(\kappa - 1) < 1$ and if $q(\kappa - 1) < 1$ then

$$\frac{2\left(1-2^{-(\kappa-1)}\right)^{q}}{(\kappa-1)^{q} 4^{1-(\kappa-1)q} \left(1-(\kappa-1)q\right)} b^{1-(\kappa-1)q} \\ \leq \int_{0}^{b} Z^{q} \leq \frac{2}{(\kappa-1)^{q} \left(1-(\kappa-1)q\right)} b^{1-(\kappa-1)q}.$$
(3.51)

It follows from Theorem 3.3 that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p if and only if $\kappa \geq 1 + \frac{1}{q}$.

We next 'extend' this example to a Cantor-like set instead of the grid $b\mathbb{Z}$.

Example 3.25. Fix $\lambda \in [0, 1)$. Let $K_{\infty} = \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} K_n \subset [0, 1]$ be the generalized Cantor set with $K_0 = [0, 1]$ and for any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ construct K_{n+1} by removing the central open interval of length $(1 - \lambda) 3^{-(n+1)}$ from each of the 2^n intervals of K_n . So if $\lambda = 0$, then K_{∞} is the usual Cantor set. It is easy to verify that $|K_n| = \lambda + (1 - \lambda) (\frac{2}{3})^n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Hence $|K_{\infty}| = \lambda$.

Fix $\kappa \in (1,\infty)$ and define $c \colon \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ by

$$c(x) = \left(\frac{d(x, K_{\infty})}{1 + d(x, K_{\infty})}\right)^{\kappa}.$$

(The denominator is to make c bounded.) Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and let q be the dual exponent of p. Then it follows from Example 3.24 that $\int_{(x-\delta,x+\delta)} Z^q = \infty$ for all $x \in E$ and $\delta > 0$ if $q(\kappa - 1) \ge 1$.

Next suppose that $q(\kappa - 1) < 1$. Then (3.51) gives

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}\cap[0,1]} Z^q \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} 2^n \, \frac{2}{(\kappa-1)^q \left(1-(\kappa-1)q\right)} \left((1-\lambda)3^{-(n+1)}\right)^{1-(\kappa-1)q}$$

Using also the lower bound in (3.51) it follows that $Z|_{\mathcal{P}\cap[0,1]} \in L_q(\mathcal{P}\cap[0,1])$ if and only if $2 < 3^{1-(\kappa-1)q}$.

Now $\mathcal{N} = K_{\infty}$ is negligible if and only if $\lambda = 0$. Moreover, $Z(x) = \infty$ for all $x \in K_{\infty}$ by definition. Hence if $\lambda = 0$ and $2 < 3^{1-(\kappa-1)q}$, then $\int_{(x-\delta,x+\delta)} Z^q < \infty$ for all $x \in E$ and $\delta > 0$. Alternatively, if $\lambda > 0$ or $2 \ge 3^{1-(\kappa-1)q}$, then by symmetry and self-similarity one deduces that $\int_{(x-\delta,x+\delta)} Z^q = \infty$ for all $x \in E$ and $\delta > 0$. Therefore Theorem 3.3 gives that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a core for A_p if and only if $\lambda > 0$ or $2 \ge 3^{1-(\kappa-1)q}$.

Example 3.26. Adopt the assumptions and notation as in Example 3.25. Recall that we denote by $\{I_k : k \in K\}$ the set of distinct connected components of \mathcal{P} . Since K is countable, we can set $K = \mathbb{N}$. Let $\alpha \in (0, 1) \cap (0, \frac{\kappa}{2} \wedge (\kappa - 1)]$. Define $m : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ by

$$m(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{k^2} \left(\frac{d(x, K_{\infty})}{1 + d(x, K_{\infty})} \right)^{\kappa - \alpha} & \text{if } x \in I_k \text{ and } k \in K, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{N}. \end{cases}$$

Then $m \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Moreover, *m* satisfies (3.1) and (3.21).

Chapter 4

Higher dimensions

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter we investigate degenerate elliptic second-order differential operators with bounded complex-valued coefficients in higher dimensions. We will provide many sufficient conditions for when $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for these operators. The results are generalisations of those in [WD83, Theorem I] and [Ouh05, Theorem 5.2].

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Let $c_{kl} \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C})$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Define $C = (c_{kl})_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$ and $\Sigma_{\theta} = \{r e^{i\psi} : r \geq 0 \text{ and } |\psi| \leq \theta\}$. Assume that

$$(C(x)\,\xi,\xi)\in\Sigma_{\theta}\tag{4.1}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Later on we will usually refer to (4.1) as C takes values in the sector Σ_{θ} .

Define the form

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}(u,v) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} \left(\partial_{k} u\right) \partial_{l} \overline{v}$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then it follows from (4.1) that

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}(u,u) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} \left(\partial_{k} u\right) \partial_{l} \overline{u} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (C \,\nabla u, \nabla u) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Using [Kat80, Theorem VI.1.27] we deduce as in the proof of Proposition 3.7 that \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable.

Let A be the operator associated with the closure of the form \mathfrak{a}_0 . Then $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(A)$ and

$$Au = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k u)$$

for all $u \in W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Furthermore, by [Kat80, Theorem VI.2.1], the operator A is an *m*-sectorial operator. Let S be the C_0 -semigroup generated by -A. If A is strongly elliptic, that is, if there exists a $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C(x)\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge \mu\,\|\xi\|^2$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, then S extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $p \in [1, \infty)$ by [Aus96, Theorem 4.8]. In the general case where the coefficient matrix merely satisfies

$$(C(x)\,\xi,\xi)\in\Sigma_{\theta}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, then we prove in Section 4.3 that an extension is possible for certain $p \in (1, \infty)$. Before presenting the precise statement, we need to introduce the following notation. We write

$$C = R + i B,$$

where R and B are $d \times d$ matrix-valued functions with real-valued entries. Let B_a be the anti-symmetric part of B, that is, $B_a = \frac{1}{2}(B - B^T)$. The result about semigroup extension is as follows.

Proposition 4.1. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Suppose $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| \leq \cos \theta$ and $B_a = 0$. Then S extends consistently to a contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ be such that $\left|1 - \frac{2}{p}\right| \leq \cos \theta$. Using Proposition 4.1 we can now extend S consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. Clearly $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(A_p)$. We wish to show that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p under certain conditions on the coefficients. The first main result of this chapter is as follows.

Theorem 4.2. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ be such that $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$. Suppose $B_a = 0$. Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p .

Next let R_s and B_s be the symmetric parts of the matrices R and B respectively, that is, $R_s = \frac{1}{2}(R + R^T)$ and $B_s = \frac{1}{2}(B + B^T)$. Since A is naturally defined in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ via the closure of the form \mathfrak{a}_0 , the condition $B_a = 0$ can be dropped in the proof of the core properties for A. In this case we prove the following sufficient conditions for $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to be a core for A.

Theorem 4.3. Suppose one of the following holds.

- (i) The matrix B_s has constant entries.
- (ii) There exist $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \phi \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and a $d \times d$ matrix \widetilde{C} with entries in $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\theta = \theta_1 + \theta_2, \phi(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta_1}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \widetilde{C}$ takes values in Σ_{θ_2} and $C = \phi \widetilde{C}$. Write $\widetilde{C} = \widetilde{R} + i \widetilde{B}$, where \widetilde{R} and \widetilde{B} are $d \times d$ matrix-valued functions with real-valued entries. Set $\widetilde{R}_s = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{R} + \widetilde{R}^T)$. Also define $\operatorname{Re} \widetilde{C} = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{C} + (\widetilde{C})^*)$. Suppose further that there exists an h > 0 such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\operatorname{Re}\widetilde{C}\right)\overline{U}\right) \ge h\operatorname{tr}\left(U\widetilde{R}_{s}\overline{U}\right)$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

(iii) There exists an M > 0 such that $\|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 \leq M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U})$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

Then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A.

If functions in D(A) are known to possess certain smoothness properties, then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is always a core for A regardless of B_a .

Theorem 4.4. Suppose $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A.

An overview of the contents of the subsequent sections is as follows. In Section 2 we examine the matrix of coefficients C closely. We will prove various results concerning the correspondences between R_s , B_s and B_a . In Section 3 we prove the extension of the semigroup S to L_p -spaces. We will analyse the operator A_p in detail and then prove that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p in Sections 4 and 5. In Section 6 we deal specifically with the operator A in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and we present the proofs of Theorems 4.3 and 4.4. In Section 7 we provide some interesting examples.

4.2 The coefficient matrix C

Define

Re
$$C = \frac{C + C^*}{2}$$
 and Im $C = \frac{C - C^*}{2i}$

where C^* is the conjugate transpose of C. Then $(\operatorname{Re} C)(x)$ and $(\operatorname{Im} C)(x)$ are self-adjoint for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and

$$C = \operatorname{Re} C + i \operatorname{Im} C. \tag{4.2}$$

We will also consider the coefficient matrix C in the form

$$C = R + i B, \tag{4.3}$$

where R and B are real matrices. Write $R = R_s + R_a$, where $R_s = \frac{R+R^T}{2}$ is the symmetric part of R and $R_a = \frac{R-R^T}{2}$ is the anti-symmetric part of R. Similarly $B = B_s + B_a$, where $B_s = \frac{B+B^T}{2}$ and $B_a = \frac{B-B^T}{2}$. A comparison between (4.2) and (4.3) gives

 $\operatorname{Re} C = R_s + i B_a \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Im} C = B_s - i R_a.$

In this section we will list various relations among R_s , R_a , B_s and B_a which will be used in subsequent sections.

Lemma 4.5. We have

$$|(B_s\xi,\eta)| \le \frac{1}{2} \tan\theta \left((R_s\xi,\xi) + (R_s\eta,\eta) \right)$$

for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. Since C takes values in Σ_{θ} , we have

 $\left|\left(\left(\operatorname{Im} C(x)\right)\xi,\xi\right)\right| \le \tan\theta\left(\left(\operatorname{Re} C(x)\right)\xi,\xi\right)$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. It follows that

$$|(B_s\,\xi,\xi)| \le \tan\theta \,(R_s\,\xi,\xi)$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$. We next use polarisation to obtain

$$|(B_s\xi,\eta)| \le \tan\theta \, (R_s\xi,\xi)^{1/2} \, (R_s\eta,\eta)^{1/2} \le \frac{1}{2} \, \tan\theta \, \Big((R_s\xi,\xi) + (R_s\eta,\eta) \Big)$$

for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^d$ as required.

Lemma 4.6. Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Let $f \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $f(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then

$$|\partial_j f|^2 \le 2 \, \|\partial_j^2 f\|_\infty \, f.$$

Proof. Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $h \in \mathbb{R}$. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ let $f_n = J_n * f$, where J_n denotes the usual mollifier with respect to a suitable function in $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $f_n \geq 0$ and $f_n \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Using the Taylor expansion we have

$$0 \le f_n(x) + h\left(\partial_j f_n\right)(x) + \frac{h^2}{2} \|\partial_j^2 f_n\|_{\infty}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Letting $n \longrightarrow \infty$ we obtain

$$0 \le f(x) + h\left(\partial_j f\right)(x) + \frac{h^2}{2} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty}.$$

This is true for all $h \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence $|\partial_j f(x)|^2 \leq 2 \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} f(x)$ as required.

Lemma 4.7. Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Let $f \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $f(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then

$$|\partial_j f|^2 \le 4 \left(1 + \tan \theta\right)^2 \sup_{1 \le j \le d} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Re} f.$$

Proof. Since $f(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have $\operatorname{Re} f \geq 0$. Therefore by Lemma 4.6 we have

$$|\partial_j(\operatorname{Re} f)|^2 \le 2 \, \|\partial_j^2(\operatorname{Re} f)\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Re} f \le 2 \, \sup_{1 \le j \le d} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Re} f.$$

Also $|\text{Im } f| \leq (\tan \theta) \operatorname{Re} f$. That is, $(\tan \theta) \operatorname{Re} f \pm \operatorname{Im} f \geq 0$. Applying Lemma 4.6 again we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_j((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f + \operatorname{Im} f)|^2 &\leq 2 \, \|\partial_j^2((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f + \operatorname{Im} f)\|_{\infty} \left((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f + \operatorname{Im} f\right) \\ &\leq 2 \, (1 + \tan\theta) \, \sup_{1 \leq j \leq d} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} \left((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f + \operatorname{Im} f\right) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_j((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f - \operatorname{Im} f)|^2 &\leq 2 \, \|\partial_j^2((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f - \operatorname{Im} f)\|_{\infty} \, ((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f - \operatorname{Im} f) \\ &\leq 2 \, (1 + \tan\theta) \, \sup_{1 \leq j \leq d} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} \, ((\tan\theta)\operatorname{Re} f - \operatorname{Im} f). \end{aligned}$$

Adding the two inequalities gives

$$(\tan\theta)^2 |\partial_j(\operatorname{Re} f)|^2 + |\partial_j(\operatorname{Im} f)|^2 \le 2(1+\tan\theta)^2 \sup_{1\le j\le d} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Re} f.$$

Hence

$$|\partial_j f|^2 = |\partial_j (\operatorname{Re} f)|^2 + |\partial_j (\operatorname{Im} f)|^2 \le 4 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 \sup_{1 \le j \le d} \|\partial_j^2 f\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Re} f$$

as required.

Lemma 4.8. Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Let $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Then the following are valid.

4.2. THE COEFFICIENT MATRIX C

(a)
$$|((\partial_j C) \xi, \eta)|^2 \leq M \left(((\operatorname{Re} C) \xi, \xi) + ((\operatorname{Re} C) \eta, \eta) \right), \text{ where}$$

 $M = 8 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 (||\xi||^2 + ||\eta||^2) \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} ||\partial_l^2 C||_{\infty}.$
(b) $|((\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C) \xi, \eta)|^2 \leq M \left(((\operatorname{Re} C) \xi, \xi) + ((\operatorname{Re} C) \eta, \eta) \right), \text{ where}$
 $M = 8 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 (||\xi||^2 + ||\eta||^2) \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} ||\partial_l^2 C||_{\infty}.$

Proof. We will prove Statement (a). The proof for Statement (b) is similar. Since C takes values in Σ_{θ} , we have

$$|(C\xi,\xi)| \le (1 + \tan\theta) \left((\operatorname{Re} C)\xi, \xi \right)$$

Polarisation gives

$$|(C\,\xi,\eta)| \le 2\,(1+\tan\theta)\,((\operatorname{Re} C)\,\xi,\xi)^{1/2}\,((\operatorname{Re} C)\,\eta,\eta)^{1/2} \\ \le (1+\tan\theta)\,\Big(((\operatorname{Re} C)\,\xi,\xi)+((\operatorname{Re} C)\,\eta,\eta)\Big).$$

Let

$$X = (1 + \tan \theta) \left(((\operatorname{Re} C) \xi, \xi) + ((\operatorname{Re} C) \eta, \eta) \right)$$

and

$$Y = (C\,\xi,\eta) = Y_1 + i\,Y_2,$$

where Y_1 and Y_2 are real-valued functions. Since $X - Y_1 \ge 0$, it follows from Lemma 4.6 that

$$|\partial_j (X - Y_1)|^2 \le 2 \|\partial_j^2 (X - Y_1)\|_{\infty} (X - Y_1) \le 2 (\|\partial_j^2 X\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_j^2 Y\|_{\infty}) (X - Y_1).$$

Arguing similarly for $X + Y_1 \ge 0$ we yield

$$|\partial_j (X + Y_1)|^2 \le 2 \left(\|\partial_j^2 X\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_j^2 Y\|_{\infty} \right) (X + Y_1).$$

By adding the two inequalities we obtain

$$|\partial_j X|^2 + |\partial_j Y_1|^2 \le 2\left(\|\partial_j^2 X\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_j^2 Y\|_{\infty}\right) X.$$

Analogously

$$|\partial_j X|^2 + |\partial_j Y_2|^2 \le 2 \left(\|\partial_j^2 X\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_j^2 Y\|_{\infty} \right) X_{\infty}^2$$

Hence

$$|((\partial_{j}C)\xi,\eta)|^{2} = |\partial_{j}Y_{1}|^{2} + |\partial_{j}Y_{2}|^{2} \le 4 \left(\|\partial_{j}^{2}X\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_{j}^{2}Y\|_{\infty} \right) X$$
$$\le M \left(\left((\operatorname{Re} C)\xi,\xi \right) + \left((\operatorname{Re} C)\eta,\eta \right) \right),$$

where

$$M = 8 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 (\|\xi\|^2 + \|\eta\|^2) \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}$$

The proof is complete.

Proposition 4.9 (Complex version of Oleinik's inequality). Let $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$. Let U be a complex $d \times d$ matrix. Then the following are valid.

(a)
$$|\operatorname{tr} ((\partial_j C) U)|^2 \leq M \left(\operatorname{tr} (U^* (\operatorname{Re} C) U) + \operatorname{tr} (U (\operatorname{Re} C) U^*) \right), \text{ where}$$

 $M = 16 d (1 + \tan \theta)^2 \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}.$
(b) $|\operatorname{tr} ((\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C) U)|^2 \leq M \left(\operatorname{tr} (U^* (\operatorname{Re} C) U) + \operatorname{tr} (U (\operatorname{Re} C) U^*) \right), \text{ where}$

$$M = 16 d \left(1 + \tan \theta\right)^2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}.$$

Proof. We will prove Statement (a). The proof for Statement (b) is similar.

Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and

$$M = 16 d \left(1 + \tan \theta\right)^2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}.$$

Let V be a unitary matrix such that U = V |U|, where $|U| = \sqrt{U^* U}$. Since |U| is positive and Hermitian, there exists a unitary matrix W such that $|U| = W D W^*$, where D is a positive diagonal matrix. It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_j C) U \right)|^2 &= |\operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_j C) V |U| \right)|^2 = |\operatorname{tr} \left(W^* \left(\partial_j C \right) V W W^* |U| W \right)|^2 \\ &= |\operatorname{tr} \left(W^* \left(\partial_j C \right) V W D \right)|^2 = \left| \sum_{k=1}^d (W^* \left(\partial_j C \right) V W)_{kk} D_{kk} \right|^2 \\ &\leq d \sum_{k=1}^d |(W^* \left(\partial_j C \right) V W)_{kk}|^2 |D_{kk}|^2 \\ &\leq M \sum_{k=1}^d \left((W^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) W)_{kk} + (W^* V^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) V W)_{kk} \right) |D_{kk}|^2 \\ &\leq M \sum_{k=1}^d \left(D_{kk} \left(W^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) W \right)_{kk} D_{kk} + D_{kk} \left(W^* V^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) V W \right)_{kk} D_{kk} \right) \\ &\leq M \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(|U| \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) |U| \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(|U| V^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) V |U| \right) \right) \\ &= M \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(U \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) U^* \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(U^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) U \right) \right), \end{aligned}$$

where we used Lemma 4.8 in the second inequality.

Corollary 4.10. Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Suppose U is a complex $d \times d$ matrix with $U^T = U$. Then the following are valid.

(a)
$$|\operatorname{tr} ((\partial_j C) U)|^2 \leq M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U}), \text{ where}$$

$$M = 32 d (1 + \tan \theta)^2 \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}.$$

4.2. THE COEFFICIENT MATRIX C

(b) $|\operatorname{tr} ((\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C) U)|^2 \le M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U}), \text{ where }$

$$M = 32 d \left(1 + \tan \theta\right)^2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}.$$

Proof. Since $U^T = U$ we have

$$\operatorname{tr} \left(U^* \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) U \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(U \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) U^* \right) = \operatorname{tr} \left(\overline{U} \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) U \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(U \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) \overline{U} \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{tr} \left(\overline{U} \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right) U \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(\overline{U} \left(\operatorname{Re} C \right)^T U \right)$$
$$= 2 \operatorname{tr} \left(U R_s \overline{U} \right).$$

Next we use Proposition 4.9 to derive the result.

Lemma 4.11. Let U be a complex $d \times d$ matrix. Then

$$\left(\left(\operatorname{Re} C\right)U\xi, U\xi\right) \le \operatorname{tr}\left(U^*\left(\operatorname{Re} C\right)U\right)\|\xi\|^2$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$.

Proof. By hypothesis $\operatorname{Re} C \geq 0$. Therefore $((\operatorname{Re} C) U \xi, U \xi) \geq 0$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. It follows that $U^* (\operatorname{Re} C) U \geq 0$. Hence $U^* (\operatorname{Re} C) U \leq \operatorname{tr} (U^* (\operatorname{Re} C) U) I$, where I denotes the identity matrix. This justifies the claim.

Lemma 4.12. We have

$$|(B_a\,\xi,\xi)| \le (R_s\,\xi,\xi)$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$.

Proof. Write $\xi = \xi_1 + i \xi_2$, where $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then $(R_s \xi, \xi) = (R_s \xi_1, \xi_1) + (R_s \xi_2, \xi_2)$ and $(B_a \xi, \xi) = -2i (B_a \xi_1, \xi_2)$. Since C takes values in Σ_{θ} , we have $((\operatorname{Re} C) \xi, \xi) \geq 0$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Equivalently

$$-2(B_a\xi_1,\xi_2) \le (R_s\xi_1,\xi_1) + (R_s\xi_2,\xi_2).$$

Replacing ξ by $\overline{\xi}$ and repeating the same process as above we also obtain

$$2(B_a \xi_1, \xi_2) \le (R_s \xi_1, \xi_1) + (R_s \xi_2, \xi_2).$$

The result now follows.

Lemma 4.13. Let $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Then

$$|((\partial_l B_a)\xi,\xi)|^2 \le M(R_s\xi,\xi),$$

where $M = 2 \|\xi\|^2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}$.

Proof. Let $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. By Lemma 4.12 we deduce that $R_s \pm i B_a \ge 0$. Now we use Lemma 4.6 to derive

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial_l (R_s + i B_a) \xi, \xi)|^2 &\leq 2 \, \|(\partial_l^2 (R_s + i B_a) \xi, \xi)\|_{\infty} \, ((R_s + i B_a) \xi, \xi) \\ &\leq 2 \, \|\xi\|^2 \, \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty} \, ((R_s + i B_a) \xi, \xi) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial_l (R_s - i B_a) \xi, \xi)|^2 &\leq 2 \, \|(\partial_l^2 (R_s - i B_a) \xi, \xi)\|_{\infty} \left((R_s - i B_a) \xi, \xi \right) \\ &\leq 2 \, \|\xi\|^2 \, \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \, \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty} \left((R_s - i B_a) \xi, \xi \right). \end{aligned}$$

Adding the two inequalities together gives

$$|((\partial_l R_s)\xi,\xi)|^2 + |((\partial_l B_a)\xi,\xi)|^2 \le 2 \, \|\xi\|^2 \, \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty} \, (R_s\xi,\xi),$$

which clearly implies the result.

Lemma 4.14. Let Q be a complex $d \times d$ matrix. Suppose there exists an M > 0 such that $|(Q\xi,\xi)| \leq M(R_s\xi,\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Then $||Q\xi||^2 \leq 4M^2 ||R_s||_{\infty} (R_s\xi,\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Proof. Since $|(Q\xi,\xi)| \leq M(R_s\xi,\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, polarisation gives

$$|(Q\,\xi,\eta)| \le 2\,M\,(R_s\,\xi,\xi)^{1/2}\,(R_s\,\eta,\eta)^{1/2} \le 2\,M\,\|R_s\|_{\infty}^{1/2}\,\|\eta\|\,(R_s\,\xi,\xi)^{1/2}$$

for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{C}^d$. It follows that

$$\|Q\xi\| \le 2M \,\|R_s\|_{\infty}^{1/2} \,(R_s\,\xi,\xi)^{1/2}$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$, which justifies the claim.

Lemma 4.15. We have

$$||C\xi||^2 \le 16 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 ||R_s||_{\infty} (R_s\xi,\xi)$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$.

Proof. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Since C takes values in Σ_{θ} , we have

$$|(C\xi,\xi)| \le ((\operatorname{Re} C)\xi,\xi) + |((\operatorname{Im} C)\xi,\xi)| \le (1 + \tan\theta)((\operatorname{Re} C)\xi,\xi).$$

However $((\operatorname{Re} C)\xi,\xi) \leq 2(R_s\xi,\xi)$ by Lemma 4.12. It follows that

 $|(C\xi,\xi)| \le 2\left(1 + \tan\theta\right) (R_s\xi,\xi).$

Using Lemma 4.14 we obtain

$$||C\xi||^2 \le 16 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 ||R_s||_{\infty} (R_s\xi,\xi)$$

as required.

Recall that the Hilbert-Schmidt norm for a matrix $V \in M_{d \times d}(\mathbb{C})$ is defined by

$$\|V\|_{HS} = (\operatorname{tr}(V^*V))^{1/2} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^d \|Ve_j\|^2\right)^{1/2}$$

Lemma 4.16. Let U a complex $d \times d$ matrix with $U^T = U$. Then $\|CU\|_{HS}^2 \leq 16 (1 + \tan \theta)^2 \|R_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U}).$

Proof. We note that

$$\|CU\|_{HS}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{d} \|CUe_{j}\|_{2}^{2} \le 16 (1 + \tan \theta)^{2} \|R_{s}\|_{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{d} (R_{s}Ue_{j}, Ue_{j})$$
$$= 16 (1 + \tan \theta)^{2} \|R_{s}\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} (UR_{s}\overline{U}),$$

where we used Lemma 4.15 in the second step.

4.3 L_p extension

Let S be the contraction C_0 -semigroup generated by -A. In this section we will extend S to a contraction C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $p \in (1, \infty)$ with $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| \leq \cos \theta$, under the condition that $B_a = 0$.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. We proceed via two steps.

Step 1: Suppose that *A* is strongly elliptic.

Then S extends consistently to a C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by [AMT98, Theorem 2.21]. Using duality arguments we can assume without loss of generality that $p \geq 2$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. Let $u \in \mathcal{D}$, where $\mathcal{D} = D(A) \cap D(A_p) \cap L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Since A is strongly elliptic, the form \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable and $D(\overline{\mathfrak{a}_0}) = W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By construction $D(A) \subset D(\overline{\mathfrak{a}_0})$. Therefore $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Set $v = |u|^{p-2} u$. Then $v \in L_q(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where q is the dual exponent of p. By [GT83, Lemma 7.7] we have

$$\partial_l v = \frac{p}{2} |u|^{p-2} \partial_l u + \frac{p-2}{2} |u|^{p-4} u^2 \partial_l \overline{u}$$

for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. It follows that $v \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Our aim is to prove the inequality Re $\int (A_p u) \overline{v} \geq 0$, where here and in the rest of this paragraph the integral is over the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : u(x) \neq 0\}$. Indeed we have

$$\int (A_p u) \,\overline{v} = \int (Au) \,\overline{v} = \overline{\mathfrak{a}_0}(u, v) = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int c_{kl} \,(\partial_k u) \,\partial_l \overline{v}$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int c_{kl} \,(\partial_k u) \,\left(\frac{p}{2} \,|u|^{p-2} \,\partial_l \overline{u} + \frac{p-2}{2} \,|u|^{p-4} \,\overline{u}^2 \,\partial_l u\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int |u|^{p-4} \,\sum_{k,l=1}^d \left(p \,c_{kl} \,|u|^2 \,(\partial_k u) \,\partial_l \overline{u} + (p-2) \,c_{kl} \,\overline{u}^2 \,(\partial_k u) \,\partial_l u\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int |u|^{p-4} \left(p \,(C \, u \,\nabla \overline{u}, u \,\nabla \overline{u}) + (p-2) \,(C \,\overline{u} \,\nabla u, u \,\nabla \overline{u})\right).$$

Write $u \nabla \overline{u} = \xi + i \eta$, where $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then

 $\operatorname{Re}\left(C\,u\,\nabla\overline{u},u\,\nabla\overline{u}\right) = \left(R_s\,\xi,\xi\right) + \left(R_s\,\eta,\eta\right) + 2\left(B_a\,\xi,\eta\right) = \left(R_s\,\xi,\xi\right) + \left(R_s\,\eta,\eta\right)$

as $B_a = 0$ by hypothesis and

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C\,\overline{u}\,\nabla u, u\,\nabla\overline{u}\right) = \left(R_s\,\xi,\xi\right) - \left(R_s\,\eta,\eta\right) + 2\left(B_s\,\xi,\eta\right).$$

Therefore

Re
$$\int (A_p u) \overline{v} = \int |u|^{p-4} \left((p-1) \left(R_s \xi, \xi \right) + (R_s \eta, \eta) + (p-2) \left(B_s \xi, \eta \right) \right)$$

= $\int |u|^{p-4} \left(\left(R_s \xi', \xi' \right) + \left(R_s \eta, \eta \right) + \frac{p-2}{\sqrt{p-1}} \left(B_s \xi', \eta \right) \right),$

where $\xi' = \sqrt{p-1}\xi$. If $\theta = 0$ then it follows from Lemma 4.5 that $(B_s \xi', \eta) = 0$. Consequently

$$\operatorname{Re} \int (A_p u) \,\overline{v} = \int |u|^{p-4} \left((R_s \,\xi', \xi') + (R_s \,\eta, \eta) \right) \ge 0.$$

If $\theta \neq 0$ then

$$\operatorname{Re} \int (A_p u) \,\overline{v} \ge \int |u|^{p-4} \left((R_s \,\xi', \xi') + (R_s \,\eta, \eta) - 2 \,\cot \theta \,|(B_s \,\xi', \eta)| \right) \ge 0,$$

where we again used Lemma 4.5 and the fact that $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| \leq \cos \theta$ is equivalent to $|p - 2| \tan \theta \leq 2\sqrt{p-1}$. In either case the restriction $A_p|_{\mathcal{D}}$ is accretive. Since \mathcal{D} is a core for A_p , we also have that A_p is accretive by [LP61, Lemma 3.4]. By the Lumer-Phillips theorem, $S^{(p)}$ is a contraction semigroup.

Step 2: Suppose that A is degenerate elliptic.

Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $A_{[n]} = A - \frac{1}{n} \Delta$, where $\Delta = \partial_1^2 + \ldots + \partial_d^2$. Then $A_{[n]}$ is strongly elliptic. Let $S^{[n]}$ be the contraction C_0 -semigroup generated by $A_{[n]}$. Then $S^{[n]}$ extends consistently to a contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(n,p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by Step 1. Using duality arguments we can assume without loss of generality that $p \in (1, 2)$.

Let t > 0 and $u \in L_{2,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By [AE12, Corollary 3.9] we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} S_t^{[n]}u = S_t u$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Also by [AE12, Lemma 4.5] we obtain $\lim_{n\to\infty} S_t^{[n]}u = S_t u$ in $L_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Interpolation then gives $\lim_{n\to\infty} S_t^{[n]}u = S_t u$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It follows that $||S_t u||_p \leq ||u||_p$ as $S^{(n,p)}$ is contractive on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. But $L_{2,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore $||S_t u||_p \leq ||u||_p$ for all $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. That is, $S_t|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)\cap L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ extends continuously to a contraction operator $S_t^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We now use [Voi92, Proposition 1] to conclude that $S^{(p)}$ is a C_0 -semigroup on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

4.4 The operator B_p

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Let q be such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. Define

$$H_q u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \partial_k (\overline{c_{kl}} \,\partial_l u) \tag{4.4}$$

on the domain

$$D(H_q) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Next define $B_p = (H_q)^*$, which is the dual of H_q . Then B_p is closed by [Kat80, Subsection III.5.5]. Also note that $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(B_p)$ and

$$B_p u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k u)$$

for all $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

We will prove at the end of this section that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for B_p if $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$ and $B_a = 0$. In the next section we will prove that $A_p = B_p$ under the same assumptions. The proofs require a lot of preparation. **Proposition 4.17.** Suppose $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| \le \cos \theta$ and $B_a = 0$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(B_{p}u, |u|^{p-2}u\right) \ge 0$$

for all $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. Let $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It follows from Theorem 2.30 that

$$(B_{p}u, |u|^{p-2}u) = \int_{[u\neq 0]} |u|^{p-2} (C \nabla \overline{u}, \nabla \overline{u}) + (p-2) \int_{[u\neq 0]} |u|^{p-4} (C \operatorname{Re}(u \nabla \overline{u}), \operatorname{Re}(u \nabla \overline{u})) - i (p-2) \int_{[u\neq 0]} |u|^{p-4} (C \operatorname{Re}(u \nabla \overline{u}), \operatorname{Im}(u \nabla \overline{u})).$$
(4.5)

Write $u \nabla \overline{u} = \xi + i \eta$, where $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then

$$|u|^{2} (C \nabla \overline{u}, \nabla \overline{u}) = (C u \nabla \overline{u}, u \nabla \overline{u}) = (C(\xi + i\eta), \xi + i\eta)$$
$$= (R\xi, \xi) + (R\eta, \eta) + (B\xi, \eta) - (B\eta, \xi)$$
$$- i ((R\eta, \xi) - (R\xi, \eta) + (B\xi, \xi) + (B\eta, \eta)).$$

Therefore

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(|u|^{2}\left(C\,\nabla\overline{u},\nabla\overline{u}\right)\right) = \left(R\,\xi,\xi\right) + \left(R\,\eta,\eta\right) + \left(B\,\xi,\eta\right) - \left(B\,\eta,\xi\right)$$
$$= \left(R_{s}\,\xi,\xi\right) + \left(R_{s}\,\eta,\eta\right) + 2\left(B_{a}\,\xi,\eta\right)$$
$$= \left(R_{s}\,\xi,\xi\right) + \left(R_{s}\,\eta,\eta\right)$$

since $B_a = 0$. We also have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C\operatorname{Re}\left(u\,\nabla\overline{u}\right),\operatorname{Re}\left(u\,\nabla\overline{u}\right)\right) = \operatorname{Re}\left(C\,\xi,\xi\right) = (R\,\xi,\xi) = (R_s\,\xi,\xi).$$

Similarly

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(i\left(C\operatorname{Re}\left(u\,\nabla\overline{u}\right),\operatorname{Im}\left(u\,\nabla\overline{u}\right)\right)\right) = \operatorname{Re}\left(i\left(C\,\xi,\eta\right)\right) = -(B\,\xi,\eta) = -(B_s\,\xi,\eta)$$

since $B_a = 0$. Hence taking the real parts on both sides of (4.5) yields

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(B_{p}u, |u|^{p-2}u\right) = \int_{[u\neq 0]} |u|^{p-4} \left((p-1)\left(R_{s}\xi,\xi\right) + (R_{s}\eta,\eta) + (p-2)\left(B_{s}\xi,\eta\right) \right)$$

since $B_a = 0$. Now we argue as in Step 1 of the proof of Proposition 4.1 to derive the claim.

Let $J \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be such that $J \geq 0$, supp $J \subset B_1(0)$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J = 1$. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ define $J_n(x) = n^d J(nx)$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define the bounded operator $T_n^{(1)}: W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by

$$T_n^{(1)}u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) \left((I - L_y) \left(\partial_l c_{kl} \right) \right) L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy$$

and the bounded operator $T_n^{(2)}: W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by

$$T_n^{(2)}u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_l} \left(J_n(y) \left(I - L_y \right) c_{kl} \right) \right) \, L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy,$$

where $(L_y u)(x) = u(x - y)$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Also define for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the operator $T_n: W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by

$$T_n = T_n^{(1)} + T_n^{(2)}. (4.6)$$

Lemma 4.18. The sequence $\{T_n^{(1)}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded. Furthermore $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_n^{(1)}u||_p = 0$ for all $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ we have $c_{kl} \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, which implies

$$|(\partial_l c_{kl})(x) - (\partial_l c_{kl})(x-y)| \le ||c_{kl}||_{W^{2,\infty}} |y|$$
(4.7)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_n^{(1)}u\|_p &\leq \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |J_n(y)| \left\| \left((I - L_y) \left(\partial_l c_{kl} \right) \right) L_y(\partial_k u) \right\|_p dy \\ &\leq \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |J_n(y)| \left\| (I - L_y) \left(\partial_l c_{kl} \right) \right\|_\infty \left\| L_y(\partial_k u) \right\|_p dy \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^d \|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \right) \|u\|_{W^{1,p}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |J_n(y)| \left| y \right| dy \\ &= \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^d \|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \right) \|u\|_{W^{1,p}} \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |J(y)| \left| y \right| dy, \end{aligned}$$

where we used $J_n(y) = n^d J(n y)$ in the last step. Note that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |J(y)| \, |y| \, dy = 0.$$

Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_n^{(1)}u||_p = 0$. Moreover, $\{T_n^{(1)}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded.

Lemma 4.19. The sequence $\{T_n^{(2)}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded. Furthermore $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_n^{(2)}u||_p = 0$ for all $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Expanding $T_n^{(2)}$ gives

$$T_n^{(2)}u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(J_n(y) \, L_y(\partial_l c_{kl}) + (\partial_l J_n)(y) \, (I - L_y) \, c_{kl} \right) L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy,$$

where we used $L_y(\partial_l c_{kl}) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial y_l}(L_y c_{kl})$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \dots, d\}$. Therefore

$$\|T_{n}^{(2)}u\|_{p} \leq \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \left(\|(\partial_{l}c_{kl})(\partial_{k}u)\|_{p} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |(\partial_{l}J_{n})(y)| \|((I-L_{y})c_{kl})L_{y}(\partial_{k}u)\|_{p} dy \right)$$

$$\leq \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \left(\|\partial_{l}c_{kl}\|_{\infty} \|(\partial_{k}u)\|_{p} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |(\partial_{l}J_{n})(y)| \|(I-L_{y})c_{kl}\|_{\infty} \|L_{y}(\partial_{k}u)\|_{p} dy \right)$$

$$\leq M \|u\|_{W^{1,p}}, \qquad (4.8)$$

where

$$M = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \left(\|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \left(1 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |(\partial_l J)(y)| \, |y| \, dy \right) \right)$$
(4.9)

and we used (4.7) in the last step. Therefore $\{T_n^{(2)}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded.

To prove to the latter statement of the lemma, we consider two cases.

Case 1: Suppose $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Since J_n has a compact support, we have

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_l} \left(J_n(y) \left(I - L_y \right) c_{kl} \right) \right) \, (\partial_k u) \, dy = 0.$$

Consequently

$$T_n^{(2)}u = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_l} \left(J_n(y) \left(I - L_y \right) c_{kl} \right) \right) \left(I - L_y \right) \left(\partial_k u \right) dy$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(J_n(y) L_y(\partial_l c_{kl}) + \left(\partial_l J_n \right) (y) \left(I - L_y \right) c_{kl} \right) \left(I - L_y \right) \left(\partial_k u \right) dy.$$

It follows that

$$\|T_n^{(2)}u\|_p \le \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(J_n(y) \, \|L_y(\partial_l c_{kl})\|_\infty + |(\partial_l J_n)(y)| \, \|(I-L_y) \, c_{kl}\|_\infty \right) \|(I-L_y)(\partial_k u)\|_p \, dy.$$

Note that

$$\|(I - L_y)(\partial_k u)\|_p = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |(\partial_k u)(x) - (\partial_k u)(x - y)|^p \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\|u\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \, |y|)^p \, \mathbb{1}_{\operatorname{supp} \, \partial_k u \, \cup \, \operatorname{supp} \, L_y(\partial_k u)} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ \leq 2 \, |\operatorname{supp} \, \partial_k u|^{1/p} \, \|u\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \, |y| \leq \frac{2}{n} \, |\operatorname{supp} \, u|^{1/p} \, \|u\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$$

for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $|y| < \frac{1}{n}$, where in the last step we used the fact that $\sup \partial_k u \subset \sup u$ for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Therefore

$$||T_n^{(2)}u||_p \le \frac{2M}{n} |\operatorname{supp} u|^{1/p} ||u||_{W^{2,\infty}},$$
(4.10)

where M is defined by (4.9) and we used the fact that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) dy = 1$. Hence (4.10) gives $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|T_n^{(2)}u\|_p = 0$. **Case 2:** Suppose $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $\|u - v\|_{W^{1,p}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2M}$. Choose an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\frac{2M}{n} |\operatorname{supp} v|^{1/p} \|v\|_{W^{2,\infty}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Then it follows from (4.8) and (4.10) that

$$\|T_n^{(2)}u\|_p \le \|T_n^{(2)}(u-v)\|_p + \|T_n^{(2)}v\|_p \le M \|u-v\|_{W^{1,p}} + \frac{2M}{n} |\operatorname{supp} v|^{1/p} \|v\|_{W^{2,\infty}} < \varepsilon.$$

The proof is complete.

Lemma 4.20. The sequence $\{T_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded. Furthermore $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_nu||_p = 0$ for all $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. This is a consequence of Lemmas 4.18 and 4.19.

We have the following approximation proposition (cf. [Fri44] and [Kat72] for a special case of the proposition when the coefficient c_{kl} are real-valued for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$).

Proposition 4.21. Let $u \in D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} B_p(J_n * u) = B_p u$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. Let $u \in D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It is well-known that $\lim_{n\to\infty} J_n * (B_p u) = B_p u$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore it suffices to show that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|B_p(J_n * u) - J_n * (B_p u)\|_p = 0.$$

In what follows note that $L_y(\partial_l u) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial_l}(L_y u)$ and $\partial_l(J_n * u) = (\partial_l J_n) * u$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. We first calculate $J_n * (B_p u)$. Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Define $\phi(y) = J_n(x-y)$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By the definition of B_p we have

$$(J_n * (B_p u))(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(x - y) (B_p u)(y) dy = (B_p u, \phi) = (u, H_q \phi)$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (c_{kl}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_l} J_n(x - y)) \right) u(y) dy$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(c_{kl}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_l} J_n(x - y) \right) (\partial_k u)(y) dy$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(x - y) (c_{kl} \partial_k u)(y) dy$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) (c_{kl} \partial_k u)(x - y) dy$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence

$$J_n * (B_p u) = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) L_y(c_{kl} \partial_k u) \, dy$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We have

$$\begin{split} B_p(J_n * u) &- J_n * (B_p u) \\ = &- \sum_{k,l=1}^d \left(\partial_l \Big(c_{kl} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) \, L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy \Big) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) \, L_y(c_{kl} \, \partial_k u) \, dy \Big) \\ = &- \sum_{k,l=1}^d \left((\partial_l c_{kl}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) \, L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy + c_{kl} \, \partial_l \Big(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) \, L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy \Big) \right) \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) \, L_y(c_{kl} \, \partial_k u) \, dy \\ = &- \sum_{k,l=1}^d \left((\partial_l c_{kl}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) \, L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy + c_{kl} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) \, L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) \, L_y(c_{kl} \, \partial_k u) \, dy \Big) \,. \end{split}$$

On the other hand expanding $T_n^{(1)}$ and $T_n^{(2)}$ gives

$$T_n^{(1)}u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(J_n(y) \left(\partial_l c_{kl}\right) L_y(\partial_k u) - J_n(y) L_y(\left(\partial_l c_{kl}\right) \partial_k u \right) \right) dy$$

and

$$T_n^{(2)}u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(J_n(y) L_y(\partial_l c_{kl}) + (\partial_l J_n)(y) (I - L_y) c_{kl} \right) L_y(\partial_k u) dy$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(J_n(y) L_y((\partial_l c_{kl}) \partial_k u) + (\partial_l J_n)(y) c_{kl} L_y(\partial_k u) - (\partial_l J_n)(y) L_y(c_{kl} \partial_k u) \right) dy.$$

Therefore

$$T_n u = T_n^{(1)} u + T_n^{(2)} u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \left((\partial_l c_{kl}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} J_n(y) L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy + c_{kl} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) L_y(\partial_k u) \, dy - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l J_n)(y) L_y(c_{kl} \, \partial_k u) \, dy \right).$$

Hence

$$B_p(J_n * u) - J_n * (B_p u) = T_n u.$$
(4.11)
Lemma 4.20.

The claim now follows from Lemma 4.20.

Let $\tau \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $0 \leq \tau \leq 1$, $\tau|_{B_1(0)} = 1$ and $\operatorname{supp} \tau \subset B_2(0)$. Define $\tau_n(x) = \tau(n^{-1}x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 4.22. Let $u \in D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $\tau_n u \in D(B_p)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_n u = u$ in $D(B_p)$. If u satisfies further that $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\nabla(B_p u) \in (L_p(\mathbb{R}^d))^d$, then $\nabla(B_p(\tau_n u)) \in (L_p(\mathbb{R}^d))^d$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} \nabla(B_p(\tau_n u)) = \nabla(B_p u)$ in $(L_p(\mathbb{R}^d))^d$.

Proof. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$(\tau_n \, u, H_q \phi) = (v, \phi),$$

where

$$v = \tau_n \left(B_p u \right) + \left(B_p \tau_n \right) u - \sum_{k,l=1}^d c_{kl} \left(\partial_k u \right) \left(\partial_l \tau_n \right) - \sum_{k,l=1}^d c_{kl} \left(\partial_l u \right) \left(\partial_k \tau_n \right).$$
(4.12)

It follows that

$$||v||_p \le M_1 ||u||_{W^{1,p}} + ||B_p u||_p < \infty,$$

where $M_1 = 3 \sup\{\|c_{kl} \ \tau\|_{W^{2,\infty}} : 1 \le k, l \le d\}$. Therefore $\tau_n \ u \in D(B_p)$ and $B_p(\tau_n \ u) = v$.

Next we consider the expression for v in (4.12). For the first term we have $\|\tau_n(B_p u)\|_p \leq \|B_p u\|$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\{\tau_n(B_p u)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $B_p u$ pointwise. As a consequence $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_n(B_p u) = B_p u$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. For the second term we notice that

$$(\partial_k \tau_n)(x) = \frac{1}{n} (\partial_k \tau)(n^{-1} x) \quad \text{and} \quad (\partial_l \partial_k \tau_n)(x) = \frac{1}{n^2} (\partial_l \partial_k \tau)(n^{-1} x) \tag{4.13}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Since $c_{kl} \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$, we obtain

$$\|(B_p\tau_n) u\|_p = \left\| \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} (\partial_l c_{kl}) (\partial_k \tau_n) + c_{kl} (\partial_l \partial_k \tau_n) \right) u \right\|_p \le \frac{2d^2}{n} \|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \|\tau\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \|u\|_p$$
(4.14)

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. It follows that $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||(B_p\tau_n) u||_p = 0$. Similarly the last two terms also converge to 0 in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Clearly $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_n u = u$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_n u = u$ in $D(B_p)$.

To prove the second statement let $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Using (4.12) we have

$$\partial_{j}(B_{p}(\tau_{n} u)) = \tau_{n} \partial_{j}(B_{p}u) + (\partial_{j}\tau_{n}) (B_{p}u) + (B_{p}\tau_{n}) (\partial_{j}u) + (\partial_{j}(B_{p}\tau_{n})) u$$
$$- \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} (\partial_{j}c_{kl}) (\partial_{k}u) (\partial_{l}\tau_{n}) + c_{kl} (\partial_{j}\partial_{k}u) (\partial_{l}\tau_{n}) + c_{kl} (\partial_{k}u) (\partial_{j}\partial_{l}\tau_{n})$$
$$- \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} (\partial_{j}c_{kl}) (\partial_{l}u) (\partial_{k}\tau_{n}) + c_{kl} (\partial_{j}\partial_{l}u) (\partial_{k}\tau_{n}) + c_{kl} (\partial_{l}u) (\partial_{j}\partial_{k}\tau_{n}). \quad (4.15)$$

It follows that

$$\|\partial_j (B_p(\tau_n u))\|_p \le M_2 \|u\|_{W^{2,p}} + (1 \land \|\tau\|_{W^{1,\infty}}) \|B_p u\|_{W^{1,p}} < \infty,$$

where $M_2 = 8 \sup\{\|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \|\tau\|_{W^{3,\infty}} : 1 \leq k, l \leq d\}$. Therefore $\partial_j(B_p(\tau_n u)) \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Furthermore notice that

$$(\partial_j \partial_l \partial_k \tau_n)(x) = \frac{1}{n^3} (\partial_j \partial_l \partial_k \tau)(n^{-1} x)$$
(4.16)

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Using (4.13), (4.16) and repeating the arguments used in (4.14) we see that all terms in the expression for $\partial_j(B_p(\tau_n u))$ in (4.15) converge to 0 in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as *n* tends to infinity except for the first one, whereas the first term converges to $\partial_j(B_p u)$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as *n* tends to infinity. Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} \partial_j(B_p(\tau_n u)) = \partial_j(B_p u)$ in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. This completes the proof.

Proposition 4.23. The space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $(D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d), \|\cdot\|_{D(B_p)})$.

Proof. Let $u \in D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ set $u_n = \tau_n u \in D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L_{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By Lemma 4.22 we can choose an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $||u - u_n||_{D(B_p)} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Next for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ set $v_m = J_m * (\tau_n u) \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We now use Lemma 4.21 to choose an $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $||u_n - v_m||_{D(B_p)} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Then

$$||u - v_m||_{D(B_p)} \le ||u - u_n||_{D(B_p)} + ||u_n - v_m||_{D(B_p)} < \varepsilon.$$

This verifies the claim.

Proposition 4.24. Suppose $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$ and $B_a = 0$. Then there exists an M > 0 such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla(B_p u), |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u\right) \ge -M \|\nabla u\|_p^p$$

for all $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\nabla(B_p u) \in (L_p(\mathbb{R}^d))^d$.

Proof. The condition $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$ is equivalent to $|p - 2| \tan \theta < 2\sqrt{p-1}$. Let $\varepsilon_0 \in (0, 1 \land (p-1))$ be such that

$$|p-2| \tan \theta \le 2\sqrt{(1-\varepsilon)(p-1-\varepsilon)}$$

for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ be such that

$$\varepsilon < \frac{\varepsilon_0}{32 d (1 + \tan \theta)^2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}}.$$
(4.17)

Let $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By Lemma 4.22 we can assume without loss of generality that u has a compact support. For the rest of the proof, all integrations are over the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : |(\nabla u)(x)| \neq 0\}$. We have

$$(\nabla(B_p u), |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u) = -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int \left(\partial_j \partial_l (c_{kl} \,\partial_k u) \right) |\nabla u|^{p-2} \,\partial_j \overline{u}$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int \left(\partial_l \left((\partial_j c_{kl}) \,(\partial_k u) + c_{kl} \,(\partial_j \partial_k u) \right) \right) |\nabla u|^{p-2} \,\partial_j \overline{u}$$

$$= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int \left(\partial_{l} \left((\partial_{j} c_{kl}) (\partial_{k} u) \right) \right) |\nabla u|^{p-2} \partial_{j} \overline{u}$$

+
$$\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int c_{kl} (\partial_{j} \partial_{k} u) \partial_{l} \left(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \partial_{j} \overline{u} \right)$$

= (I) + (II).

We first consider the real part of (I). We have

$$-\operatorname{Re}\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d}\int \left(\partial_{l}\left(\left(\partial_{j}c_{kl}\right)\left(\partial_{k}u\right)\right)\right)|\nabla u|^{p-2}\partial_{j}\overline{u} = -\operatorname{Re}\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d}\int \left(\partial_{l}\partial_{j}c_{kl}\right)\left(\partial_{k}u\right)\left(\partial_{j}\overline{u}\right)|\nabla u|^{p-2}$$
$$-\operatorname{Re}\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d}\int \left(\partial_{j}c_{kl}\right)\left(\partial_{l}\partial_{k}u\right)\left(\partial_{j}\overline{u}\right)|\nabla u|^{p-2}$$
$$= (\operatorname{Ia}) + (\operatorname{Ib}).$$

For (Ia) we have

$$(\mathrm{Ia}) \ge -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \int (|\partial_k u|^2 + |\partial_j u|^2) |\nabla u|^{p-2} \ge -M_1 \|\nabla u\|_p^p,$$

where $M_1 = d^2 \sup\{\|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} : 1 \le k, l \le d\}$. Let $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \le k, l \le d}$. For (Ib) we estimate

$$(\mathrm{Ib}) = -\mathrm{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int \mathrm{tr} \left((\partial_{j}C) U \right) (\partial_{j}\overline{u}) |\nabla u|^{p-2}$$
$$\geq -\sum_{j=1}^{d} \int \left(\varepsilon |\mathrm{tr} \left((\partial_{j}C) U \right)|^{2} |\nabla u|^{p-2} + \frac{1}{4\varepsilon} |\partial_{j}\overline{u}|^{2} |\nabla u|^{p-2} \right)$$
$$\geq -\varepsilon' \int \mathrm{tr} \left(U R_{s} \overline{U} \right) |\nabla u|^{p-2} - M_{2} ||\nabla u||_{p}^{p},$$

where we used Corollary 4.10(a) in the last step with $\varepsilon' = 32 \varepsilon d (1 + \tan \theta)^2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty}$ and $M_2 = \frac{1}{4\varepsilon}$. Note that $\varepsilon' \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ by (4.17).

Next we consider the real part of (II). Note that

$$\operatorname{Re} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int c_{kl} \left(\partial_{j} \partial_{k} u\right) \partial_{l} \left(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \partial_{j} \overline{u} \right) = \operatorname{Re} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int c_{kl} \left(\partial_{j} \partial_{k} u\right) \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{j} \overline{u}\right) |\nabla u|^{p-2} + \operatorname{Re} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int c_{kl} \left(\partial_{j} \partial_{k} u\right) \left(\partial_{j} \overline{u}\right) \partial_{l} (|\nabla u|^{p-2}) = (\operatorname{IIa}) + (\operatorname{IIb}).$$

For (IIa) we have

(IIa) =
$$\int \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{U}\left(\operatorname{Re}C\right)U\right)|\nabla u|^{p-2} = \int \operatorname{tr}\left(UR_s\overline{U}\right)|\nabla u|^{p-2}$$

as $B_a = 0$. For (IIb) we have the following estimate

$$(\text{IIb}) = \text{Re} \sum_{k,l,i,j=1}^{d} \frac{p-2}{2} \int c_{kl} \left(\partial_{j}\partial_{k}u\right) \left(\partial_{j}\overline{u}\right) \left(\left(\partial_{l}\partial_{i}u\right) \left(\partial_{i}\overline{u}\right) + \left(\partial_{l}\partial_{i}\overline{u}\right) \left(\partial_{i}u\right)\right) |\nabla u|^{p-4}$$
$$= \frac{p-2}{2} \int \text{Re} \left(\left(C U \nabla \overline{u}, \overline{U} \nabla \overline{u}\right) + \left(C U \nabla \overline{u}, U \nabla \overline{u}\right)\right) |\nabla u|^{p-4}$$
$$= (p-2) \int \left(\left(R_{s}\xi, \xi\right) - \left(B_{s}\xi, \eta\right)\right) |\nabla u|^{p-4},$$

where $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $U \nabla \overline{u} = \xi + i \eta$.

In total we obtain

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla(B_{p}u), |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u\right) \geq -(M_{1}+M_{2}) \|\nabla u\|_{p}^{p} + (1-\varepsilon') \int \operatorname{tr}\left(U R_{s} \overline{U}\right) |\nabla u|^{p-2}$$
$$+ (p-2) \int \left((R_{s}\xi,\xi) - (B_{s}\xi,\eta)\right) |\nabla u|^{p-4}$$
$$= -(M_{1}+M_{2}) \|\nabla u\|_{p}^{p} + P,$$

where

$$P = (1 - \varepsilon') \int \operatorname{tr} \left(U \, R_s \, \overline{U} \right) |\nabla u|^{p-2} + (p-2) \int \left(\left(R_s \, \xi, \xi \right) - \left(B_s \, \xi, \eta \right) \right) |\nabla u|^{p-4}.$$

Next we will show that $P \ge 0$. Since $B_a = 0$, it follows from Lemma 4.11 that

$$(R_s \xi, \xi) + (R_s \eta, \eta) = ((\operatorname{Re} C) U \nabla \overline{u}, U \nabla \overline{u}) \leq \operatorname{tr} (U^* (\operatorname{Re} C) U) |\nabla u|^2$$
$$= \operatorname{tr} (\overline{U} R_s U) |\nabla u|^2 = \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U}) |\nabla u|^2.$$

Therefore

$$P \ge \int \left((p-1-\varepsilon') \left(R_s \,\xi, \xi \right) + (1-\varepsilon') \left(R_s \,\eta, \eta \right) - (p-2) \left(B_s \,\xi, \eta \right) \right) |\nabla u|^{p-4}$$
$$= \int \left(\left(R_s \,\xi', \xi' \right) + \left(R_s \,\eta', \eta' \right) - \frac{p-2}{\sqrt{(1-\varepsilon')(p-1-\varepsilon')}} \left(B_s \,\xi', \eta' \right) \right) |\nabla u|^{p-4}, \quad (4.18)$$

where $\xi' = \sqrt{p - 1 - \varepsilon'} \xi$ and $\eta' = \sqrt{1 - \varepsilon'} \eta$. If $\theta = 0$ then it follows from Lemma 4.5 that $(B_s \xi', \eta') = 0$. Therefore (4.18) gives

$$P \ge \int \left((R_s \xi', \xi') + (R_s \eta', \eta') \right) |\nabla u|^{p-4} \ge 0.$$

If $\theta \neq 0$ then (4.18) can be estimated by

$$P \ge \int \left((R_s \,\xi', \xi') + (R_s \,\eta', \eta') - 2 \,\cot \theta \,|(B_s \,\xi', \eta')| \right) |\nabla u|^{p-4} \ge 0,$$

where we again used Lemma 4.5. Either way we always have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla(B_p u), |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u\right) \ge -(M_1 + M_2) \|\nabla u\|_{\mu}^{p}$$

as claimed.

Proposition 4.25. Suppose $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$ and $B_a = 0$. Then B_p is m-accretive. Furthermore $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for B_p .

Proof. We will proceed in three steps.

Step 1: We will show that $\overline{B_p|_{D(B_p)\cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)}}$ is *m*-accretive.

It follows from Propositions 4.17 and 4.23 that $B_p|_{D(B_p)\cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ is accretive. Hence $\overline{B_p|_{D(B_p)\cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)}}$ is also accretive.

Next we will show that there exists a $\lambda > 0$ such that $(\lambda + B_p)(D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ is dense in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In fact we will show that there exists a $\lambda > 0$ such that $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset (\lambda + B_p)(D(B_p) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Since $-\Delta$ satisfies the same conditions as those of B_p , Proposition 4.24 also applies to $-\Delta$. In particular there exists an M' > 0 such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla(\Delta u), \, |\nabla u|^{p-2} \, \nabla u\right) \ge -M' \, \|\nabla u\|_p^p$$

for all $u \in W^{3,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define the operator $B_{p,n}$ by

$$B_{p,n}u = B_pu - \frac{1}{n}\,\Delta u$$

on the domain

$$D(B_{p,n}) = W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

where $\Delta = \partial_1^2 + \ldots + \partial_d^2$. Note that for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the operator $B_{p,n}$ is strongly elliptic, which implies that $B_{p,n}$ is closed.

Let M be as in Proposition 4.24 and $\lambda = M + M' + 1$. Let $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists a $u_n \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $(\lambda + B_{p,n})u_n = f$. Elliptic regularity gives $u_n \in W^{3,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It follows that $\nabla(B_{p,n}u_n) = \nabla(f - \lambda u_n) \in (L_p(\mathbb{R}^d))^d$ and $\nabla(B_pu_n) = \nabla(B_{p,n}u_n) + \frac{1}{n}\nabla(\Delta u_n) \in (L_p(\mathbb{R}^d))^d$. By Proposition 4.17 we have

$$(f, |u_n|^{p-2} u_n) = \lambda ||u_n||_p^p + (B_{p,n} u_n, |u_n|^{p-2} u_n) \ge \lambda ||u_n||_p^p \ge ||u_n||_p^p.$$

However

$$(f, |u_n|^{p-2} u_n) \le ||f||_p |||u_n|^{p-2} u_n||_q = ||f||_p ||u_n||_p^{p/q}$$

by Hölder's inequality. Therefore $||u_n||_p^p \leq ||f||_p ||u_n||_p^{p/q}$, or equivalently $||u_n||_p \leq ||f||_p$. Also it follows from Proposition 4.24 that

$$(\nabla f, |\nabla u_n|^{p-2} \nabla u_n) = \lambda \|\nabla u_n\|_p^p + \operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla (B_{p,n}u_n), |\nabla u_n|^{p-2} \nabla u_n\right)$$
$$= \lambda \|\nabla u_n\|_p^p + \operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla (B_pu_n), |\nabla u_n|^{p-2} \nabla u_n\right)$$
$$- \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla (\Delta u_n), |\nabla u_n|^{p-2} \nabla u_n\right)$$
$$\geq (\lambda - M - M') \|\nabla u_n\|_p^p = \|\nabla u_n\|_p^p.$$

Again the Hölder's inequality gives $\|\nabla u_n\|_p \leq \|\nabla f\|_p$. Hence $\|u_n\|_{W^{1,p}} \leq \|f\|_{W^{1,p}}$. In particular $\{u_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Passing to a subsequence if necessary we may assume that $\{u_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges weakly to a $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Note that $B_{p,n}u_n = f - \lambda u_n$. Therefore $\{B_{p,n}u_n\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Passing to a subsequence if necessary we again assume that $\{B_{p,k}u_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges weakly to a $v \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $v = f - \lambda u$. We will show that $B_pu = v$. Indeed let $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} B_{p,n}^*\phi = B_p^*\phi$ strongly in $L_q(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and

$$(v,\phi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (B_{p,n}u_n,\phi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (u_n, B_{p,n}^*\phi) = (u, B_p^*\phi).$$

Therefore $u \in D(B_p)$ and $B_p u = v$. Hence $(\lambda + B_p)u = f$.

Step 2: We will show that $\overline{B_p|_{D(B_p)\cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)}} = B_p$, which implies B_p is *m*-accretive.

Clearly $\overline{D(B_p)} \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\|\cdot\|_{D(B_p)}} \subset D(B_p)$. For the reverse inclusion let $u \in D(B_p)$ and λ be defined as in Step 1. Since $(\lambda + B_p)u \in L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\overline{B_p|_{D(B_p)} \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ is *m*-accretive, there exists a $v \in \overline{D(B_p)} \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\|\cdot\|_{D(B_p)}}$ such that $(\lambda + B_p)v = (\lambda + B_p)u$. Equivalently

$$(u - v, (\lambda + H_q)\phi) = 0 \tag{4.19}$$

for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Define $G_q = (B_p|_{C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)})^*$. Then $H_q \subset G_q$. Note that $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$ is equivalent to $|1 - \frac{2}{q}| < \cos \theta$. Furthermore C^* satisfies the same condition as those of C. Therefore all previous results apply to G_q . In particular, Proposition 4.23 gives $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $(D(G_q) \cap W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^d), \|\cdot\|_{D(G_q)})$ and Step 1 gives $\overline{G_q|_{D(G_q) \cap W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^d)}}$ is *m*-accretive.

Now it follows from (4.19) that

$$(u - v, (\lambda + G_q)\phi) = 0$$

for all $\phi \in \overline{(D(G_q) \cap W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^d), \|\cdot\|_{D(G_q)})}$. Since $\overline{G_q|_{D(G_q) \cap W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^d)}}$ is *m*-accretive, we must have u = v.

Step 3: We will show that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for B_p .

This follows immediately from Proposition 4.23 and Step 2.

4.5 The core property for A_p

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ be such that $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$. Suppose $B_a = 0$. In Section 4.3, we proved that the contraction C_0 -semigroup S generated by A extends consistently to a contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$. In this section we will show that the operator A_p and B_p are in fact the same. Consequently the space of test functions $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_p . This is the content of Theorem 4.2, which is also the main theorem of the chapter.

Proposition 4.26. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ be such that $|1 - \frac{2}{p}| < \cos \theta$. Suppose $B_a = 0$. Then $A_p = B_p$.

Proof. Let $u \in D(A) \cap D(A_p)$. Then

$$(A_p u, \phi) = (Au, \phi) = \mathfrak{a}(u, \phi) = (u, H_q \phi)$$

for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It follows that $u \in D(B_p)$ and $B_p u = A_p u$. In particular this implies that $D(A) \cap D(A_p) \subset D(B_p)$. However $D(A) \cap D(A_p)$ is a core for A_p and B_p is closed. Hence $D(A_p) \subset D(B_p)$. On the other hand note that $-A_p$ generates a contraction C_0 -semigroup. Therefore A_p is *m*-accretive. By Proposition 4.25 the operator B_p is also *m*-accretive. Hence $A_p = B_p$ as required. \Box

The main result of this chapter now follows immediately from the above proposition.

Proof of Theorem 4.2. By Proposition 4.25 the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for B_p . Since $A_p = B_p$ by Proposition 4.26, it follows that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is also a core for A_p .

4.6 More sufficient conditions in L_2

This section is motivated by the fact that B_2 is accretive on $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ without the requirement that $B_a = 0$ (cf. Proposition 4.17). In fact more is true.

Proposition 4.27. We have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(B_2u, u\right) \ge 0$$

for all $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap D(B_2)$.

Proof. Let $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap D(B_2)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re}(B_{2}u, u) = -\operatorname{Re}\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{l}(c_{kl} \partial_{k}u)) \,\overline{u} = \operatorname{Re}\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl}(\partial_{k}u) \,\partial_{l}\overline{u}$$
$$= \operatorname{Re}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (C \,\nabla u, \nabla u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} ((\operatorname{Re}C) \,\nabla u, \nabla u) \geq 0$$

as claimed.

Define the operator $Z = \overline{B_2|_{C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)}}$. Then Z is closed. Furthermore we have the following.

Proposition 4.28. The operator Z is accretive and $Z = \overline{B_2|_{W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap D(B_2)}}$.

Proof. It suffices to show $Z = \overline{B_2|_{W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap D(B_2)}}$. This follows immediately from Proposition 4.23.

From now on we drop the condition that $B_a \neq 0$. In this section we will provide many sufficient conditions for the space of test functions $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to be a core for the operator A. Define the operator L in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as follows.

$$Lu = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_k \left(\overline{(B_a)_{kl}} \,\partial_l u \right) \tag{4.20}$$

on the domain

$$D(L) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Next define the operator associated with B_a as $(B_a)^{\text{op}} = L^*$, which is the dual of L. In what follows we denote $(\partial_k B_a)_{kl} = \partial_k ((B_a)_{kl})$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Although $(B_a)^{\text{op}}$ appears to be a differential operator of second order, it is in fact a first-order differential operator. Indeed for all $u \in D((B_a)^{\text{op}})$ and $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have

$$((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}u,\phi) = (u,L\phi) = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \,\partial_k ((B_a)_{kl} \,\partial_l \phi)$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \,((\partial_k B_a)_{kl} \,\partial_l \phi + (B_a)_{kl} \,\partial_k \partial_l \phi)$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \,(\partial_k B_a)_{kl} \,\partial_l \phi, \qquad (4.21)$$

where the last step follows from the anti-symmetry of B_a . Note that $(B_a)_{kl} \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Therefore it follows from (4.21) that $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D((B_a)^{\text{op}})$ and

$$\left((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}} u, \phi \right) = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \partial_l \left((\partial_k B_a)_{kl} u \right) \phi = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((\partial_l \partial_k B_a)_{kl} u + (\partial_k B_a)_{kl} (\partial_l u) \right) \phi$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_k B_a)_{kl} (\partial_l u) \phi = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \phi$$

for all $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ since B_a is anti-symmetric. Hence

$$(B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}u = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \partial_l \left((\partial_k B_a)_{kl} \, u \right) = -\sum_{k,l=1}^d (\partial_l B_a)_{kl} \, \partial_k u$$

for all $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Lemma 4.29. For all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists an M > 0 such that

$$\left| \left((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}} u, -\Delta u \right) \right| \le \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \| (\partial_l B_a) U \|_{HS}^2 + M \| \nabla u \|_2^2$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \le k, l \le d}$. *Proof.* Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and write $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \le k, l \le d}$. Then

$$\left| \left((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}} u, -\Delta u \right) \right| = \left| \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \partial_j^2 \overline{u} \right|$$
$$= \left| \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((\partial_j \partial_l B_a)_{kl} \partial_k u + (\partial_l B_a)_{kl} \partial_k \partial_j u \right) \partial_j \overline{u} \right|$$
$$\leq \left| \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_j \partial_l B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \partial_j \overline{u} \right| + \left| \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k \partial_j u) \partial_j \overline{u} \right|$$
$$= (I) + (II).$$

For (I) we have

$$\Big|\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_j \partial_l B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \,\partial_j \overline{u}\Big| \le d^2 \sup_{1 \le k,l \le d} \|(B_a)_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \|\nabla u\|_2^2.$$

We estimate the term (II) by

$$\begin{split} \left|\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{l} B_{a})_{kl} (\partial_{k} \partial_{j} u) \partial_{j} \overline{u}\right| &= \left|\sum_{l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((\partial_{l} B_{a}) U \right)_{lj} \partial_{j} \overline{u} \right| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \sum_{l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \left((\partial_{l} B_{a}) U \right)_{lj} \right|^{2} + \frac{d}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} \\ &= \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \|(\partial_{l} B_{a}) U\|_{HS}^{2} + \frac{d}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\left| \left((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}} u, -\Delta u \right) \right| \le \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| (\partial_l B_a) U \right\|_{HS}^2 + M \left\| \nabla u \right\|_2^2,$$

where

$$M = d^{2} \sup_{1 \le k, l \le d} \| (B_{a})_{kl} \|_{W^{2,\infty}} + \frac{d}{4\varepsilon}$$

-

as required.

Lemma 4.30. For all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists an M > 0 such that

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr}\left(U B_a \overline{U}\right) \le \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 + M \, \|\nabla u\|_2^2$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \le k, l \le d}$.

Proof. Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and write $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$. Then

$$\begin{split} ((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}u, -\Delta u) &= \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\partial_l ((B_a)_{kl} \partial_k u) \right) \partial_j^2 \overline{u} \\ &= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\partial_l \left((\partial_j B_a)_{kl} \partial_k u + (B_a)_{kl} \partial_j \partial_k u \right) \right) \partial_j \overline{u} \\ &= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l \partial_j B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \partial_j \overline{u} + (\partial_j B_a)_{kl} (\partial_l \partial_k u) \partial_j \overline{u} \\ &+ \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (B_a)_{kl} (\partial_j \partial_k u) \partial_l \partial_j \overline{u} \\ &= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l \partial_j B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \partial_j \overline{u} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{tr} \left(U B_a \overline{U} \right), \end{split}$$

where in the last step we used $\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} (\partial_j B_a)_{kl} (\partial_l \partial_k u) = 0$ for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$, which follows from the anti-symmetry of B_a .

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and M be as in Lemma 4.29. Then

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U B_a \overline{U} \right) \right| \leq \left| \left((B_a)^{\operatorname{op}} u, -\Delta u \right) \right| + \left| \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l \partial_j B_a)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \partial_j \overline{u} \right|$$
$$\leq \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| (\partial_l B_a) U \right\|_{HS}^2 + \left(M + d^2 \| B_a \|_{W^{2,\infty}} \right) \| \nabla u \|_2^2,$$

where we used Lemma 4.29 in the last step.

Lemma 4.31. Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re}\left((B_2 - B_2^*)u, -\Delta u\right) = 2\operatorname{Im}\sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l \partial_j \operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \,\partial_j \overline{u} + 2\operatorname{Im}\sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr}\left((\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C) U\right) \,\partial_j \overline{u}.$$

Proof. Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and write $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \le k, l \le d}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \left((B_2 - B_2^*)u, -\Delta u \right) &= \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\partial_l \left((c_{kl} - \overline{c_{lk}}) \partial_k u \right) \right) \partial_j^2 \overline{u} \\ &= 2i \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\partial_l \left((\operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} \partial_k u \right) \right) \partial_j^2 \overline{u} \\ &= -2i \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\partial_l \left((\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} \partial_k u + (\operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} \partial_j \partial_k u \right) \right) \partial_j \overline{u} \\ &= -2i \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((\partial_l \partial_j \operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} (\partial_k u) + (\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} (\partial_l \partial_k u) \right) \partial_j \overline{u} \\ &+ 2i \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} (\partial_j \partial_k u) (\partial_l \partial_j \overline{u}) \\ &= -2i \sum_{k,l,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\partial_l \partial_j \operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} (\partial_k u) \partial_j \overline{u} - 2i \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_j \operatorname{Im} C) U \right) \partial_j \overline{u} \\ &+ 2i \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U \left(\operatorname{Im} C \right) \overline{U} \right). \end{split}$$

Taking the real parts both sides gives the statement since $\operatorname{tr}(U(\operatorname{Im} C)\overline{U}) \in \mathbb{R}$.

Lemma 4.32. Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_{j}C) U \right) \partial_{j}\overline{u} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{j}^{2}c_{kl}) (\partial_{l}u) \partial_{k}\overline{u} - 2 (\partial_{k}\partial_{j}c_{kl}) (\partial_{l}u) \partial_{j}\overline{u} + \operatorname{Im} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{l}\partial_{j}\operatorname{Im} C)_{kl} (\partial_{j}u) \partial_{k}\overline{u} + \operatorname{Im} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_{j}\operatorname{Im} C) \overline{U} \right) \partial_{j}u.$$

Proof. Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and write $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$. Then

$$\begin{split} (B_{2}u, -\Delta u) &= \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l}(c_{kl} \partial_{k}u) \, \partial_{j}^{2}u = -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l}((\partial_{j}c_{kl}) \partial_{k}u + c_{kl} \partial_{j}\partial_{k}u) \right) \partial_{j}\overline{u} \\ &= \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((\partial_{j}c_{kl}) \partial_{k}u + c_{kl} \partial_{j}\partial_{k}u \right) \partial_{l}\partial_{j}\overline{u} \\ &= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((\partial_{j}^{2}c_{kl}) \partial_{k}u + (\partial_{j}c_{kl}) \partial_{j}\partial_{k}u + (\partial_{j}c_{kl}) \partial_{j}\partial_{k}u + c_{kl} \partial_{j}^{2}\partial_{k}u \right) \partial_{l}\overline{u} \\ &= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{j}^{2}c_{kl} \right) (\partial_{k}u) \partial_{l}\overline{u} + 2 \left(\partial_{j}c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{j}\partial_{k}u \right) \partial_{l}\overline{u} - \left(\partial_{j}^{2}u \right) \partial_{k} \left(c_{kl} \partial_{l}\overline{u} \right) \\ &= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{j}^{2}c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{k}u \right) \partial_{l}\overline{u} - 2 \left(\partial_{j}u \right) \left(\left(\partial_{k}\partial_{j}c_{kl} \right) \partial_{l}\overline{u} + \left(\partial_{j}c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{k}\partial_{l}\overline{u} \right) \right) \\ &+ \left(-\Delta u, B_{2}^{*}u \right). \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{j} c_{kl}) \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{k} \overline{u} \right) \partial_{j} u = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{j}^{2} c_{kl}) \left(\partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{l} \overline{u} - 2 \left(\partial_{k} \partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{l} \overline{u} \right) \left(\partial_{j} u \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(B_{2} u, -\Delta u \right) - \left(-\Delta u, B_{2}^{*} u \right) \right).$$

Replacing u by \overline{u} in the above equation and taking the real parts on both sides gives

$$\operatorname{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr} \left(\left(\partial_{j} C \right) U \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} = \operatorname{Re} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re} \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{j}^{2} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{k} \overline{u} \right) \partial_{l} u - 2 \left(\partial_{k} \partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{l} u \right) \left(\partial_{j} \overline{u} \right)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re} \left(\left(B_{2} - B_{2}^{*} \right) \overline{u}, -\Delta \overline{u} \right).$$

Using Lemma 4.31 we yield the result.

Proposition 4.33. Suppose one of the following holds.

- (i) The matrix B_s has constant entries.
- (ii) There exist $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \phi \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and a $d \times d$ matrix \widetilde{C} with entries in $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\theta = \theta_1 + \theta_2, \phi(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta_1}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \widetilde{C}$ takes values in Σ_{θ_2} and $C = \phi \widetilde{C}$. Write $\widetilde{C} = \widetilde{R} + i \widetilde{B}$, where \widetilde{R} and \widetilde{B} are $d \times d$ matrix-valued functions with real-valued entries. Set $\widetilde{R}_s = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{R} + \widetilde{R}^T)$. Also define $\operatorname{Re} \widetilde{C} = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{C} + (\widetilde{C})^*)$. Suppose further that there exists an h > 0 such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\operatorname{Re}\widetilde{C}\right)\overline{U}\right) \ge h\operatorname{tr}\left(U\widetilde{R}_{s}\overline{U}\right)$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \le k, l \le d}$.

(iii) There exists an M > 0 such that $\|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 \leq M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U})$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

Then Z is m-accretive.

Proof. By Proposition 4.28 we have that that $D(-\Delta) = W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(Z)$. We will show that there exists a $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(Zu, -\Delta u\right) \ge -\beta \left\|\nabla u\right\|_{2}^{2} \tag{4.22}$$

for all $u \in D(-\Delta) = W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It then follows from [Ouh05, Theorem 1.50] that Z is *m*-accretive. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and is a core for Z, it suffices to show that (4.22) holds for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$. Using integration by parts we obtain

$$(Zu, -\Delta u) = \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l} (c_{kl} \partial_{k} u) \right) \partial_{j}^{2} \overline{u} = -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l} \left((\partial_{j} c_{kl}) \left(\partial_{k} u \right) + c_{kl} \left(\partial_{j} \partial_{k} u \right) \right) \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u}$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} + \left(\partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} - c_{kl} \left(\partial_{j} \partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{l} \partial_{j} \overline{u}$$
$$= -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} - \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_{j} C) U \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr} \left(U C \overline{U} \right).$$

Therefore

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(Zu, -\Delta u\right) = -\operatorname{Re}\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{l}\partial_{j}c_{kl}\right)\left(\partial_{k}u\right)\partial_{j}\overline{u} - \operatorname{Re}\sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}C\right)U\right)\partial_{j}\overline{u} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\operatorname{Re}C\right)\overline{U}\right) = (\mathrm{I}) + (\mathrm{II}) + (\mathrm{III}).$$

The estimate for (I) is straightforward as

$$(\mathbf{I}) \geq -\sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \left(\partial_{l} \partial_{j} c_{kl} \right) \left(\partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} \right| \geq -M_{1} \| \nabla u \|_{2}^{2}, \tag{4.23}$$

where $M_1 = d^2 \sup_{1 \le k, l \le d} ||c_{kl}||_{W^{2,\infty}}$. The estimates for (II) and (III) are more involved. We consider three cases according to the three conditions (i), (ii) and (iii) imposed above. **Case 1:** Suppose (i) holds.

Since $U = U^T$ and $R_a = -R_a^T$, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}R_{a}\right)U\right) = \operatorname{tr}\left(U^{T}\left(\partial_{j}R_{a}\right)^{T}\right) = -\operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\partial_{j}R_{a}\right)\right) = -\operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}R_{a}\right)U\right).$$

Therefore tr $((\partial_j R_a) U) = 0$. This implies

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}\operatorname{Im} C\right)U\right) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}B_{s}\right)U\right) - i\operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}R_{a}\right)U\right) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial_{j}B_{s}\right)U\right) = 0,$$

where the last equality follows from the hypothesis. Using Lemma 4.32 we obtain that

$$(\mathrm{II}) = \sum_{k,l,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{Re}\left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{j}^{2} c_{kl}\right) \left(\partial_{l} u\right) \partial_{k} \overline{u} - \left(\partial_{k} \partial_{j} c_{kl}\right) \left(\partial_{l} u\right) \partial_{j} \overline{u}\right) + \mathrm{Im}\left(\left(\partial_{l} \partial_{j} \mathrm{Im} \, C\right)_{kl} \left(\partial_{j} u\right) \partial_{k} \overline{u}\right).$$

Consequently

$$(\mathrm{II}) \ge -M_2 \, \|\nabla u\|_2^2,$$

where $M_2 = 3 d^2 \sup_{1 \le k, l \le d} ||c_{kl}||_{W^{2,\infty}}$. Note that (III) ≥ 0 . Hence

$$\operatorname{Re}(Zu, -\Delta u) \ge -(M_1 + M_2) \|\nabla u\|_2^2.$$

Case 2: Suppose (ii) holds. We first consider (II). We have

$$(\mathrm{II}) = -\mathrm{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{tr} \left(\partial_{j}(\phi \, \widetilde{C}) \, U \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u}$$
$$= -\mathrm{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\partial_{j} \phi) \, \mathrm{tr} \left(\widetilde{C} \, U \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u} - \mathrm{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \phi \, \mathrm{tr} \left((\partial_{j} \widetilde{C}) \, U \right) \partial_{j} \overline{u}$$
$$= \qquad (\mathrm{IIa}) \qquad + \qquad (\mathrm{IIb}).$$

Let

$$M_3 = 64 d (1 + \tan \theta_1)^2 (1 + \tan \theta_2)^2 \|\widetilde{R}_s\|_{\infty} \sup_{1 \le j \le d} \|\partial_j^2 \phi\|_{\infty}$$

and

$$M_4 = 32 d^2 (1 + \tan \theta_1) (1 + \tan \theta_2)^2 \sup_{1 \le j \le d} \|\partial_j^2 \widetilde{C}\|_{\infty}$$

Let

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\left(1 - \tan \theta_1 \, \tan \theta_2\right) h}{4 \left(M_3 \lor M_4 \lor 1\right)}.$$

Note that $\varepsilon > 0$ as $1 - \tan \theta_1 \tan \theta_2 > 0$. Indeed, if $\tan \theta = 0$ then $\theta = \theta_1 = \theta_2 = 0$, which implies $1 - \tan \theta_1 \tan \theta_2 = 1 > 0$. If $\tan \theta > 0$ then $1 - \tan \theta_1 \tan \theta_2 = \frac{\tan \theta_1 + \tan \theta_2}{\tan \theta} > 0$.

For (IIa) we estimate

(IIa)
$$\geq -\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\sum_{j=1}^d |\partial_j \phi|^2 \right) |\operatorname{tr} (\widetilde{C} U)|^2 - \frac{1}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_2^2.$$

Note that

$$|\partial_j \phi|^2 \le 4 \left(1 + \tan \theta_1\right)^2 \sup_{1 \le j \le d} \|\partial_j^2 \phi\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Re} \phi$$

for all $j \in \{1 \dots, d\}$ by Lemma 4.7. Moreover,

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{C} U)|^2 \le d \, \|\widetilde{C} U\|_{HS}^2 \le 16 \, d \, (1 + \tan \theta_2)^2 \, \|\widetilde{R}_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr}(U \, \widetilde{R}_s \, \overline{U}),$$

where we used Lemma 4.16 in the last step. Consequently

$$(\text{IIa}) \geq -\varepsilon M_3 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\operatorname{Re} \phi) \operatorname{tr} (U \, \widetilde{R}_s \, \overline{U}) - \frac{1}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_2^2$$

$$\geq -\frac{(1 - \tan \theta_1 \, \tan \theta_2) h}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\operatorname{Re} \phi) \operatorname{tr} (U \, \widetilde{R}_s \, \overline{U}) - \frac{1}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_2^2.$$
(4.24)

For (IIb) we estimate as follows. Since $\phi(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta_1}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have

$$|\phi| \le |\operatorname{Re} \phi| + |\operatorname{Im} \phi| \le (1 + \tan \theta_1) \operatorname{Re} \phi.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(IIb)} &\geq -\sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\phi| \left| \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_{j} \widetilde{C}) U \right) \right| |\partial_{j} \overline{u}| \\ &\geq -(1 + \tan \theta_{1}) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\operatorname{Re} \phi) \left(\varepsilon \left| \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_{j} \widetilde{C}) U \right) \right|^{2} + \frac{1}{4\varepsilon} |\partial_{j} \overline{u}|^{2} \right) \\ &\geq -\varepsilon \left(1 + \tan \theta_{1} \right) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\operatorname{Re} \phi) \left| \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_{j} \widetilde{C}) U \right) \right|^{2} - \frac{(1 + \tan \theta_{1}) \|\phi\|_{\infty}}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\geq -\varepsilon M_{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\operatorname{Re} \phi) \operatorname{tr} \left(U \widetilde{R}_{s} \overline{U} \right) - \frac{(1 + \tan \theta_{1}) \|\phi\|_{\infty}}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\geq -\frac{(1 - \tan \theta_{1} \tan \theta_{2}) h}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\operatorname{Re} \phi) \operatorname{tr} \left(U \widetilde{R}_{s} \overline{U} \right) - \frac{(1 + \tan \theta_{1}) \|\phi\|_{\infty}}{4\varepsilon} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2}, \quad (4.25) \end{aligned}$$

where we used Corollary 4.10(a) in the fourth step.

On the other hand, estimating (III) gives

$$(\mathrm{III}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{tr}\left(U\left(\mathrm{Re}\left(\phi\,\widetilde{C}\right)\right)\overline{U}\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\mathrm{Re}\,\phi)\,\mathrm{tr}\left(U\left(\mathrm{Re}\,\widetilde{C}\right)\overline{U}\right) - (\mathrm{Im}\,\phi)\,\mathrm{tr}\left(U\left(\mathrm{Im}\,\widetilde{C}\right)\overline{U}\right).$$

Since $\phi(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta_1}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have $|\operatorname{Im} \phi| \leq (\tan \theta_1) \operatorname{Re} \phi$. Also as \widetilde{C} takes values in Σ_{θ_2} , we deduce that $|(\operatorname{Im} (\widetilde{C} U e_j, U e_j)| \leq (\tan \theta_2) \operatorname{Re} (\widetilde{C} U e_j, U e_j)$, which in turns implies that $|\operatorname{tr} (U (\operatorname{Im} \widetilde{C}) \overline{U})| \leq (\tan \theta_2) \operatorname{tr} (U (\operatorname{Re} \widetilde{C}) \overline{U})$. Therefore

$$(\text{III}) \geq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (1 - \tan \theta_1 \, \tan \theta_2) \, (\text{Re} \, \phi) \, \text{tr} \, (U \, (\text{Re} \, \widetilde{C}) \, \overline{U})$$
$$\geq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (1 - \tan \theta_1 \, \tan \theta_2) \, h \, (\text{Re} \, \phi) \, \text{tr} \, (U \, \widetilde{R}_s \, \overline{U}) \tag{4.26}$$

by the hypothesis. Hence by (4.23), (4.24), (4.25) and (4.26) we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(Zu,-\Delta u\right) \geq \frac{\left(1-\tan\theta_{1}\,\tan\theta_{2}\right)h}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\operatorname{Re}\phi\right)\operatorname{tr}\left(U\,\widetilde{R}_{s}\,\overline{U}\right)$$
$$-\left(M_{1}+\frac{1+\left(1+\tan\theta_{1}\right)\|\phi\|_{\infty}}{4\varepsilon}\right)\|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2}$$
$$\geq -\left(M_{1}+\frac{1+\left(1+\tan\theta_{1}\right)\|\phi\|_{\infty}}{4\varepsilon}\right)\|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2}.$$

Case 3: Suppose (iii) holds.

Let $\varepsilon_1 = \frac{1}{2M}$ and M' be corresponding to ε_1 as in Lemma 4.30. Then

$$(\text{III}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U R_s \overline{U} \right) + i \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U B_a \overline{U} \right)$$
$$\geq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U R_s \overline{U} \right) - \varepsilon_1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \| (\partial_l B_a) U \|_{HS}^2 - M' \| \nabla u \|_2^2$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U R_s \overline{U} \right) - M' \| \nabla u \|_2^2$$

since $\|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 \leq M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U})$ by hypothesis.

Let $\varepsilon_2 = \frac{1}{4dM''}$, where M'' is the constant as in Corollary 4.10(a). Then

$$(\mathrm{II}) \geq -\varepsilon_2 \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \operatorname{tr} \left((\partial_j C) U \right) \right|^2 - \frac{1}{4\varepsilon_2} \| \nabla u \|_2^2 \geq -\frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(U R_s \overline{U} \right) - \frac{1}{4\varepsilon_2} \| \nabla u \|_2^2,$$

where we used Corollary 4.10(a) in the last step. Hence

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(Zu, -\Delta u\right) \geq \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{tr}\left(U \, R_s \, \overline{U}\right) - \left(\frac{1}{4\varepsilon_2} + M_1 + M'\right) \|\nabla u\|_2^2$$

The proof is complete.

We emphasise that it is not known yet whether B_2 is accretive if $B_a \neq 0$.

Theorem 4.34. Suppose one of the following holds.

(i) The matrix B_s has constant entries.

(ii) There exist $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \phi \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and a $d \times d$ matrix \widetilde{C} with entries in $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\theta = \theta_1 + \theta_2, \phi(x) \in \Sigma_{\theta_1}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \widetilde{C}$ takes values in Σ_{θ_2} and $C = \phi \widetilde{C}$. Write $\widetilde{C} = \widetilde{R} + i \widetilde{B}$, where \widetilde{R} and \widetilde{B} are $d \times d$ matrix-valued functions with real-valued entries. Set $\widetilde{R}_s = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{R} + \widetilde{R}^T)$. Also define $\operatorname{Re} \widetilde{C} = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{C} + (\widetilde{C})^*)$. Suppose further that there exists an h > 0 such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\operatorname{Re}\widetilde{C}\right)\overline{U}\right) \ge h\operatorname{tr}\left(U\widetilde{R}_{s}\overline{U}\right)$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

(iii) There exists an M > 0 such that $\|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 \leq M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U})$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

Then $A = B_2 = Z$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.33 the operator Z is m-accretive. We will show that $Z = B_2$. Clearly $Z \subset B_2$. For the reverse inclusion let $u \in D(B_2)$. Then $(I + B_2)u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Since Z is m-accretive, there exists a $v \in D(Z)$ such that $(I + Z)v = (I + B_2)u$. But B_2 is an extension of Z. Therefore $(I + B_2)v = (I + B_2)u$. Let $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$0 = ((I + B_2)(u - v), \phi) = (u - v, (I + H_2)\phi),$$

where H_2 is defined by (4.4). But H_2 satisfies the same criteria as those of $B_2|_{C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$. Therefore analogous arguments give that $\overline{H_2}$ is also *m*-accretive. Consequently u = v. Hence $Z = B_2$. It follows that B_2 is *m*-accretive. In particular B_2 is accretive. Note that A is *m*-accretive and $A \subset B_2$. Therefore we must have $A = B_2 = Z$.

Theorem 4.3 now follows from Theorem 4.34 as an easy consequence.

Proof of Theorem 4.3. By Theorem 4.34 we have A = Z. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for Z, it is also a core for A.

The next proposition provides three easy criteria to verify Condition (iii) in Theorem 4.3.

Proposition 4.35. Suppose C satisfies one of the following.

- (a) There exists an $r \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ such that $R_s + ir \partial_l B_a \ge 0$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$.
- (b) The matrices R_s and $\partial_l B_a$ commute for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$.
- (c) There exist a real-valued function $\phi \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ which satisfies $\phi \ge 0$ and a $d \times d$ matrix \widetilde{C} which has constant entries and takes values in Σ_{θ} such that $C = \phi \widetilde{C}$.

Then there exists an M > 0 such that $\|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 \leq M \operatorname{tr} (U R_s \overline{U})$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

Proof. Let $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Let $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$.

We first deal with (a) and (b). Set $P = \sqrt{UU^*} \ge 0$. Let V be a unitary matrix such that $P = V D_P V^*$, where D_P is a positive diagonal matrix. Then

$$\|(\partial_{l}B_{a})U\|_{HS}^{2} = -\operatorname{tr}\left(U^{*}\left(\partial_{l}B_{a}\right)^{2}U\right) = -\operatorname{tr}\left((\partial_{l}B_{a})^{2}P^{2}\right) = -\operatorname{tr}\left((\partial_{l}B_{a})^{2}VD_{P}^{2}V^{*}\right)$$
$$= -\operatorname{tr}\left(V^{*}\left(\partial_{l}B_{a}\right)^{2}VD_{P}^{2}\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{d}\left|\left(V^{*}\left(\partial_{l}B_{a}\right)^{2}V\right)_{kk}\right|\left|(D_{P})_{kk}\right|^{2}.$$

We consider two cases.

Case 1: Suppose (a) holds.

Then $|((\partial_l B_a)\xi,\xi)| \leq \frac{1}{|r|} (R_s\xi,\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. By Lemma 4.14 we have $||(\partial_l B_a)\xi||^2 \leq \frac{4}{r^2} ||R_s||_{\infty} (R_s\xi,\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. In particular $||(\partial_l B_a) Ve_k||^2 \leq \frac{4}{r^2} ||R_s||_{\infty} (V^* R_s V)_{kk}$ for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\partial_l B_a) U\|_{HS}^2 &\leq \frac{4}{r^2} \, \|R_s\|_{\infty} \, \sum_{k=1}^d (V^* \, R_s \, V)_{kk} \, |(D_P)_{kk}|^2 = \frac{4}{r^2} \, \|R_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} \left(V^* \, R_s \, V \, D_P^2\right) \\ &= \frac{4}{r^2} \, \|R_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} \left(R_s \, P^2\right) = \frac{4}{r^2} \, \|R_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} \left(U^* \, R_s \, U\right) \\ &= \frac{4}{r^2} \, \|R_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} \left(U \, R_s \, U^*\right) = \frac{4}{r^2} \, \|R_s\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} \left(U \, R_s \, \overline{U}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where the last equality follows from the fact that $U = U^T$.

Case 2: Suppose (b) holds.

Let W be a unitary matrix such that $\partial_l B_a = W D W^*$, where D is diagonal. Therefore

$$|D_{kk}|^2 = |(W^*(\partial_l B_a) W)_{kk}|^2 \le 2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} \|\partial_l^2 C\|_{\infty} (W^* R_s W)_{kk}$$

for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ by Lemma 4.13. Since R_s and $\partial_l B_a$ commute, we may assume without loss of generality that the matrix W also diagonalises R_s . It follows that

$$|(V^* (\partial_l B_a)^2 V)_{kk}| = |(V^* W D^2 W^* V)_{kk}| = |((W^* V)^* D^2 W^* V)_{kk}|$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^d ((W^* V)^*)_{kj} |D_{jj}|^2 (W^* V)_{jk}$$

$$\leq 2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} ||\partial_l^2 C||_{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^d ((W^* V)^*)_{kj} (W^* R_s W)_{jj} (W^* V)_{jk}$$

$$= 2 \sup_{1 \le l \le d} ||\partial_l^2 C||_{\infty} (V^* R_s V)_{kk}$$

for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. Hence

$$\begin{split} \|(\partial_{l}B_{a})U\|_{HS}^{2} &\leq 2 \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_{l}^{2}C\|_{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{d} (V^{*}R_{s}V)_{kk} |(D_{P})_{kk}|^{2} \\ &= 2 \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_{l}^{2}C\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} (V^{*}R_{s}VD_{P}^{2}) = 2 \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_{l}^{2}C\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} (R_{s}P^{2}) \\ &= 2 \sup_{1 \leq l \leq d} \|\partial_{l}^{2}C\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} (UR_{s}\overline{U}). \end{split}$$

4.6. MORE SUFFICIENT CONDITIONS IN L_2

This completes the proof of the proposition under the assumptions (a) and (b).

Next we turn to (c). Suppose (c) holds. Write $\widetilde{C} = \widetilde{R} + i \widetilde{B}$. Set $\widetilde{R}_s = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{R} + \widetilde{R}^T)$ and $\widetilde{B}_a = \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{B} - \widetilde{B}^T)$. Since ϕ is real-valued, we have $R_s = \phi \widetilde{R}_s$ and $B_a = \phi \widetilde{B}_a$. Applying Lemma 4.6 to ϕ we obtain $(\partial_l \phi)^2 \leq 2 \|\phi\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \phi$. By Lemmas 4.12 and 4.14 we also have $\|\widetilde{B}_a \xi\|^2 \leq 4 \|\widetilde{R}_s\|_{\infty} (\widetilde{R}_s \xi, \xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\partial_{l}B_{a}) U\|_{HS}^{2} &= \sum_{j=1}^{d} \|(\partial_{l}B_{a}) U e_{j}\|_{2}^{2} = (\partial_{l}\phi)^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \|\widetilde{B}_{a} U e_{j}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq 8 \|\phi\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \|\widetilde{R}_{s}\|_{\infty} \phi \sum_{j=1}^{d} (\widetilde{R}_{s} U e_{j}, U e_{j}) = 8 \|\phi\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \|\widetilde{R}_{s}\|_{\infty} \operatorname{tr} (U R_{s} \overline{U}). \end{aligned}$$

The proof is complete.

Our next aim is to show that if $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A. Lemma 4.36. Suppose $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} \eta \left(\partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{l} \overline{\phi} = \left(\eta \, A u - \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} c_{kl} \left(\partial_{k} u \right) \partial_{l} \eta, \phi \right)$$

for all $u \in D(A)$ and $\eta, \phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. Let $u \in D(A)$ and $\eta, \phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$(\eta Au, \phi) = (Au, \overline{\eta} \phi) = \mathfrak{a}(u, \overline{\eta} \phi) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} (\partial_{k}u) \partial_{l}(\eta \overline{\phi})$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} (\partial_{k}u) (\partial_{l}\eta) \overline{\phi} + \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} c_{kl} (\partial_{k}u) \eta \partial_{l} \overline{\phi}.$$

Next we rearrange the terms to derive the lemma.

Recall that J_n is the usual mollifier with respect to a suitable function in $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proposition 4.37. Suppose $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A if and only if $\lim_{n\to\infty} A(J_n * u) = Au$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $u \in D(A)$.

Proof. (\Longrightarrow) It is well-known that $\lim_{n\to\infty} J_n * (Au) = Au$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore it suffices to show that $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||A(J_n * u) - J_n * (Au)||_2 = 0$.

By a similar calculation as in (4.11) we yield

$$A(J_n * u) - J_n * Au = T_n u \tag{4.27}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where the bounded operator $T_n : W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is defined by (4.6). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in D(A)$. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for D(A), there exists a sequence $\{\phi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \phi_j = u \tag{4.28}$$

in D(A). By hypothesis $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore the inclusion $D(A) \hookrightarrow W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is continuous. It follows from (4.28) that $\lim_{j\to\infty} \phi_j = u$ in $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Recall that the operator T_n is bounded. As a consequence $\lim_{j\to\infty} T_n\phi_j = T_nu$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We also derive from (4.28) that $\lim_{j\to\infty} J_n * \phi_j = J_n * u$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\lim_{j\to\infty} J_n * (A\phi_j) = J_n * (Au)$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore (4.27) gives

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} A(J_n * \phi_j) = \lim_{j \to \infty} \left(T_n \phi_j + J_n * (A\phi_j) \right) = T_n u + J_n * (Au)$$

in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Since T_n is bounded, it is also closed. Hence $J_n * u \in D(A)$ and $A(J_n * u) = T_n u + J_n * (Au)$. That is,

$$A(J_n * u) - J_n * Au = T_n u \tag{4.29}$$

also holds for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in D(A)$.

Let $\psi \in W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} J_n * \psi = \psi$ in $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Consequently $\lim_{n\to\infty} A(J_n * \psi) = A\psi$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Also $\lim_{n\to\infty} J_n * (A\psi) = A\psi$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore it follows from (4.29) that $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_n u||_2 = 0$. This is for all $\psi \in W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Since $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\{T_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded by Lemma 4.20, we deduce that $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_n u||_2 = 0$ for all $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In particular $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T_n u||_2 = 0$ for all $u \in D(A)$ as $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by hypothesis.

 (\Leftarrow) Let $\tau \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $0 \leq \tau \leq 1, \tau|_{B_1(0)} = 1$ and $\operatorname{supp} \tau \subset B_2(0)$. Define $\tau_n(x) = \tau(n^{-1}x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $u \in D(A)$ and $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and hence $\tau_n u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Moreover

$$\mathfrak{a}(\tau_n \, u, \phi) = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} c_{kl} \, \partial_k(\tau_n \, u) \, \partial_l \overline{\phi} = \sum_{k,l=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} c_{kl} \left((\partial_k \tau_n) \, u + \tau_n \, \partial_k u \right) \, \partial_l \overline{\phi} = (f_n, \phi),$$

where

$$f_n = (A\tau_n) u + \tau_n A u - \sum_{k,l=1}^d c_{kl} (\partial_k \tau_n) \partial_l u - \sum_{k,l=1}^d c_{kl} (\partial_l \tau_n) \partial_k u$$

and we used Lemma 4.36 in the last equality. Since $f_n \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we have $\tau_n u \in D(A)$ and $A(\tau_n u) = f_n$. Next we will show that $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n = Au$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Clearly $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_n Au = Au$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Note that

$$\|(A\tau_{n}) u\|_{2} = \left\| -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} (\partial_{l}(c_{kl} \partial_{k}\tau_{n})) u\right\|_{2} = \left\| \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \left((\partial_{l}c_{kl}) \partial_{k}\tau_{n} + c_{kl} \partial_{l}\partial_{k}\tau_{n} \right) u\right\|_{2}$$
$$\leq \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \|c_{kl}\|_{W^{2,\infty}} \left(\frac{1}{n} \|\partial_{k}\tau\|_{\infty} + \frac{1}{n^{2}} \|\partial_{l}\partial_{k}\tau\|_{\infty} \right) \|u\|_{2}.$$

Similarly

$$\left\|\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} c_{kl}\left(\partial_{k}\tau_{n}\right)\partial_{l}u\right\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{n}\sum_{k,l=1}^{d}\|c_{kl}\|_{\infty}\|\partial_{k}\tau\|_{\infty}\|\partial_{l}u\|_{2}$$

and

$$\left\|\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} c_{kl}\left(\partial_{l}\tau_{n}\right)\partial_{k}u\right\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{n}\sum_{k,l=1}^{d}\|c_{kl}\|_{\infty}\|\partial_{l}\tau\|_{\infty}\|\partial_{k}u\|_{2}$$

It follows that these three terms go to 0 in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as n tends to infinity. Hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|A(\tau_n u) - Au\|_2 = 0.$$
(4.30)

Finally we will show that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A. Let $u \in D(A)$. The hypothesis gives

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|A(J_k * (\tau_n u)) - A(\tau_n u)\|_2 = 0$$
(4.31)

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By (4.30) we can choose an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $||A(\tau_n u) - Au||_2 < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Next we use (4.31) to choose a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $||A(J_k * (\tau_n u)) - A(\tau_n u)||_2 < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Then

$$||A(J_k * (\tau_n u)) - Au||_2 \le ||A(J_k * (\tau_n u)) - A(\tau_n u)||_2 + ||A(\tau_n u) - Au||_2 < \varepsilon.$$

Note that $J_k * (\tau_n u) \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Hence $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is indeed a core for A.

Let $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Define

$$C_{\delta} = (R_s + i\delta B_a) + i (B_s - i R_a).$$

Lemma 4.38. The matrix C_{δ} takes values in Σ_{ψ} , where $\psi \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ is such that $\tan \psi = \frac{1}{\delta} \tan \theta$.

Proof. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Then

$$|((\operatorname{Im} C_{\delta})\xi,\xi)| = |((\operatorname{Im} C)\xi,\xi)| \le \tan\theta \left((\operatorname{Re} C)\xi,\xi\right) = \frac{1}{\delta} \tan\theta \left((\delta R_s + i\delta B_a)\xi,\xi\right)$$
$$\le \frac{1}{\delta} \tan\theta \left((R_s + i\delta B_a)\xi,\xi\right) = \frac{1}{\delta} \tan\theta \left((\operatorname{Re} C_{\delta})\xi,\xi\right)$$

since C takes values in Σ_{θ} and $(R_s \xi, \xi) \ge 0$ by Lemma 4.12. The statement now follows. \Box

Define the form

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0,\delta}(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (C_\delta \, \nabla u, \nabla u)$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_{0,\delta}) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then by the same analysis as in Section 4.1, the form $\mathfrak{a}_{0,\delta}$ is closable. Let A_{δ} be the operator associated with the closure of $\mathfrak{a}_{0,\delta}$. Then we also have that $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(A_{\delta})$ and

$$A_{\delta}u = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_l((C_{\delta})_{kl} \partial_k u)$$

for all $u \in W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Define

$$H_{\delta} = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \partial_k(\overline{(C_{\delta})_{kl}} \,\partial_l u)$$

on the domain $D(H_{\delta}) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then we have the following.

Proposition 4.39. The space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_{δ} . Furthermore $A_{\delta} = (H_{\delta})^*$.

Proof. We note that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\operatorname{Re} C_{\delta}\right)\overline{U}\right) = (1-\delta)\operatorname{tr}\left(U R_{s} \overline{U}\right) + \delta\operatorname{tr}\left(U\left(\operatorname{Re} C\right)\overline{U}\right) \ge (1-\delta)\operatorname{tr}\left(U R_{s} \overline{U}\right)$$

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $U = (\partial_l \partial_k u)_{1 \leq k, l \leq d}$. That is, C_{δ} satisfies Condition (ii) in Theorem 4.3. Hence $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_{δ} and $A_{\delta} = (H_{\delta})^*$ by Theorem 4.3. \Box

Lemma 4.40. Suppose $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $D(A) \subset D(A_{\delta}) \cap D((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}})$ and

$$Au = A_{\delta}u + i(1-\delta) \left(B_a\right)^{\mathrm{op}} u$$

for all $u \in D(A)$.

Proof. Recall that the operators H_2 and L are defined by (4.4) and (4.20) respectively. First note that $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D((B_a)^{\text{op}})$. Moreover, the condition $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ implies that

$$(u, H_2\phi) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \,\partial_k(c_{kl}\,\partial_l\overline{\phi}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} c_{kl}\,(\partial_k u)\,\partial_l\overline{\phi} = \mathfrak{a}(u, \phi) = (Au, \phi)$$

for all $u \in D(A)$ and $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where we used integration by parts in the second step. Since $Au \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we conclude that $u \in D(B_2)$ and

$$B_2 u = A u \tag{4.32}$$

for all $u \in D(A)$. Therefore we also have $D(A) \subset D(B_2)$.

Next let $u \in D(A)$. Then

$$(u, H_{\delta}\phi) = (u, H_{2}\phi) - i(1-\delta) (u, L\phi) = (B_{2}u, \phi) - i(1-\delta) ((B_{a})^{\mathrm{op}}u, \phi)$$
$$= (B_{2}u - i(1-\delta) (B_{a})^{\mathrm{op}}u, \phi)$$

for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Note that $B_2 u - i(1-\delta) (B_a)^{\mathrm{op}} u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Hence $u \in D(A_\delta)$ and

$$A_{\delta}u = B_2 u - i(1-\delta) \left(B_a\right)^{\mathrm{op}} u = A u - i(1-\delta) \left(B_a\right)^{\mathrm{op}} u,$$

where we used (4.32) in the last step. The lemma now follows.

Lemma 4.41. Suppose $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then there exists a $\delta_0 \in (0,1)$ such that for all $\delta \in [\delta_0, 1)$ there exists an M > 0 such that $D(A_{\delta}) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $||u||_{W^{1,2}} \leq M ||u||_{D(A_{\delta})}$ for all $u \in D(A_{\delta})$.

Proof. Since $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, there exists an $M_1 > 0$ such that $||u||_{W^{1,2}} \leq M_1 ||u||_{D(A)}$ for all $u \in D(A)$ by the closed graph theorem. Similarly the inclusion $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}})$ implies that there exists an $M_2 > 0$ which satisfies $||u||_{D((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}})} \leq M_2 ||u||_{W^{1,2}}$ for all $u \in D((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}})$. Let $\delta_0 = (1 - \frac{1}{2M_1M_2}) \vee \frac{1}{2}$ and $\delta \in [\delta_0, 1)$. If $u \in D(A)$ then $u \in D(A_\delta)$ by Lemma 4.40. Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{W^{1,2}} &\leq M_1 \left(\|u\|_2 + \|Au\|_2 \right) \leq M_1 \left(\|u\|_2 + \|A_{\delta}u\|_2 + (1-\delta) \|(B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}u\|_2 \right) \\ &= M_1 \|u\|_{D(A_{\delta})} + (1-\delta) M_1 \|(B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}u\|_2 \leq M_1 \|u\|_{D(A_{\delta})} + (1-\delta) M_1 M_2 \|u\|_{W^{1,2}} \end{aligned}$$

for all $u \in D(A)$. It follows that

$$\|u\|_{W^{1,2}} \le \frac{M_1}{1 - (1 - \delta) M_1 M_2} \|u\|_{D(A_{\delta})}$$

for all $u \in D(A)$. In particular

$$\|u\|_{W^{1,2}} \le \frac{M_1}{1 - (1 - \delta) M_1 M_2} \|u\|_{D(A_\delta)}$$
(4.33)

for all $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Note that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_{δ} by Lemma 4.39 and the space $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is complete. Consequently (4.33) implies that $D(A_{\delta}) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and

$$\|u\|_{W^{1,2}} \le \frac{M_1}{1 - (1 - \delta) M_1 M_2} \|u\|_{D(A_\delta)}.$$

for all $u \in D(A_{\delta})$ as required.

Lemma 4.42. Let $u \in D(A)$. Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} A_{\delta}(J_n * u) = A_{\delta}u$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. The proof is the same as that of the 'only if' part of Proposition 4.37. Note that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A_{δ} by Lemma 4.39 and $D(A_{\delta}) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by Lemma 4.41.

We are now in the position to prove Theorem 4.4.

Proof of Theorem 4.4. Let $\delta = \delta_0$, where δ_0 is defined as in Lemma 4.41. By Lemma 4.42 we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} A_{\delta}(J_n * u) = A_{\delta}u$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $u \in D(A)$. Furthermore [ERS11, Proposition 2.1] gives that $\lim_{n\to\infty} (B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}(J_n * u) = (B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}u$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $u \in D((B_a)^{\mathrm{op}})$. Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} A(J_n * u) = Au$ in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for all $u \in D(A)$ as $A \subset A_{\delta} + i(1-\delta)(B_a)^{\mathrm{op}}$. Using Proposition 4.37 we can conclude that $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is a core for A.

4.7 Examples

In this section we present several applications of Theorems 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 in showing the core properties for some specific degenerate elliptic operators in higher dimensions.

Example 4.43. For all $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ let $\phi(x, y) = \frac{\pi}{4} \cos(\sin(x+y))$. Let

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 2\cos\phi + i\sin\phi & \sin\phi \\ -\sin\phi & 2\cos\phi + i\sin\phi \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $(C(x,y)\xi,\xi) \in \Sigma_{\frac{\pi}{4}}$ for all $(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^2$. Note that $B_a = 0$.

Consider the form \mathfrak{a}_0 defined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_0(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (C \, \nabla u, \nabla v)$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Then \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable by [Kat80, Theorem VI.1.27]. Let A be the operator associated with the closure of \mathfrak{a}_0 in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Since $B_a = 0$, we can extend the contraction C_0 -semigroup S generated by -A to a contraction C_0 -semigroup $S^{(p)}$ on $L_p(\mathbb{R}^2)$ for all $p \in [4 - 2\sqrt{2}, 4 + 2\sqrt{2}]$ by Proposition 4.1. Let $-A_p$ be the generator of $S^{(p)}$ for all $p \in [4 - 2\sqrt{2}, 4 + 2\sqrt{2}]$. Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ is a core for A_p for all $p \in (4 - 2\sqrt{2}, 4 + 2\sqrt{2})$ by Theorem 4.2.

Example 4.44. For all $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ let

$$C(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(1+i) & e^{i(x+y)} \\ i e^{-i(x+y)} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(1+i) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that

$$C = (1+i) (\operatorname{Re} C),$$
 (4.34)

where

$$(\operatorname{Re} C)(x,y) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{\cos(x+y)+\sin(x+y)}{2} - i\frac{\cos(x+y)-\sin(x+y)}{2} \\ \frac{\cos(x+y)+\sin(x+y)}{2} & i\frac{\cos(x+y)-\sin(x+y)}{2} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{array}\right).$$

Therefore $(C(x,y)\xi,\xi) \in \Sigma_{\frac{\pi}{4}}$ for all $(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^2$.

Consider the form \mathfrak{a}_0 defined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_0(u,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (C \, \nabla u, \nabla v)$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Then \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable by [Kat80, Theorem VI.1.27]. Let A be the operator associated with the closure of \mathfrak{a}_0 in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^2)$.

Using (4.34) and the fact that $\operatorname{Re} C$ is self-adjoint, we conclude that the space $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ is a core for A by Theorem 4.3(i).

Example 4.45. Let $c_{kl} \in \mathbb{C}$ for all $k, l \in \{1, 2\}$. Suppose there exists a constant $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(C\,\xi,\xi\right) \ge \mu\,\|\xi\|^2$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^2$, where $C = (c_{kl})_{1 \leq k, l \leq 2}$. Define $A_1 = \partial_x$ and $A_2 = \cos x \, \partial_y + \sin x \, \partial_z$. Consider the form \mathfrak{a}_0 defined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_0(u,v) = \sum_{k,l=1}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} c_{kl}(A_k u) A_l v$$

on the domain $D(\mathfrak{a}_0) = C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Then \mathfrak{a}_0 is closable by [Kat80, Theorem VI.1.27]. Let A be the operator associated with the closure of \mathfrak{a}_0 in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Then formally

$$A = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{2} c_{kl} A_l A_k.$$

We have $D(A) \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. This follows from the regularity of sub-elliptic operators on Lie groups associated to unitary representations. Specifically it follows from [ER98, Theorem 9.2.II] together with [ER94, Lemma 6.1] and [ER94, Theorem 7.2.(VI and V)] applied to the standard representation of the covering group of the Euclidean motion group (cf. [DER03, Example II.5.1]).

Hence $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is a core for A by Theorem 4.4.

Bibliography

- [Agm10] AGMON, S., Lectures on elliptic boundary value problems. AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2010.
- [ADN59] AGMON, S., DOUGLIS, A. and NIRENBERG, L., Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. I. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 12 (1959), 623–727.
- [AE12] ARENDT, W. and ELST, A. F. M. TER, Sectorial forms and degenerate differential operators. J. Operator Theory 67 (2012), 33–72.
- [Aus96] AUSCHER, P., Regularity theorems and heat kernels for elliptic operators. J. London Math. Soc. 54 (1996), 284–296.
- [AMT98] AUSCHER, P., MCINTOSH, A. and TCHAMITCHIAN, P., Heat kernels of second order complex elliptic operators and their applications. J. Funct. Anal. 152 (1998), 22–73.
- [AT98] AUSCHER, P. and TCHAMITCHIAN, P., Square root problem for divergence operators and related topics. *Astérisque* **249** (1998), viii+172.
- [Bre11] BREZIS, H., Functional analysis, Sobolev spaces and partial differential equations. Universitext. Springer, New York, 2011.
- [CCHL12] CALIN, O., CHANG, D.-C., HU, J. and LI, Y., Heat kernels for a class of degenerate elliptic operators using stochastic method. *Complex Var. Elliptic Equ.* 57 (2012), 155–168.
- [CMP98] CAMPITI, M., METAFUNE, G. and PALLARA, D., Degenerate self-adjoint evolution equations on the unit interval. *Semigroup Forum* 57 (1998), 1–36.
- [Dav85] DAVIES, E. B., L^1 properties of second order elliptic operators. Bull. London Math. Soc. 17 (1985), 417–436.
- [DE15] DO, T. D. and ELST, A. F. M. TER, One-dimensional degenerate elliptic operators on L_p -spaces with complex coefficients. *Semigroup Forum* (2015). In press.
- [DER03] DUNGEY, N., ELST, A. F. M. TER and ROBINSON, D. W., Analysis on Lie groups with polynomial growth, vol. 214 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, 2003.

[EE87]	EDMUNDS, D. E. and EVANS, W. D., Spectral theory and differential opera- tors. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford University Press, Oxford etc., 1987.
[ER94]	ELST, A. F. M. TER and ROBINSON, D. W., Subelliptic operators on Lie groups: regularity. J. Austr. Math. Soc. (Series A) 57 (1994), 179–229.
[ER97]	—, Second-order strongly elliptic operators on Lie groups with Hölder con- tinuous coefficients. J. Austr. Math. Soc. (Series A) 63 (1997), 297–363.
[ER98]	—, Weighted subcoercive operators on Lie groups. J. Funct. Anal. 157 (1998), 88–163.
[ERS11]	ELST, A. F. M. TER, ROBINSON, D. W. and SIKORA, A., Flows and invariance for elliptic operators. <i>J. Austr. Math. Soc.</i> 90 (2011), 317–339.
[EN00]	ENGEL, K. J. and NAGEL, R., One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations. Graduate texts in mathematics 194. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000.
[Eva10]	EVANS, L. C., <i>Partial differential equations</i> , vol. 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. Second edition. American Mathematical Society, USA, 2010.
[Fri44]	FRIEDRICHS, K. O., The identity of weak and strong extensions of differential operators. <i>Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.</i> 55 (1944), 132–151.
[GT83]	GILBARG, D. and TRUDINGER, N. S., <i>Elliptic partial differential equations of second order</i> . Second edition, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 224. Springer-Verlag, Berlin etc., 1983.
[Gol85]	GOLDSTEIN, J. A., Semigroups of linear operators and applications. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1985.
[Kat59]	KATO, T., Remarks on pseudo-resolvents and infinitesimal generators of semi- groups. <i>Proc. Japan Acad.</i> 35 (1959), 467–468.
[Kat72]	—, Schrödinger operators with singular potentials. In Proceedings of the International Symposium on Partial Differential Equations and the Geometry of Normed Linear Spaces (Jerusalem, 1972), vol. 13, 1972, 135–148 (1973).
[Kat80]	—, <i>Perturbation theory for linear operators</i> . Second edition, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 132. Springer-Verlag, Berlin etc., 1980.
[Kat81]	—, Remarks on the selfadjointness and related problems for differential op- erators. In <i>Spectral theory of differential operators</i> , vol. 55 of North-Holland Math. Stud. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1981, 253–266.

- [Lio61] LIONS, J. L., Équations différentielles opérationnelles et problèmes aux limites, vol. 111 of Grundlehren der mathematische Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1961.
- [Lis89] LISKEVICH, V., Essential self-adjointness of semibounded elliptic operators of second order. Ukrain. Mat. Zh. 41 (1989), 710–716. Translation in Ukrainian Math. J. 41 (1989), no. 5, 615–619.
- [LP61] LUMER, G. and PHILLIPS, R. S., Dissipative operators in a Banach space. *Pacific J. Math.* **11** (1961), 679–698.
- [MPPS05] METAFUNE, G., PALLARA, D., PRÜSS, J. and SCHNAUBELT, R., L^p -theory for elliptic operators on \mathbb{R}^d with singular coefficients. Z. Anal. Anwendungen 24 (2005), 497–521.
- [MPRS10] METAFUNE, G., PALLARA, D., RABIER, P. J. and SCHNAUBELT, R., Uniqueness for elliptic operators on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with unbounded coefficients. Forum Math. 22 (2010), 583–601.
- [MS08] METAFUNE, G. and SPINA, C., An integration by parts formula in Sobolev spaces. *Mediterr. J. Math.* 5 (2008), 357–369.
- [MS14] METAFUNE, G. and SPINA, C., A degenerate elliptic operator with unbounded diffusion coefficients. *Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl.* **25** (2014), 109–140.
- [Nag86] NAGEL, R., ed., One-parameter semigroups of positive operators, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1184, Berlin etc., 1986. Springer-Verlag.
- [Neč12] NEČAS, J., Direct methods in the theory of elliptic equations. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, Heidelberg, 2012.
- [Ouh05] OUHABAZ, E.-M., Analysis of heat equations on domains, vol. 31 of London Mathematical Society Monographs Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2005.
- [Paz83] PAZY, A., Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations. Applied mathematical sciences 44. Springer-Verlag, New York etc., 1983.
- [Rob91] ROBINSON, D. W., *Elliptic operators and Lie groups*. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford University Press, Oxford etc., 1991.
- [Voi92] VOIGT, J., One-parameter semigroups acting simultaneously on different L_p -spaces. Bull. Soc. Roy. Sc. Liège **61** (1992), 465–470.
- [WD83] WONG-DZUNG, B., L^p-Theory of degenerate-elliptic and parabolic operators of second order. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* **95** (1983), 95–113.
- [Yos80] YOSIDA, K., *Functional Analysis*. Sixth edition, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 123. Springer-Verlag, New York etc., 1980.

Index

Cantor set, 57 consistent semigroups, 12, 16, 23, 24, 33, 60 core, 1, 3-5, 10-14, 24, 34, 60, 61 degenerate elliptic, 2, 3, 15, 34, 68 elliptic regularity, 17, 36, 37, 45, 78 first representation theorem, 2, 3, 10, 15, 23 form accretive, 8 adjoint, 8 closable, 5, 6, 8, 23, 59, 67, 93 closed, 3, 8, 15 closed extension, 8 closure, 3, 5, 6, 23, 27, 59, 93 comparison, 8 densely defined, 7 extension, 8 imaginary part, 8 quasi-accretive, 8 real part, 8 sectorial, 8, 25 sesquilinear, 7 symmetric, 8 Hilbert-Schmidt norm, 60, 66, 89 integration by parts, 17, 20, 36, 38, 69 Lumer-Phillips theorem, 12, 34, 37 mollifier, 14, 62, 91 Oleinik's inequality, 64 operator m-accretive, 10, 11 m-sectorial, 10 accretive, 10, 11

associated with a form, 3, 5, 6, 10, 15, 23, 59 closable, 9, 11 closed, 9, 11 closed extension, 9–11 closure, 10 densely defined, 9, 11 quasi-*m*-accretive, 10, 12 quasi-accretive, 10, 12 sectorial, 10 polarisation identity, 7 strongly elliptic, 2, 15, 33, 59, 67, 78